Subject: IAS Maintenance Renewal Date:
(RQIT18000014) February 02, 2018
Department: Vendor Name:
Office of Purchasing Tyler Technologies Inc,
Department Head Name: Contract Number
}/F Robert Cleary A-24-2018
Head, Signatu Contract Manager Name
,Wm 7 ? // /// Timothy Funaro
/ /////t’fév/ A %

Nassau

Office of Purchasing

Staff Summary A-24-2018

Proposed Legislative Action Internal Approvals
To Date | Approval | Info * | Other Date & Approval | Date & Approval
Init, Init,
Assgn Dept. Head Ve -,
Comim r ..
Rules Budget County Atty.
Corntr
Full Leg : Deputy Exec.
C.E.
Narrative

Purpose: To authorize and award a purchase order for IAS/Adapt Assessment System software licenses
and support/maintenance for the Nassau County Department of Information and Technology.

Discussion: This request is a sole source purchase; Tyler Technologies’ IAS World system is a highly
specialized computer software solution that contains scftware coding, process and trade secrets that are
propriety to Tyler Technologies, Tyler Technologies is the only vendor with the necessary knowledge, skills
and authority to provide the IAS World support tec Nassau County. The maintenance agreement period is
from January 01, 2018 to December 31, 2018,

Impact on Funding: A purchase order in the amount of Five Hundred Fifty-Nine Thousand Three Hundred

Fifty-Five dollars. ($559,355.) from general funds.

Recommendation; Office of Purchasing recommends an award be given to Tylé Technologies &s the sole /

source for this purchase.
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COUNTY OF NASSAU

INTER ~ DEPARTMENTAL MEMO

TO! CLERK OF THE COUNTY LEGISLATURE A-24-2018

FROM:  ROBERT CLEARY; DIRECTOR-PROCUREMENT COMPLIANCE
DATE:  FEBRUARY 14, 2018

SUBJECT: RESOLUTION-NASSAU COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION AND
TECHNOLOGY

THIS RESOLUTION IS RECOMMENDED BY THE DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF PURCHASING TO
AUTHORIZE AN AWARD AND TO EXECUTE A PURCHASE ORDER IN THE AMOUNT OF FIVE
HUNDRED FIFTY-NINE THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED FIFTY-FIVE DOLLARS ($559,355.00)
ON BEHALYF OF NASSAU COUNTY INFORMATION AND TECHNOLOGY TO TYLER
TECHNOLOGIES INC. FOR IAS WORLD SYSTEM FOR NASSAU COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF
INFORMATION AND TECHNOLOGY.

THE ABOVE DESCRIBED DOCUMENT ATTACHED HERETO IS FORWARDED FOR YOUR
REVIEW AND APPROVAL AND SUBSEQUENT TRANSMITTAL TO THE RULES COMMITTEE

FOR INCLUSION IN ITS AGENDA. W

"MICHAEL SCHLEN
ACTING DIRECT OR OF PURCHASING

MS: br

ENCIL: (1) STAFF SUMMARY
{2) DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
(3) RESOLUTION
{4) SOLE SOURCE DOCUMENTS
(5) QUOTAITON

(6) CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
(7) POLITICAL CONTRIBUTION FORM




RULES RESOLUTION 2018

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE DIRECTOR OF NASSAU COUNTY OFFICE OF
PURCHASING TO AWARD AND EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF
NASSAU ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE NASSAU COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF

INFORMATION AND TECHNOLOGY AND TYLER TECHNOLOQGIES INC.

WHEREAS, the Director is representing to the Rules Commidtiee that the firm, TYLER

TECHNOLOGIES INC., is a sole source provider and meets all specifications for the product described

in the said contract as determined by the Director of the Office of Purchasing.

RESOLVED, that the Rules Committee of the Nassau County Legislature authorizes the Director,

Office of Purchasing to award and execute the said Purchase Order with TYLER TECHNOLOGIES INC.
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A ® DATE (MM/DD/YYYY
ACORD CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE 3/29,2013)

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy{ies) must be endorsed. If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to
the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the

certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER
Hays Companies

CONTACT Moira Crosby

PHONE FAX
{AIC, Do, Ext): {AC, No):

133 Federal Street, 4th Flcor BHAL . Marogby@hayscompanies, com
INSURER{S} AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #

Bogton MA 02110 INSURER A Hartford Fire Insurance Company 19682
INSURED INSURER B :Hartford Casualty Insurance Company | 29424
Tyler Technologies, Inc. INSURER ¢ :Lloyds of London Syndicates 048337 &
5101 Tennyson Parkway INSURER D ¢ 048945

INSURER E :
Plano TX 75024 INSURER F :
COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER:18-192 GL, Auto REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSR ADDL[SUBR| POLICY EFF | POLICY EXP
LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE INSD | WVD POLICY NUMBER {(MM/DD/YYYY) | (MMDDIYYYY] LIMITS
X | COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY EACH DCCURRENCE 3 1,000,000
DAMAGE TQ RENTED
A CLAIMS-MADE E OCCUR PREMISES {Ea ocourrence) | $ 1,000,000
0BUENAY8572 4/1/2018 4/1/2019 | MED EXP (Any one parson) $ 10,000
PERSONAL & ADVINJURY | § 1,000,000
GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE 5 2,000,000
| X | poLicy e | woc PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG | § 2,000,000
OTHER: 9
AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY c(Egh,;gl:Ii\ggEus INGLE LIMIT 3 1,000,000
A X | ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per person} | $
ALL OWNED SCHEDULED CSTENAYS5T2 4/1/2018 | 4/1/2019 | BODILY INJURY (Per accident)| $
NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE 3
HIRED AUTGS AUTOS (Per accldent)
$
X | UMBRELLA LIAB X | occur EACH OCCURRENGE $ 25,000,000
EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE § 25,000,000
B
DED E | RETENTION § Q8RKUAYS8122 47172018 4/1/2019 %
WORKERS COMPENSATION x | PER OTH-
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY YIN STATUTE | ER
ANY PROPRIE TOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE E.L. EACH ACCIDENT $ 1,000,000
OFFICERMMEMBER EXCLUDED? NIA
B |{Mandatory In NH) 08WEEL5271 47172018 | 4/1/201% | EL. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE § 1,000,000
If yes, describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT | $ 1,000,000
¢ | Cyber/Privacy Prof Liab B0621PTYLECQ0217 12/17/2017 | 12/17/2018 | Occurence Limit 20,000,000
C | Cyber/Privacy Prof Liab B0621PTYLECO0317 12/17/2017 |12/17 /2018 | Aggregate Limit $2G,000,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS { VEHICLES {ACCRD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space Is required)
Certificate Holder ig listed as Additional Insured on the General Liability policy when required by

written contract. Waiver of Subrogation is added to
Assessor & Project Administrator.

Workers Compensation in favor of Nassau County

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

CANCELLATION

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

Nassau County Dept./Assessors THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
240 0ld County Road ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY FROVISIONS.
Mineola, N¥ 11501
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE
James Hays/MCROSB y?M
©® 1988-2014 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.
ACORD 25 (2014/01) The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

INS025 {201407)
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CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

DATE (MMMQIYYYY)
3/23/2017

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER,

THIS CERTIFICATE IS [SSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFIGATE HOLDER, THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

cortificata holder in lisu of such endorsement(s),

IMPORTANT: I the certificate holder s an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policyties) must be endorsed, If SUBROGATION 18 WAIVED, subject to
the lerms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this certificate dogs not confer rights fo the

PRODUCER
Hays Companies

%gﬁ;:\cr Modra Crosby

PAX
(A, Ko,

FHONE
-MAIL

5101 Tennyson Parkway

133 Federal Street, 2nd Floor AppRESS; erosby@hayscompanied, col

INDURERIS) AFFORIING COVERAGE NAIC #
Boston Ma 021140 WSURER A Hartford Fire Inwursnce Company 19682
INSURERD weuRerp Hartford Casualty Insurance Company | 29424
Tyler Technologies, Inc. msuReR ¢ Lloyée of London Syndicates 37090

INSURER D+

 INBURER % ;

rlang T TH024 IHSURERF :
COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER:4.1,17-11.17.17 GL, Auto, REVISION NUIMBER:

THIS 1S TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANGE LISTED BELOW HAVE 8EEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF 8UGH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY MAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS,

THER ADULIEUER
INSD WD

POLICY EFF | POLIGY BRP
(RO (SDNEe

ey TYPE OF INSURANCE poLICY NuMBER LTS
X | COMMERCIAL-GENERAL LIABILITY EAGH DCCURRENGE 3 1,000,000
. [ DAMAGE TO REN
a | ctamsmave [ | ocous YO RENTED e 5 1,000,000
08 UUN AY8ST2 4f1f3017 4/1/2018 | pMen EXP [Any one person) 5 10,000
""" | PERSONAL & ADV MJURY |8 1,000,000
| GENL AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL ABGREGATE 5 2,000,000
X feouer[ |58 Loc FRODUCTS - COMPIOP AGG | $ 2,000,000
GTHER: $
[ AUTOMOBILE LABILITY COMBINED SINGLE LWT | 1,009,000
3 L X | any amo BODILY INJURY (Per person) | §
ﬁh%.g\gﬂfi[) ﬁﬁj]jg[glitED b8 UUN ATES7 3 47172017 4/1 /2018 | BODILY INJURY {Per accident){ 5
% | T3 | HON-QWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE
F lwrepatos | X | A5T0R | (Pet accidant), $
%
| % | UMBRELLA LIAB OCCUR | EACH OCGURRENCE $_ 25,000,000
B EXCESS LIAB CLANS-MADE AGGREGATE 3 25,000,000
BED | | RETENTIONS 08 ¥uU AYE122 4/1/2017 | 4j1/2b18 N 3
WORKERS COMPENSATION o Fhi T
AND ESPLOYERS' LIABILITY YiN X | ke | [ B2
ANY PROPRIETORIPARTNEREXEELTIVE o [ EL EACH ACCIDENT
OFFICERMENBER EXCLUDED? NiA . . ¥ 068,008
B i{Mandatory in NH) 58 WB BL5271 A/1/2017 | 4/3/2018 | EL DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEH § 1,000,000
fyos; doscribe ungder e ) -
DESCRIPTION OF CPERATIONS below EL DISEASE - FOLIGY LIMIT | § 1,000,000
Q i Cyber/Privacy frof Liab BOGRIPTYLEAONR 1S LL/1P 2056 11/19 /2007 | Oeouronca Limit $20,000,000
C | Cybhexr/Privacy Prof Liab BOE2LFTYLRONOALE 1472773016 | 3341972007 Agoiegate Limit $20,000,000
——-‘——‘-'

written copttact,
Appepgor & Project Administrator.

DESCRIPTION OF QPERATIONS FLOCATIONS | VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Sthedule, may be-atiached #more apace |8 requirad)
Certificate Holder ias listed am Additional Imeured on the Gemeral Liability policy when reguired by

Waiver of Subrogation is added bo Workers Compensation in favor of Namsau County

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

GANGELLATION

Nasgsauw County Dept./issessors
240 0ld County Road
Mineola, NY 11501

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLIGIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED N
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY FROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

James Hays/MCROSB D B

ACORD 25 (2014/01)
INSD25 01201y

© 1988-2014 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved,

The ACORD name and loge are registerad marks of AGORD




POLITICAL CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTION DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Has the vendor or any corpoiate officers of the vendor provided campaign contributions
pursuant to the New York State Election Law in (a) the period beginning April 1, 2016 and
ending on the date of this disclosure, or (b), beginning April 1, 2018, the peried beginning two
years prior 1o the date of this disclosure and ending on the dafe of this disclosure, to the
campaign committees of any of the following Nassau County elected officials or to the campaign
commiitees of any candidates for any of the following Nassau County elected offices: the County
Executive, the County Clerk, the Comptrolier, the District Attornsy, or any County Legislator?
If yes, to what campaign comimnittee?

No.

2. VERIFICATION: This section must be signhed by a principal of the consultant, contractor or
Vendor authorized as a signatory of the firm for the purpose of executing Contracts,

The undersigned afficms and so swears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing
statements and they are, o his/her knowledge, true and accurate.

The undersigned forther certifies and affirms that the contribution(s) to the campai

identified above were made freelv and without duress, threat or anv promise of a govermmental
benefit or in exchange for any benelit or remuneration.

vendor,_Toter Téhnoleaies, The.
o
Dated: / ff/ (r’}/’ /1 Signed: L. /@M,M?f
Print Name: /a%'ﬁq YA
7
Title: 65’1:{? £/ Ej&t/ ﬁ'ﬁ?h(' &

Rev, 32016
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COUNTY OF NASSAU
LOBBYIST REGISTRATION AND DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Name, address and telephone number of Jobbylst{s)loblying organization. The term
“lobbyist™ means pny end every person or organization retained, emplayed or designated by my
client to influence - or promote a matter before - Nessau County, its agencles, boards,
rommiesions, department heads, legisletors or comimittess, including but not vaited to the Open
Bpace and Parks Advisory Commitiee and Plarming Comission, Such mattess inchude, but are
not imited to, requests for proposals, development or inaprovement of real property subject to
County regulation, prosurements. The term “lobbylst” does not include any officer, dirvector,
trustee, employes, counsel or agent of the County of Nussan, or Btate of New York, when,
dincharging his or her official duties,

None.,

2. List whethar end where the person/orpanization is registered as a lobbyist (e.g., Nassau
Counrity, New York State):

e Aok

3 Name, address and telephose mmmber of olient(s) by whom, or on whoge behatf, the
lobbyist {3 retained, employed or designated:

. A

Rev. 3-2016




Page 2 of 4

4, Describe lobbying astivity cbnduzted, or to be conducted, in Nassan County, and identify
client(s) for each activity lsted, Bee page4 for s complete dezeription of lobbying activities.

DOvE

5. The neme of persoms, organizations or govertmental enities before whom the lobbyist
expests fo lobhy;
LhAE

Rav. 32016




Page 3 of 4

6. If mach lobbyist is retained or employed pursuant to 8 written agreement of refainer or
employment, you must attach » vopy of such doonment; and if agreement of retatner or
employment is oxel, attach a written statement of the substence thereof, I the written aprecmnent
of retainer or exaployment does not contein & signed suthorization from the client by whom you
bave been authorized to 1obby, separately attach such a written authorization from the client,

7 Has the lobbylst/lobbying organization or any of ity cotporate officers provided campaign
contributions pursuant to the New York Stato Eleotion Lavw in (s} the perlod beginning April 1,
2016 and ending on the date of this discloswre, or (v), beglming April 1, 2018, the period
beginming two years prior 10 the date of this disclosare s ending on the date of this disclosure,
to the campaign commitiers of any of'the following Nassau County slected offiolals or to the
campaign conamitiees of any candidates for any of the following Nassan County elected offices:
the County Executive, the County Clerk, the Comptroller, the District Attorney, or any County
Lepistator? Ifyes, to what campalgn committce?

et e ANQUE

I understand that copies of this form will be sent to the Nassan County Department of
Information, Technology (“IT") to be posted on the County’s websits.

1 also wndersiand that upen termination of retainer, employment or designation I ot
give written notios to the County Afternoy within thirty (30) days of termination,

VERIFICATION: The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and undersiond
the foregoing stateiments and thoy are, to hiw/her knowledpe, frue and accutate.

The yndetsioned forfher certifies FELEECIE
4

isied above mads fresly and withoy nrogs, thre _ 9
change

benefit or in exchange for any beneflt o temeration,
Dated: Xt?;’:’ff £7 Signed: 05’?3}"“@“‘7
Print Wame; fiéﬁi«f /ﬁf Al
Tifle: Chref _ g Q%ﬁﬁi & mﬁ?giﬁ;”

Ry, 32016



Page 4 of 4

The term [ehbying shall mean any rttempt to influence: any determingtion made by the
Nassau County Laglslature, or any member thereof, with respect to the Introductipn, passage,
dofeat, or substance of any loca! legislation or resolution; any determination by the Couaty
Executive to support, oppose, approve or disapprove any local legislation o resolution, whether
Ox 10t such legislation has been introduced in the County Legistature; any detertsination by an
elected County official or an officer or employes of the Couniy with respect fo the procarement
of goods, services or constraction, inchding the prepargtion of contract specifications, including
by not limited to the preparation of requests for proposaly, or solicitation, swird o
administration of a contract or with respect t the soliciiation, eward or administintion of a grant,
loan, or agresment involving the disbursement of public monies; ey determination mads by the
County Exocutive, County Legislature, or by the County of Nassau, its agencies, boards,
commissions, departwent heads or cormmitiees, including bt not Himited to he Open Space and
Parks Advisory Committee, the Planning Commission, with respeot to the zoning, vse,
development or improvement of real property subjest 1o County regulation, or any agencies,
boardy, commissions, departmert hends o committess with Tespect to requests for propesals,
bidding, procurement or contracting for segviees for the County; any determination made by en
elected county official or an officer or smployes of the county with respeet to the terms of the
acquisition or disposition by the county of any interest in real property, with rospect to a licenss
or permit for the use of reel property of or by the county, or withtespect 1o a franchise,
coticession or revocable consent; the proposal, edoptiom, antendment or rgfection by an agency of
any rule having the force and effect of law; the decision to hold, timing or owtcome of any rate
making proceeding befors an agency; the agendy or any determination of a board or cormmission;
any determination regarding the calendaring or scaps of any legislature oversight hearing,

the issuance, repeal, modification or substance of a County Rxecudive Oxder; or any
detertmination made by an slacted contty official or an officer or employes of the county to
sapport or oppose axy siate or federal legislation, mile or regulation, including any deteroination
made 1o suppott or oppose that is contingent on any emendment of such legislation, mile or
regulation, whether or not such logislation has been formally introduced and whether or nof such
rule or regulation hus been formally proposed,

The ferm "lobbylug™ vr “lobbying activities? goe ot incinde: Persons engaged in drafting
logislation, rules, regulations or rates; persons advising olients and rendering opiaions on
propased legislation, rules, regulations or rates, where such profissional serviess are nod
otherwise contectad with legislative or exeputive action on snch legislation or administrative
action on.such rales, regulations or rates; newspapers and other pariodicals snd radio and
television stations and owners and employees thercof, provided that thelr activities In connection
with proposed fegislation, rules, ragulations or rites ate Lmifed to the publication or brosdeast of
news itess, editorials or other comment, or paid advertisemants; potsons who partioipate os
wiinegses, attomeys or other representatives in pubilic rsle-making or rate-making procesdings of
8 County agency, with respert to all partieipation by such persons which is part of the publio
record thereof and all preparation by such perspns for such participation; parsons who attempt to
influence & County ugency in an adjudicatory proceeding, as dofined by § 102 of the New York
Btate Administrative Prooedure Act,

Rev. 3-2018




PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORN

Al questions on these guestionnaires must be answered by all officars and any individuals who
hold a ten parcant (10%) or greater ownership inferest in the proposer. Anewers typewritten or
printed in ink. If you nesd more space to answer any question, make as many photocopies of
tha appropriate page(s) as nebassary and attach them o the qusstionnaire,

COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPLETELY. FAILURE TO
SUBMIT A COMPLETE QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN THAT YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL

Wil BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE AND [T WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR
AWARD

1.

Ptincipal Name H Lurm MOU(&’” e
Date of birth _O% 1 207 677

Horre address __‘5@_3 LZI__%)‘(' ye, Fuent e,
Citysstatelzip_ Dal\ae, 1Y 150K

Busiess address =2 101 "Teannyg o ?ﬂMu

Cityistatelzp_LlAnm. TH "7‘-‘*3’0&’-4 -
Tefophone_ (47]AY 13- BTFI0

Other present address{es) "~

City/statefzip ™

Telaphone "=

Lizt of oiher addresses and telsphons numbers altached

Posttions held in submiting business and starting date of sach (check all applicabls)

President {34 7 O/ 177 Treasurer /|
ChahmanofBoard ___ / [  Shargholder /[
ChiefExec.Officer /| Sacretary 1O / O/ 31000
ChisfFinancial Offiger ___ /[ /  Parner_ [/ [
Vice President 10 / Ql! A0 o Qali6) 1 &

(Oter) ERECUSNe. Vica, regidentt  OR/ao0r ~ 13/R016

Ceremy Coged O AR ~ 12 ] 2010
Do you have an%lﬁuﬂy interest In the bus%nes% submifiing the questionnzira?
YES M NO___ If Yes, provido deteils. 8¢ &

Are there any outsianding loans, guarantess of any othet form of security or leasa or any
other type of contribution made In whole or in,part between you and the busitess
submitting the questionnalre? YES _ _ NO If Yes, provide delalls.

Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or not-
for-profit organization other than she ona subtnitting the questionnalre? YES ___ NO 2& ;
if Yes, provide defails.

Rev. 32016



8. Has any governmantal entity awarded any contracts to a business or piganization listed jn
Section § in the past 3 years while you were a principal owner or officer? YES ___ NO
If Yag, provide detalls.

NOTE: An affimative answer s required below whether the sanction aross automatically, by
operation of law, or as a result of any action taken by 3 government agency.

Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". If you need more space, photocopy
the appropiiale page and atlach it to the questionnalre,

7. Inthe past (5) years, have you andfor any affilated businessss or not-for-profit
organizations listed in Section 5 In which you have been a principal owner or officer:

&,

Besn debamred by any government agsnay from entering into contracts with that
agensy’?
YES NO_X, IfYes, provide delalls for sach such instance.

Been dackared In defaull andfor erminated for cszsa on any contradt, end/or had any

contracts cancelled for cause? YES ___ NO H Yes, provide detsils for each
such instance,

Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract,
inclugiing, but not limited to, fallure to meet pre-qualification standerds? YES _
NG - i Yes, provide detalls for each such instance,

. Besn suspandsd by any government ageﬁcy fromt eptering o any contract with it

and/or Is any action pending that sould formally debar or otherwige pffect such

business's ability to bld or propose on contract? YES NO A If Yes, provide
datalls for sach such instance.

8. Have any of the businesses or organlzations listed fn response to Quastion 5 filed a
bankruptcy pstition and/or been the subject of involuntary bankruptoy proceedings during
the past 7 years, and/or for any portfon of the last 7 year pefiod, baen in a state of
banksupicy ss & result of bankruptcy proceedings inifisted mare than 7 years ago andfor is
any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptoy proceedings, whenever
initiated? K 'Yes', provids details for each sugh instance. (Provide a detalled response o all
questions chegked "YES”, If you need more spacs, photocopy the appropriate page and
aitach it to the questionnaire.)

a)
b)
c)

d)

1s there any felony charge pending againstyou? YES __ NO ﬁ If Yoz, provide
dataijls for each such charga,

Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you? YES NO ﬁ H
Yeas, provide details for each such charge.

Is there zny administrative charge pending against you? YES NO X i
Yes, provide details for sach such charge.

In the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or
of any other crime, an element of which relates to truthfulness prthe underlying facts
of which related o the corduct of business? YES _ NO If Yes, provitle
datalls for gach auch conviction.

Rev. 3-2016



10,

11

12,

@) Inthe past 5 years, have you been convicted, after tial or by plea, ofa
misdemeanor?

YES ___ NO ,12& if Yes, provide details for each such conviction,

f} Inthe past § years, have you been found in violation of any administrative or

statufory charges? YES NO if Yes, provide detalis for each such
OCCUrTence.

in addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, In the past §
years, have you baan the subject of a ciiminat investigation and/or & clvil anti-trust
investigation by any federal, stale or logal prosscuting or Investigative agency andlor the
subject of an investigation where sush Investigation was refated to activities performed at,
for, ar on behalf of the submitling business, entity andfor an affillated business listed in

responae to Question 57 YES NO If Yeg, provide detalls for each such
investigation.

In addition to the information provided, In the past 5 years has any business er crganization
listed in responss to Question 5, bean the subject of a oriminal ivestigation and/or a givil
antl-rust investigation andior any other type of investigation by any govermment agancy,
ineluding but nof fimited o federal, state, and Jocal regulatory agencies while you were a

principsl ownar or officar? YES NO if Yes; provide details for each such
Investigation. '
I tha past 5 years, have you or this busihess, or any other afffiated business listed In

responsge to Quastion 5 had any sanction impossd as a result of judiclal or adminisirative
proceedings with respect to any professional llcenss held? YES NQO I¥ Yes;
provide detalls for each such instanoe.

For the past & tax years, have you failed 1o file any required tex returns or failed to pay any
applicable federal, state or local taxes or other agsessed charges, including but not Tmited
to water and sewsr chargas? YES NQ If ¥es, provide detsile for each such
year.

Rev. 3-2016
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CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN
CONNECTION WITH THIS QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE
SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE WITH RESPECT TQ THE PRESENT
BiD OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE
FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

l, Hg L}Jﬁ}{; zgimg EN? . lmgj; , being duly asworn, state that | have read and understand all
the items‘éontained in the | oregolng pages of this questionnaire and the following pages of

attachments; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledgs, information and balief; that | will notify the Gounty in writing of any change in
clrcumstances oceurring after the submission of this questionnaire and before the execution of
the contract; and that all Information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge,
nformation and belisf, | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this
questionnaire as additional inducement to enter intc a contract with tha submitting business
entity.

Sworn to before ma this Lfﬂday of Oesvhpes 20077

Cgpo (b

Notary Public

s, SHﬁRR‘( C-Lﬁ\

%’%Nomrv Public, State of Texas
\/ &«’5 potnm, Expires 09-20:2020
T Notary 1D 130842141
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Tules Teonnolooies, Tev.
Narke of submitting busindss

Sié'nare 7 /

Prestdent

Title

O Ll. 17

Date
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PRINGIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All quastions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officars and any individuals who
hold a ten percent {10%) or greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritien or
printed in ink. if you need more space to answer any guestion, make as many phaotocopies of
the appropriate page(s) as necessary and attach them to the questionnaire.

COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPLETELY. FAILURE TO
SUBMIT A COMPLETE QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN THAT YOUR BID OR PROPQSAL.
WILL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE AND IT WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR
AWARD
1. Principal Namse John S. Mf’lﬂ"\ Jr.

Date of birth 0D 7 1 @O

Home address 2 Otrhhacd. Lane

Citysstaterzip__Faal(Nouatdn, ME 0UI105

Business address __ (NG 73 ver  Odue

Citylstate/zip _MAcpnouts, ME- 04 09(

Telephone __ (3017 ) 11714~ Q2 L0

Other present addrass(es)

City/state/zip
Telephone __==—e—""

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

2. Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each {check all applicable)
President OV 1 O ¢ OH Treasurer f /
Chairman of Board OV 7 ©1/ 171 Shareholder /1 /

Chief Exec. Officer 07+ 01 /OY Secretary ___/__J e © @{E?ﬁw 3 OfRcer

Chief Financial Officer / / Partnar i1 O i&, o0 O }& ook
Vice President / f
(Other) Presxdem% -’:aﬂ Munig 1994~ 077 {aooy

Deckor, Bood of Direchrz May aowa-~ fresent

3. Doyouhave an equrLy interest in the business submitiing the guestionnaire?
YES NO___ If Yes, provide detafls. Seo atidohed,

.4. Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any cther form of security or lease or any
other type of contribution mads in whole or in part between you and the business
submitting the questionnaire? YES ___ NO If Yes, provide detalls,

ot

Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any busingss cr not-
for-profit organization other than the one submitting the questionnaire? YES NO __
If Yes, provide details.

Handy Boat (Boadk-Yard and eetawont

A6 “Rreside. Road
Falmoukih, ME 0Y105
CO-OWNEC Wi ife, Relpecca. Mose

Rev, 3-2016




6. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed ip ,
Section 5 in the past 3 years while you were a principal owner or officer? YES _ NO N
If Yes, provide datails.

NOTE: An affirmative answer s required betow whether the sanction arose automatically, by
operation of law, or as a result of any action taken by a government agency.

Provide a detailed responss to all questions checked "YES". if you need more space, photocopy
the approptiate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. Inthe past (5) years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit
organizations listed in Section 5 In which you have been a principal owner or officer:

a.

Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that
agency? A
YES MO X If Yes, provide details for each such instance.

Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any confract, and/or had any
contracte cancslled for cause? YES NO If Yes, provide detalls for each
such instance.

Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract,
including, but not limited to, failure to meet pre-qualification standards? YES ___
NO If Yes, provide details for each such instance,

Been suspended by any government agenoy from entering info any contract with it;
andfor is any actien pending that could formally debar or otherwise affect such
business's ability to bid or propose on contract? YES __ NO‘K‘ if Yes, provide
dstails for each such instance.

8. Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in responsa to Question 5 filed a
bankruptey petition and/or been the subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during
the past 7 vears, and/or for any portion of the last 7 year perind, been in a state of
bankruplocy as a result of bankruptey proceedings initiated more than 7 years ago and/or is
any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptey proceedings, whenever
initiated? ¥f “Yes’, provide defalls for each such instance. (Provide a detailed response to all
questions chacked "YES". If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and
attach it to the questionnaire.)

a)

b)

c)

d)

Is there any feleny charge pending against you? YES __ NO _>S [f Yes, provide
details for each such charge.

Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you? YES __ NO _x, If
Yeas, provide detalls for each such charge.

Is there any administrative charge pending against you? YES NO ;)S If
Yes, provide detalls for each such charge.

In the past 10 years, have you bean convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or
of any other crime, an element of which relates to truthfulngsg or the underlying facts
of which related fo the conduct of business? YES ___ Noﬁv If Yes, provide
details for each such conviction.

Rev, 3-2016




10.

11.

12

e) Inthe past b years, have you been convicted, aftertrial or by plea, of a
misdemeanor?
YES ___ NO % if Yes, provide details for each such conviction.

f} Inthe past 5 years, have you been fqund in violation of any administrative or
statutory charges? YES MO If Yes, provide details for each such
oteurrence,

. In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5

years, have you been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust
investigation by any federal, state or local prosecuting or investigative agency and/for the
subject of an investigation where such investigation was related to activitiss petformed at,
for, or on behalf of the submitting businass,entity and/or an affiliated business listed in

response to Question 57 YES NO If Yes, provide details for each such
Investigation.
In addition to the informatfon provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization

listed in response to Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil
anti-trust investigation and/or any other type of investigation by any gavernment agency,
including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory agencies while you were a

principal owner or officer? YES NO If Yes; provide details for each such
investigation,
In the past 3 years, have you or this business, or any other affillated business listed in

rasponse to Question & had any sancticn imposed as a result of judicial or administrative
proceadings with respect to any professional license held? YES NO If Yes;
provide details for each such instance.

For the past b tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any
applicable federal, state or local taxes or otheg assessed charges, including but nof limited
to water and sewer charges? YES NO If Yas, provide details for each such
year,

Rev. 3-2016




CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN
CONNECTION WITH THIS QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE
SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT
BID ORFUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE
FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

,_Jonn S Magr, <r. , being duly sworn, state that | have read and understand all
the items contained in the foregolng pages of this questionnalre and the following pages of
attachments; that [ supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief: that | will notify the County in writing of any change in
circumstances occurring after the submisslon of this questionnaire and before the execution of
the contract; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this
questionnaire as additional inducement to enter into & contract with the submitting business
entity.

Swom to before me this // day of (ckuises” 20.1Y]

}-/-] Ll 4”{ X W BAYLE M. SCHMIDT

o ~ NoTary PusLic
thanﬁ Public State of Maina
Wy Commission Expirps
Moveinber 8§, 2021

Ter Tednnolootes, Tre.

Nahe of submitting busine

John <. Maec, “Jc.

Print namea

e 5,

Signatu

Cnaicnan and Onies Exephive 0SS o

Title

o Mo

Date

Rev. 3-2016




PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All questions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who
hold a ten percent (10%:}) or greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or
printed in ink. If you need more space to answer any question, make as many photocopies of
the appropriale page(s) as necessary and attach them to the questionnaire.

COMPLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULLY AND COMPLETELY. FAILURE TO

SUBMIT A COMPLETE QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN THAT YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL

WILL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE AND IT WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR

AWARD

1.

Principal Name /"76?. v k /‘F}aw Lr"" S

Date ofbith 1 [ 23175

Home address _ 2 %% Stags L e p
Cityistaterzin__C 2 Jrna, 7 X 750049
Business address S /0 ) Te¢rvnyvspm Plew v
Cityfstatelzip__~ Voo , 72 7?2 502 o

Telephone _ A4 72 - 712-3770C

Other present address{es)
City/state/zip
Telephopne

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each (check all applicable)
President / / Treasurer / /

Chairman of Board / ! Shareholder / {

Chief Exec. Officer / f Secretary / /

Chief Financial Officer / / Partner / /

AT

(\(/icepres_i_@%/i j20ig ",

CiRary
Do yo%ave an equity interest in the business submitting the guestionnaire?
YES VY NO__ [IfYes, provide defails. { wcs 1 .. 10Cf0

Are there any outstanding loans, guarantaes or any other form of security or lease or any

- other type of contribution made in whole or in part between you and the business

submitting the questionnaire? YES ___ NO _/ I Yes, provide details.
Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or not-

for-profit organization other than the one submitting the questionnaire? YES ___ NO :
If Yes, provide details.

Rev. 3-2016
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6. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed i
Section 5 in the past 3 years while you were a principal owner or officer? YES ___ NO
If Yes, provide details.

"/

NOTE: An affirmative answer is requirad below whether the sanction arose automatically, by
operation of law, or as a result of any action taken by a government agency.

Provide a detailed response te all questions checked "YES". If you need more space, photocopy
the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. Inthe past (5) years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit
organizations listed in Section 5 In which you have been a principal owner or officer:

a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that
agency? Y
YES NO If Yes, provide details for each such instance,

b. Been declared in defgult andior terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any
coniracts cancelled for cause? YES NO _¥  If Yes, provide details for each
such instance,

¢. Been denied the award of a contract andfor the opportunity to bid on a contract,
including, but not limited to, failure to meet pre~quallfication standards? YES __
NO _V  If Yes, provide detalls for each such instance.

d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it;
and/or is any action pending that could formally debar or otherwise affect such
business’s aoility to bid or prepose on contract? YES __~ NO _VY  If Yes, provide
details for each such instance.

8. Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a
bankruptcy petition and/or been the subject of involuntary bankruptey proceedings during
the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the last 7 year period, been in a state of
bankruptcy as a result of bankruptey proceedings initiated more than 7 years ago and/ar is
any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whensver
initiated? If 'Yes', provide details for sach such instance. {Provide a detaiied response to al
questions checked "YES". If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and
attach it to the questionnaire.)

v

If Yes, provide

v

a) lIs there any felony charge pending against you? YES __ NO
details for each such charge,

b} Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you? YES NO_ " If
Yes, provide datails for each such charge. o
¢) s there any administrative charge pending againstyou? YES ___ NO __ If

Yes, provide datails for each such charge.

d) Inthe past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or
of any other crime, an element of which relates to truthfulness gr the underlying facts
of which related to the conduct of business? YES __ NO _Y_ If Yes, provide
details for each such conviction.

Rev. 32016




10.

11.

12

e) Inthe past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a
misdemeanor?
YES ___ NO_Y If Yes, provide details for each such conviction.

fy Inthe past 5 years, have you been fou \/nd in violation of any administrative or
statutory charges? YES __ If Yes, provide details for each such
oceourrence.

In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5
years, have you heen the subject of a criminal investigation andfor a civil anti-trust
investigation by any federal, state or local presecuting or investigative agency and/cr the
subject of an investigation where such investigation was related fo activities performed &,
for, or on behalf of the submitting busmess ]/[Hlty and/or an affiliated business listed in
response to Question 5?7 YES If Yes, provide details for each such
investigation. ,

In addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organizaticn
listed in response to Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil
anti-trust investigation and/or any other type of investigation by any government agency,
including but not limited to federal, state, anii)cal regulatory agencies while you were a
principal owner or offlcer') YES if Yes, provide details for each such
investigation, -:

In ther past 5 years, have you or this buginess, or any other affiflated business listed in
response to Question 5 had any-sanction imposed as a result of judicial or admipistrative
proceedings with respect to any professional license held? YES ____ NO _ ¥  If Yes;
provide details for each such instance.

.For the past & tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any

applicable federal, state cr local {axes or other }éssed charges, including but not limited
to water and sewer charges? YES If Yes, provide details for each such
year.

Rev. 3-2016




CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN
CONNECTION WITH THIS QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE
SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT
BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE
FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

I M(& J’l& rj"} L L % Dbeing duly sworn, state that | have read and understand all
the ftems contained in the foregoing pages of this questionhaire and the following pages of
attachments; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that | wili notify the County in writing of any change in
circumstances occuriing after the submission of this questionnaire and before the execution of
the contract; and that a!l Information suppliad by me is true to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this

questionnaire as additional inducement to enter into a contract with the submitting business
entlty, .

i ‘
Sworn to before me this & day cf @dﬂlou’ 20_L7

r

’ b " i
- “j [ o, SOPHIA L. THOMAS
{my . At ™ LWM) ;Qﬁ"""ﬁ‘f?'?ﬁldomry public, State of Texos
LN, . l

. Tt foz 04-23-2018
: i, PR aF Comm, Explres g
Notary Public TR Notary 1D 120408736
TR RSN

[

R

AVHay

"Pﬂil & T@,Jﬂﬂﬂm{i £5, \ e,
Namk of submitting business

Mark Hraking

Print name

/ 4#@/ b "44/”""( L

Signature

Sr. P oF Dporahany
Title '

!Cﬁ{ {o ! '57
Dafe
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Business History Form

The contract shall be awarded to the responsible proposer who, at the discretion of the County,
taking Into conslderation the reliability of the proposer and the capacity of the proposer to
perform the services required by the County, offers the best value to the County and who will
best promote the public interest.

In addition to the submission of proposals, each proposei' shall complete and submit this
questionnaire. The questionnaire shall be filled out by the owner of a sole proprietorship or by
an authorized representative of the firm, corporation or partnership submitting the Proposal.

NOTE: All questlons require a response, even if response Is “none” or “not-applicable.”
No blanks.

{USE ADDITIONAL SHEETS IF NECESSARY TO FULLY ANSWER THE FOLLOWING
QUESTIONS).

Date: _(OCADleex a, SOV
1) Proposers Legal Name: 75\6(’ Teﬁ’/fr’]ﬂﬂmg‘?ﬁ% 1N, W(BP%O&\ + T o
2) Address of Place of Businese: {ONe ’7&'\6( tmr‘j}m@(am.&}_@H L5439

List all othe[_busjness addresses used within last five years:

Al WeDier fnad, Dowrton . OF 4540
T | KJ ’)

3) Malling Address {if different): NO{’-— Aﬁ?]{@&b’)?@;

Phone ;300 - OO~ DAY

Does the business own or rent its facilities? @mn

4) Dun and Bradstraet number; OU{”‘ ] O%" q 5@3
5) Federal LD, Number: "5~ 2303900

6) Theprepagetis a {check ona): _ Sole Proprietorship Partnership
@ Other (Describe)

7} Does this business share office space, staff, or equipmant expensas with ahy other
business?
Yes ___ No_ If Yes, please provide details;

8) Does this business control one or more cther businesses? Yes No};{ If Yes, please
provide details:

Rev, 3-2016




9) Does this business have ane or mog affiffates, andfor is it a subsidiary of, or controlied by,
any other business? Yes __ No }i If Yes, provide details,

10) Has the proposer ever had a bond or surety cancelled or forfelted \or,a contract with Nassau
County or any other government entity tarminated? Yes _ No If Yes, state the
name of bonding agenacy, (if a bond), date, amount of bond and reason for such cancellation
or forfeiture: or details regarding the terminaticn {if a contract).

11)Has the proposer, during the past seven years, been declared bankrupt? Yes _ No ZE\
It Yes, state date, court jurisdiction, amount of fiabilities and amount of assets

12} In the past five years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any
affiliated business, baen the subject of a ¢riminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust
investigation by any federal, state or local prosecuting or Investigative agency? Andfor, in
the past & years, have any owner and/or officer of any affiliated business been the subject of
a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or loce|
prosecuting or investigative agency, whare such investigation was related to activities
performed at, {or, or an behalf of an affiliated business.

Yes ___ No If Yes, pravide details for each such investigation.

13}In the past § years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers andfor any
affiliated business been the subject of an Investigation by any government agency, including
but not limited to federal, state and local regulatery agencies? Andfor, in the past 5 years,
has any cwner and/or officer of an afflllated business been the subject of an investigation by
any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and local regulatory
agencies, for mattars pegtaining to that individual’s position at or relationship to an affiliated
business. Yes __ No X If Yes, provide details for each such investigation.

14) Has any current or former director, owner or officer or managetial employee of this business
had, either before or during such person's employment, or since such employment if the
charges partained to events that allegedly ocourred during the time of employmant by the
submitting business, and aflegedly ralated to the conduct qf that business:

a) Any felony charge pending? Yes _ No i Yes, provide details for
gach such charge.

b} Any misdemeanor charge pending? Yes_ No _X If Yes, provide details
for each such charge.

¢} Inthe past 10 years, you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony
andfar any other crime, an element of which relates to fruthfulness or the  »
underlying facts of which related to the conduct of business? Yes __ No _X(

Rev. 3-2016




If Yes, provide details for each such conviction

d} In the past 5 years, besn convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanaor?
Yes ___ No _X if Yes, provide details for each such conviction.

ragulatary provisions? Yes _ No If Yes, provide details for each such
oceurrence.

e} In the past 5 years, been found in Xlation of any administrative, statutary, or

15)In the past (8) years, has this business or any of its owners or officers, or any other affiliated
business had any sanction impesed as a result of judiclal or administrative proceedings with

respect to any professional licensa held? Yes No X ; [f Yes, provide details for
each such instance.

16)For the past {E) tax years, has this business failed fo file any required tax returns or failed to
pay any appiicable federal, state or local taxes or olher assessed charges, including but not
limited to water and sewer charges? Yes _ No If Yes, provide details for each
such year. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked 'YES'. If you need more
space, photocopy the appropriate page and aftach i to the questionnalre.

Frovide a detailad response fo all questions checked "YES". If you need more space,
photocopy the appropriate page and attach ii to the questionnaire.

17)Conflict of Interest:
a) Please disclose any conflicts of interest as outlined below, NOTE: M no
conflicis exist, please expressly state “No conflict exists.”
(i) Any material financial relationships that your firm or any firm employee has
that may create a conflict of intersst or the appearance of a conflict of Interest in
acting on behalf of Nassau County.

O Contdiod eXiste

(i) Any family relationship that any employee of your firm has with any County
public servant that may craate a conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict
of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.

N cand exist=,

(iii) Any other matter that your firm believes may creale a conflict of interest cr
appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau Cournty,

0 _condlick  exists

by Please describe any procedures your firm has, or would adopt, to assure the
unty tha’{ a conﬂlct of Interest woufd not exist for your fi im in the Tuture.
O

"\M} Oki\ ‘Tg %gf@b
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A. Include a resume or detailad description of the Proposer’s professional qualifications, 5
demonstrating extensive experience in your profession. Any prior similar experiences, and ' i
the results of thess experisnces; must he identified.

Should the praposer be other than an individual, the Proposal MUST include:
I}  Date of formation; C?C%\GBZ 2 08 Formnm lO"E)

i) Namse, addresses, and position of &ll persons having a financial Interest in the (seq a ﬁzﬁf/ﬁ"\ﬁ‘}
company, including shareholders, members, general or imited partner; Pﬂf’fi’ out oMM i

( Yoheo Geance

S attached 17%)

iy Name, address and position of all officers and directors of the company;
lv)  State of incorporation (if applicable); { Vot Fopm 50~}1\>
v}~ The number of employees in the firm; (poa 10 oF Farm ]0.._;{)
v Annual revenue of firm; (fv%@_ I of Form ['0’(*5—)

vii) 'Summary of relevant accomplishments ( {p oy I%rm 15.,_'¢3 Aﬂ[’)wﬂ 'Q&FDP"“)
vill) “ Copies of all state and local licenses and petimits. @32 CKJY’\?."JLO{‘J’IO J) '

B. Indicate number of years in business(’seg_ Gtﬁﬂdf‘él}\) o i

C. Provide any other information which would be approptiate and helpful in determining the
Proposer's capacity and reliability to perform these servicee{ﬁéﬁ atziohad Annval Ee(:aé—f)

D. Provide names and addresses for no fewsr than three referencas for whom the Proposer
has provided simliiar services or who are guslified to evaluate the Proposer's capability fo :
perform this work. ;

Company FEM(AFF&\'){‘, Cﬂ%ﬂ'{'\ﬁ) Vi

ol Estade Dhsion
Natorny | 1200 cademment Cender
fofyuay, 357

Contact Person_Me, Powlae  Gowiie. . Diceetre Ceo
Address &%}L\W af Tax_Adrnins
cyistate _Folriax, VA 2303%
Telephone _ 103 =D&~ HROZ
Faxt__ /0D~ 3344935

E-Mail Address_\juoled » ﬁmdie,@ FaltfaX counh oGO/

Rewv. 3-2016



Company_CAermp i Cﬁw\'ru O

Contact Person__ M5, LICda, ’FV(?\\PM\ Avditor

nddress 100 Fogy Male S‘wm

City/State r?)&-m\ﬁo\i Ol 45103

Telephone __ D14~ 732~ TG0

Faxt__ D1%-T3a - 77220

E-Mail Address Wm\@ﬁ @ clenort C{)wﬁ}j ohie. oy

Company _ L€0n Coiy ﬂ%’\:’;; 1,

Contact Person_ M\S k&-w\tj Doolin, Assistant Pf’c(?.ﬂﬁ—\j Apreiser
Address __COuAhayse. A‘t’m‘?’)@; 318 S, (@lhoun Sieat
ciyistate_T@Rllahassee . L. 22301

Telephone __ 50— HEE~ (003

Faxt 350 ~922~ 7238

E-Mail Address K{Joeli‘n@le@n()&o@r%

Rev. 3-2016
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CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE [N
CONNECTION WITH THIS QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE
SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT
BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE
FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

i ah (9‘/! Of“fil . being duly sworn, state that | have read and understand all
the Items containad in the foregoing pages of this questionnaire and the following pages of
attachments; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item thereln to the best of my
knowledge, Information and belief; that ! will notify the Gounty in writing of any change in
circumstances oceurring after ths submission of this questionnalre and before the execution of
the contract: and that all Information suppliad by me is true to the best of my knowledge,
Infarmation and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this
questionnaire as additional Inducement to enter intc a contract with the submitting business
entlty.

Swomn to before me this /' day of ;%'/'I)W 20 /7
T ANDREA L. FRAVERT
[ A Hotary Public - Main
Netary Public _ My Comnmission Explres
Jung 1, 2022
Name of submitting business: Ty le 7&’6’%’?0[‘3}’1!‘@5 L It

By Hbby Doz

(LR

Signafure
Chied Lead ofler
Tite V

/o 4 i 17

Date

Rev, 32016
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COUNTY OF NASSAU

CONSULTANT’S, CONTRACTOR’S AND VENDOR'’S DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Name of the Entity: ’ﬁd les wf@ohﬂ@loa lﬁ?; Ine,
Address: Ope. 78\64’ W(’Mjl,

City, State and Zip Code: Mﬂfmf\@}, OH Y»vy39g

2. Entity’s Vendor Identification Number: ' )982 203920~ 04

3. Type of Business: 2§ Public Corp Partnership Joint Venture

Lid. Liability Co Closely Held Corp Other (specify)

4. List names and addresses of all principals; that is, all individuals serving on the Board of
Directors or comparable body, all partners and limited partners, all corporate officers, all parties
of Joint Ventures, and all members and officers of limited liability companies (attach additional
sheets if necessary):

Seo aftaoined.

Please nore, we do rov Jiselos
T@Qx‘“ﬁ mw%onw\-!« Jeamm .

5. List names and addresses of all shareholders, members, or partners of the firm. If the.
shareholder is rot an individual, list the individual shareholders/partners/members. If a Publicly
held Corporation, include a copy of the 10K in lieu of completing this section,

Seq. aftcohed Foren 10-k.
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6. List all affiliated and related companies and their relationship to the firm entered on line

1. above (if none, enter “None™), Attach a separate disclosure form for each affiliated or
subsidiary company thet may take part in the performance of this contract, Such disclosure shatl
be updated to include affiliated or subsidiary companies not previously disclosed that participate
in the performance of the contract.

None..

7. List all lobbyists whose services were utilized at any stage in this matter (i.e., pre-bid,

bid, post-bid, etc.). If none, enter “None.” The term “lobbyist” means any and cvery person or
organization retained, employed or designated by any client to influence - or promote a mattet
before - Nassau County, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads, legislators or
committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Commitice and
Planning Commission, Such matiers include, but are not limited to, requests for proposals,
development or improvement of real property subject to County regulation, procurements, The
term “lobbyist” does not include any officer, director, trustee, employee, counsel or agent of the
County of Nassau, or State of New York, when discharging his or her official duties.

(a) Name, title, business address and telephone number of lobbyist(s):

Nooe.,
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(b) Deseribs lobbying ectivity of each lobbyist. See below for & complete
description of lobbying activities.

Mowe

(¢} List whether and where the person/organization is vegistered as # lobbyist (o.z.,
Nussau Covmty, New York State):

et JonE

8. VERIFICATION: This section must be signed by s princtpal of the consnltent,

comtractor or Vendor authorized as & sighatory of the firm for the prrpose of executing Contracts,

The undersigned affirms and so wwears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing
statoments and they are, to his/her knowledge, truo and accurate.

Deiod;___ A/ ff‘/ "7 Higned M}%«M

Print Name: ff}&é%g Ty

Title: e Wﬁ" Mg
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The term lobbying shall mean any attempt to influence: any determination made by the
Nasgsau County Legislature, or any member thereof, with respect to the introduction, passage,
defeat, or substance of any local legislation or resolution; any determination by the County
Executive to support, oppose, approve ot disapprove any local legislation or resolution, whether
or not such legislation has been introduced in the County Legisiature; any determination by an
elected County official or an officer or employee of the County with respect to the procurement
of goods, services ot construction, including the preparation of contract specifications, including
by not limited to the preparation of requests for proposals, or solicitation, award or
administration of a contract or with respect to the solicitation, award or administiration of a grant,
loan, or agreement involving the disbursement of public monies; any determination made by the
County Executive, County Legislature, or by the County of Nassan, its agencies, boards,
commissions, department heads or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and
Patks Advisory Commitiee, the Planning Commission, with respect to the zoning, use,
development or improvement of real property subject to County regulation, or any agencies,
boards, commissions, department heads or committees with respect to requests for proposals,
bidding, procurement or coniracting for services for the County; any determination made by a1l
elected county official or an officer or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the
acquisition or disposition by the county of any interest in real property, with respect to a license
or permit for the use of real property of or by the county, or with respect to a franchise,
concession or revocable consent; the proposal, adoption, amendment or rejection by an agency of
any rule having the force and effect of law; the decision to hold, timing or ouicome of any rate
making proceeding before an agency; the agenda or any determination of a board or commission;
any determination regarding the calendaring or scope of any legislature oversight hearing;

the issuance, repeal, modification ot substance of a County Executive Order; or any
determination made by an elected county official or an officer or employee of the county to
support or oppose any state or federal legislation, rule or regulation, including any determination
made to support or oppose that is contingent on any amendment of such legislation, rule or
regulation, whether or not such legislation has been formally introdueed and whether or not such
rule or regulation has been formaliy proposed.
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The term lobbying shall mean any attempt to infloenes; any detsrminetion made by the
Nasean County Legislature, or any member thereof, with respeet to the introduction, passuge,
defeat, or substance of any local legiatation or resolution; any determination by the Covmty
Executive to support, vppuse, approve or disspprove any local legislation or reschation, whether
or not sach legislation has been introduced in the County Legisleture; any determination by an.
clected County offictal or an officer or employee of the County with respect to the procurement
of goods, sexvices or construetion, inshuding the preparation of eontract specifications, inclading
by not Hmited to the preparation of requests for proposals, or solicitation, award or
administration of a contract or with respect to the solicitation, award or administration of a grans,
loam, or agreement involving the disbursement of public monies; any determination made by the
County Execuiive, County Legistature, or by the County of Nassan, its agencies, boards,
commissions, department heads or committees, inoluding but not limited to the Open Space and
Parks Advisory Committee, the Planning Commission, with reapect to the zoning, vse,
development or iznprovement of yeal property subject to County regulation, or any agencies,
boards, commissions, department heads or committees with respect to requests for proposals,
bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an
elected county official or an officer or employes of the comty with respect to the terms of the
acquisition or disposition by the county of any intereat in real property, with respect to a loense
or pormit for the use of res! property of or by the county, or with respect to a franchise,
concersion of revocable congent; the proposal, adoption, amendment or rejection by an agency of
any ruln having the force and effect of law; the decivion to hold, timing or outcome of any rate
meking proceeding before an ugency; the sgenda or sny determination of a board or commission;
any determination reganding the eslendaring or scope of any legislature oversight hearing;

the issnanco, repenl, modification or substanee of a Cowty Executive Order; or any
determination wrde by an elected cownty offieial or an offiver or employes of the covmty to
sappott or oppose auy siate of federal legislation, rule or regulation, including any determination
mads to support er oppose that is contingent on any amensdment of such legislation, rale or
regulation, whether or not syoh legislation hs been formally introduced and whether or not such
rule or regulation hag besn formatly proposed.
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Oha Tylsr Drive
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Ps BOG.772,.2260
F: 207.78F.24503

RS T Y TR PR

Ms. Vandana Manucha

Department of Information Technology
Nassau County

240 01d Country Road

Mineola, NY 11501

October 18, 2017
Dear Yandana,

Enclosed please find the following documents with respect to Tyler Technologies,
Inc.:

Business History Form;

Political Contribution Form;

Lobbyist Registration Form;

Vendor Disclosure Form; and

Principal Questionnaire Forms: john Marr, Jr, Lynn Moore Jr., Mark Hawkins,

AL

Please redact all personal information from the Principal Questionnaire forms once
they have been reviewed and approved by the County. Please do not hesitate to
contact me at 1-800-772-2260, extension 4642, if you have any questions.

sSincerely,

Cond AL quwet

Andrea L. Fravert
Senior Corporate Attorney

Enclosure
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Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
of
Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Technologies, Inc. (“Tyler”) expects all officers, directors, and employees to exercise
the highest degree of professional business ethics in all actions they undertake on behalf
of Tyler. Accerdingly, Tyler expects Its officers, directors, and employees to act at all times
In accordance with the policies outlined herein. These policies apply to all officers,
directors, and employees, including, without limitation, Tyler’s princlpal executive officer,
principal financizl officer, principal accounting officer, and all persons performing similar
functions.

Any employee who has any questions regarding these policles should contact Robert
Sansone, Tyler Human Resources. An employee should immediately report any violations
to Robert Sansone, Tyler Human Resources. The policies in this Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics will be strictly enforced. Tyler will take appropriate disciplinary action with
respect to those involved in any violations of the standards, including, where appropriate,
dismissal. Tyler will not retaliate against an employee for reporting violations, This Code
of Business Conduct and Ethics is not intended to affect the status of any employee or to
enhance or diminish any employae’s contract rights,

Anonymous Reporting of Accounting or Auditing Concerns

If any employee has any concerns about any accounting, auditing, internal audit
controls, or related matter, he/she is encouraged to bring the matter to the attention
of Tyler’s Audit Committee Chairperson. The Audit Committee is comprised of three (3)
or more members of Tyler's Board of Directors and assists the Board in fulfilling its
oversight responsibility to Tyler's shareholders, potential shareholders, the Investment
community, and cothers relating to Tyler’s financial statements, financial reporting, and
processes. The Audit Committee Chairperson can be contacted in four different ways:

By phone (toll-free) at (866} 376-4128;

By Internet at http://www.openhoard.info/tyl;

By emall at tyl@openboard.info; or

By mail at Tyler Technologies, Inc., Board of Directers, Audit Committee
Chairperson, 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024.

Eall cl

Reports regarding accounting, auditing, or related matters will be kept sirictly
confidential and the employee or other person raising the issue is under no obligation
to reveal his/her identity in connection with the anonymous reporting process.

b e S8 b e




Introduction and Purpose

This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is designed to deter wrongdoing and promoie
the following:

Honest and ethical conduct, including ethical handling of actual or apparent
canflicts of interest between personal and professional relationships;

Avoidance of conflicts of interest, including disclosure to the appropriate person
identified herein of any material transaction or relationship that reasonably could
be expected to give rise to such a conflict;

Full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure in reports and
documents that Tyler files with, or submits to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission and in other public communications by Tyler;

Compliance with applicable governmental taws, rules, and regulations;

Prompt internal reporting to the appropriate person identified herein of any
violations of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics; and

Accountability for adherence to the policies contained in this Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics.

General Principles for Business Conduct

Tyler and its employee shall comply with all applicabie legal requirements of any
federal, state, local, or foreign jurisdiction where Tyler conducts business,

The use of any Tyler assets for any unlawful or improper purpose is strictly
prohibited.

No undisclosed fund or asset shall be established or maintained for any purpose.

No false or misleading entries shall be made for any reason in Tyler's books,
records, or other financial documents, or in any materials prepared for or
submitted to Tyler's accountants or independent auditors, and no employee shall
engage in any arrangement that results in such prohibited act. In addition, all
employees dealing with or providing information er documentation to Tyler's
accountants or independent auditors must provide complete ahd accurate
information, and must immediately report any request, suggestion, or threat that




they do otherwise to the Chairperson of the Tyler Audit Committee, on an
anonymous and confidential basls, as outlined in the first section above,

Just as Tyler expects all employees to speak honestly to clients, potential clients,
and vendors, Tyler also expects zll employees to display the same integrity in
anything they write, whether for internal or external use, Therefore, all internal
records, memoranda, and other documents must ba accurate, complete, and
truthful and must be maintained in that condition without any alteration,
falsification, emission, or other change that would mislead someone reviewing the
record about its original contents or meaning. Any employee who is asked or
directed to engage in such prohibited conduct should immediately report it to
Rohert Sansone, Tyler Human Resources, ot if it concerns guestionable accounting
or auditing matters, to the Chajrperson of the Tyler Audit Commitiee, on an
anonymous and confidential basis, as cutlined in the first section above,

Retaliation against any employee as a result of their bringing forward any
questions, concerns, or complaints about accounting or auditing matters,
recording of information, record retention, or In any other manner concerning the
honesty and integrity of Tyler's operations or financial reparting is strictly
prohibited. Similarly, retaliation is prohibited against any employee who provides
accurate information to any law enforcement agency about the commission of any
state or federal offense. Any employee who feels that he/she has been retaliated
against or threatened with retaliation for these reasons should immediately
report it to Robert Sansone, Tyler Human Reseources, or if it concerns questicnable
accounting or auditing matters, to the Chalrperson of the Tyler Audit Commities,
on an anonymous and confidential basis, as outlined in the first section above,

No payment on behalf of Tyler shall be approved without adequate supporting
documentation, er made with the intention or understanding that any part of such
payment is to be used for any purpose other than as described by the
documentation supporting the payment.

No Tyler confidential information shall be used or revealed within or outside of
Tyler without proper authorlzation and purpose.

The use of Tyler employees, materials, or eguipment for personal purposes is
strictly prohibited, unless specifically authorized.

Combpliance with established internal control procedures Is required at all times.




Political Activities and Contributions

Tyler will not make any contribution to or for any political party, committee, or candidate
for any public office. Any employee requested by another employee to contribute Tyler
funds to a political party, cemmittee, or candidate for public office should decline to do
so and promptly notify Robert Sansone, Tyler Human Resources, of the details of any such
reguest.

Payments to Government Officials and Personnel

Tyler's relationships with governmental agencies and their personnelin any federal, state,
local, or foreign jurisdiction where Tyler conducts business shall be conducted so that full
disclosure of the cenduct will not impugn or jeopardize Tyler's integrity or reputation,
Accordingly, paymeants to government personnel, including gifts of substantial value or
lavish entertainment, is strictly prohibited, whether the payment is made from perscnal
funds or assets or those of Tyler, and whether made directly or indirectly through
consultants, advisors, suppliers, customers, or other third parties.

Use of Agents and Others to Assist in Obtaining and Performing Contracts

From time to time, Tyler may elect to use special consultants, distributors,
represeniatives, and agents to assist in obtlaining or performing contracts. These
representatives must he bona fige professional individuals or organizations, they must
render bona fide services, and their compensation must be limited to a reasonable fee for
their services. A representative may not be employed by Tyler if he/she is connectad
directly orindirectly to the prospective customar or to an official or agent of a prospective
customer,

Conflicts of Interest

Tyler expects the undivided fovalty of its employees in the conduct of business, I is
important that employees be free from any financial interests or other relationships that
might conflict with the best interests of Tyler. Accordingly, each employee shall avoid any
investment or other interest in any hbusiness that would conflict with the proper
performance of his/her dutias or responsibiiities for Tyler, or which might interfere with
hisfher independence of judgment with respact to the transactions hetween Tyler and
such other business.




While it is impossikble to enumerate ali situations in which possible conflicts might arlse,
the following are some examples:

To give or receive gifts of more than token value that are in any way connected
with the business relationship;

To lend or borrow money or other assets from individuals or concerns that do
husiness with or compete azgalinst Tyler, except banks and other financial
instituiions;

To serve as an officer, director, employee, or consultant of, or receive any income
from any enterprise doing business with or competing against Tyler, or seeking to
do so, or to own an interest in or engage in the management of an organization
providing services or products to Tyler, or to which Tyler sells, or with which [t
competes, except when such Interest {a) comprises publicly traded securities
listed on a national securities exchange, NASDAQ, or the OTC margin list and {b) is
not in excess of five percent (5%) of the securlties of such company;

To sccept compensation from cutsiders for services for which the employee Is
heing paid by Tyier;

To speculate or deal ih materials, equipment, supplies, products, lands, leases, or
property purchased or sold by Tyler, or for which negotiations to purchase,
acquire, or sell are pending or may reasohahly be anticipated, or to receive (other
than from Tyler} any compensation, bonus, or commission in connection with any
transaction relating to Tyler's husiness;

To knowingly cause, directly or Indirectly, Tyler to enter into a business transaction
with a close relative of a Tyler employee or business enterprise of such relative;

To knowingly buy or sell for the employee’s own account or the account of a
relative of a Tyler employee any security or other interest which Tyler may be
considering buying ar selling, or has decided to buy or sell, until Tyler’s decision
has been completely executed and publicly announced; or

To transmit any knowladge of any consideration or decisions of any information
that might be prejudicial to the interests of Tyler to any person, eéxcept as may ke
hecessary for the proper discharge of the employee’s responsibilities on behalf of
Tyler.

If an employee finds that he/she has, or is considering the assumption of, a financial
interast or outside relationship that might involve a conflict of interast, or if the employee
has any doubt as to the proper application of this policy, he/she should promptly make
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all facts knownh to Robert Sansone, Tvler Human Resources, and refraln from any exercise
of responsibility in any manner that might reasonably be considered to be affected by
such adverse interest,

Protection of Confidential or Proprietary Information

Tyler's confidentlal and proprietary information is vital to its current operations and
future success. Each employee shall use reasonable care to protect ot otherwise prevent
the unauthorized disclosure of such information. In no event shall confidential
information be disclosed or revealed within or outside Tyler without proper authorization
or purpose. If an employee is uncertain whether certain information should be treated
as confidential, the employee should presume that such information is confidential and
not disclose It without proper authorization.

By way of exarnple, confidential or proprietary information includes information relating
to Tyler's business methods, business plans, research, development, inventions,
databases, systems, systems designs, technology, intellectual property, know-how,
management, business development, operations, products, services, pricing strategies,
client sources, employee records, terms and conditions of arrangements of any business
or clients, client lists, methods of compating, financial statements, financlal projections,
financing methods, and other proprietary information.

Insider Trading

Tyler's common stock is listed for trading on the New York $tock Exchange (NYSE:TYL},
No employee may purchase, sell, or otherwise trade Tyler common stock {including
optlens) while in possession of material information that has not been publicly
disseminated. In addition, employees shall not communicate non-public information to
a third party under circumstances where improper trading can be anticipated. Material
information can either be positive or negative information and can include such things as
financial results, projections of future earnings or losses, significant acquisitions, contract
awards, teaming agreements, or other material business developments, significant

[itigation, acquisition or [0ss of significant customers, and ather infarmation material to

Tyler's business. CGuestions about any trade should be directed to H. Lynn Mocre, Jr.,
Tyler's  Executive Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary at
lynh.moore@tylertech.com.




Property Rights

During and subsequent to employment by Tyler, an employee must disclose to Tyler all
ideas, concepts, Inventions, improvements, and discoveries, including those related to
software, and any and all writings including those related to software, regardless of the
media that are conceived, made, or reduced to practice hy the employee provided that
such ideas, concepts, inventions, improvements, and discoveries arise from or relate to
work done for or on behalf of Tyler, relate to Tyler’s business, or involve the employee’s
use of Tyler equipment, fasilities, or time, or arise out of any Information received
regarding Tyler’s business. It is each employee’s responsibility to fully disclose to Tyler as
promptly as avallable all information known or possessed by the employee concerning
these propetty rights, Where appropriate, ideas or questions should be directed to H.
Lynn Moore, Jr., Tyler's Executive Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary at
lynn.moore@tylertech.com for patent, copyright, trademark, or trade secret protection.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Tyler Technologies, Ino. (“Tyler™) is @ major provider of integrated information management solutiong and servicss Tor the public secter, with a focus on local
governments. We partner with clients to make local government more pocessible to the public, more responsive 1o the needs of citizens snd mare efficient in its
operations, We have a bread line of software solutiong and services to nddress fhe information technology (“IT') needs of major ateas of operafions for gitiss,
counties, schools and ether Joval government cutities, Most of our clients have our seftware instatied in-house. For clients whe prefer not to physically aoquirs the
software and hardware, most of our software applications can be delivered as sofiware as a service (“Saa8™), whioh vtilize the Tyler private cloud. We provide
profossional 1T services to our clients, including software and hardware installation, data conversion, training and, at fimes, product modifications. In additlon, we
are the nation’s largest provider of outsourced property appraisal services for taxing jurisdictions. We alse pravide continuing olient support services to ensute
product performance and reliability, whieh provides us with long-lerm client relationships and a significant bage of recutting maintenance revenye. In addition, we
provide electranic dogument filing solutions (“e-filing™), which simplify the filing and management of coutt docnments.

Tyler was founded in 1966, Prior to 1998, we operated as a diversified indvstrial conglomerate, with operations in various industrial, retail and distributlon
businesses, all of which have boen divested. In 1997, we embarked en a mulii-phase growth plen focused on serving the specialized information managetnent
needs of local governments nationwide, We entered the local government I'T market through & series of strategic acquisitions in 1998 und 1699,

MARKET OVERVIEW

The state and local government marlcet is one of the largest and most decentralized IT markeis in the country, consisting of all 50 states, approximelely 3,000
coutitisg, 36,000 cities and towns and 13,900 scheol districts, This marlket is als comprised of approximately 37,000 spetial districts and other agencies, each with
specialized delegated responsibilities and unique information management requirements.

Traditionally, local governtment bodies and agencies performed state-mandated dutiss, including propetty assessment, record keeping, road maintenance, law
enforcement, administration of lection and judiciat fimetions, and the provision of welfare assistanee. Today, a host of emerging and urgent issues are confronting
local goveriments, each of which demands a service response. These areas include eriminal justice and correetions, administrotion and finance, public sefety,
health and humsan services, planning, regulatory and mainterance and records and document management, Transfers of responsibility from the federal and state
governments to connty and municipal povemments and agencies in these and other areas also place additional service and finanetal requirements on thess focal
government units, Tn addition, constituents of local governments are incrsasingly demending itnproved service and betfer aceoss to information from publie
entities. As a result, local governments recogize the increasing value of information management systems and services to, among other things, improve revetive
collection, provide increased aceess to informetion, and strealine delivery af pesvices to their constituents. Local government bodies are now recognizing fhat “e-
goveriment” is an additional respensibility for community development. From integruted Lax systems to integrated civil and criminai justice mformation sysiems,
many counties and cities have benetited significantly from the implementation of jurisdiction-wide systems that allow different agencies or government offices o
share data and pravide & more comprehensive epproach to information management, Many city and county governmental agencies also have untque individual
information management requirements, which must be tailored to the speific functiens of ench particular office.

Many local governments also have ditficulties altracting and retaining the staff necessary to suppati their [T fumctions. As aresult, t]iey seek to establish long-torm
relationships with relizble providers of high quality IT produots and services such as Tyler.

Althongh tacsl povernments generally face budgetary constenints in their operations, their primary revenue sources are nsually property taxes, and te alesser
extent, uiility billings and ather Foes, which historically fend to be relatively stable, In sddition, the acquisition of new technology typicatly enables local
governments to operate moro cfficiently, and often provides a measurable return on investorent that justifies the purchase of software and related services.

Gattner, Inc., a leading information technology research and advisery company, estimates that state and local government application and vertical specific seliwaro
spending will grow frem $12.7 billion in 2017 to §15.5 billion ib 2020, The professionsl services and support segments of the market are expected to expand from
$31.1 billion in 2017 to $35.1 biflion in 2020, Application and vettical specific sofiware sales I the primary and secondlary education segments of ibe market is
expecied to expand from §2.3 billion in 2017 to $2.9 billinn in 2020 while professional services and support are expeciod fo grow from $2.1 billien in 2017 to §2.4
billion in 2020.




PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

We provide a comprehensive and flexible suite of produeis and services that addresses ihe informatien technology needs of citles, counties, schools and other local
governmant entities, We derive our revenuss from five primary souroes

+  Sales of software licenses and royalties

+  Subscription-based arrangements

»  Soltwars services

s Maintenance and supportt

+  Appraisal services

We desigh, develop, market and support a broad range of seftwars solutions to serve mission-critical “back-office” functions of local governments. Many of our
software applicatlons include Intesnet-accessible solutions that allow for real-time public access to a variely of information or that allow the public to iransact
business with looal governments via the Infernei. Out softwere soluticns and services are generally grouped in six major areas:

+  Financial Management and Education

+  Courls and Justice

+  Public Safety

+  Propetty Appraisal and Tax

+  Plahning, Regulatory and Maintenance

»  Land and Vital Records Managerment

Each of our core software systems consists of several fully integrated applications. For clients who acquire software for vse in-house, we generally license cur
systems under standard perpetual license ngreements that provide the chient with a fully paid, nonexclusive, noniransferable right to use the software, In some of
the product areas, such as financisl management and education and property eppraisal and tax, we offer multiple solutions designed to moot the nesds of different
sized governments.

We also offer Saa$ atrangements, which utilize the Tyler private cloud, for clients who do not wish to maintaln, update and operate these systems of to mazke up-
front capital expenditures to implement these advanced technolegies, For these clients, the software and client data are hosted at our data centers o at third-party

locations, and clients typically sign multi-year contracts for thess subseription-based servioes.

Historically, we have had a greater propertion of our annual revenues in the second hatf of our fiscal year due to governmental budget and spending cycles and the
timing of systern implementations for olients desiring to “go Hve” ot the beginning of the calendar year,

A description of our suites of products and services follows:

Software Licghses

Financlal Management end Education

Our financial tushagement and education solutinny ave enterprise resoutce planning systems for local governments, which inlegrate information across all facets of
a client organtzation. Our financial management solutions nchide modular fimd accounting systema that can be tailered to meet the needs of virtually any
governent agency or noi-for-profit entity, Our finencial management systems inelude modules for general ledger, budpet preparation, fixed assets, requigitions,
purchase orders, bid management, accounts payable, contract management, accounts receivable, investment management, ventory control, project and grant
accounting, work orders, job costing, GASB reporting, payrolt and human resources, All of our financial management systems are intended to conform Lo

povermment suditing and finaneial reporting requirements snd generally aceepted accounting principles.
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We sell utility billing sysiems that support ihe billing and collection of metered and non-rootered services, along with multiple billing cycles, Our Web-enabled
ntility billing solutions allow clients to access information online such as average consumption and transaction history. In addition, our systems can accept seeurad
Internet payments via credit cards and checks,

We slso offer specialized procuets that automate numerous city functions, including municipal courts, patldng tickets, equipment and project costing, animal
Ticenses, business licenses, permits and inspecticns, code enforcement, citizen complaint tracking, ambulence billing, fleet matntenance, and cemetery records
management,

In addition to providing financial management systems to K+12 schools, we sell student information systems for X-12 schools, which manage such aotivities as
scheduling, grades and attendanee. We also offer student transportation selutions to manuge school bus rouling optimization, flest managentent, field trips and
other related fimetions.

Tyler's financial menagement and edveation solutions include Web compenents that enhance local governments’ service capabillties by facilitating online access
to information for both employees and eitizetts and snabling online transactions,

Courls and Justice

We offer a complete, fally infegrated suite of fudicial solutions designed to handle complex, multi-furisdictional county or statewide implementations as well as
single county systems, Cur solutions help eliminate duplicate data entry, promoée more effective usiness procedures and improve effiviency across the entire
justice process.

Our unified courl case management systom is designed to autemate the tracking and management of information involved In all case types, including criminal,
traffic, olvil, family, probate and juvenile courts. It also tracks the status of cases, processes fines and fees and generates the specialized judgment and sentencing
documetts, notices and forms required in the court prosess. Documents received by ihe court can be scanned into the electronic case file and eosily retrieved for
viewing. Documernts generated by the courf can be electronically signed and antomatically attached to the electronie case file, Additienal modvles automate the
management of court calendars, coordinage judges schedules and generate court dockets. Our taxgeted courtroorn technologies allow courts to rapldly review
calendars, cases and view documents in the courtrooi. Courts muy also take advantage of our telated jury management systet.

Qur coutt and law enforoement systems allow the public to aceess, via the Internet, a variely of informatien, including non-confidentiel criminal and civil court
Tegords, jail booking and release information, bond and bondsmen Information, and court calendars and dockets. In addition, our systems allow cities and couuties
to accept payments for traffic and parking tickets over the Internet, with a scamless and automatic interface to back-office justice and financial systens,

Our prosecutor system enables state attortey offices to tzack and manage criminal cases, including detailed viethn information and private case notes, Investigative
reports and charging instrument documents can be generated and stored for laler viewing, Prosscutors can sehedule and recard the outcome of grand jury hearings.
Whon inteprated with thu: coutt system, prosecutors can view the electronic case file and related documents, as well ag manage wimess lists and subpoenas needed
for court hearings.

Our supervision system allows pre-trial and probation offices to mznage offender caseloads. Supervision officers ot track contact schedules, risk/needs
assessments and reassessimats, detailed drog test results, employment histories, compliance with conditions and payments of fees and resiiuton, Documents and
forons, tike pre-sentence investigations or tevocation orders, can be generated and stored for casy viewing, When integrated with the jail and coutt systems,
supetvision officors obtain easy access and quick notification of effenders that have court hearfngs scheduled, are arrested locally, and have new warran(s issued.

We also offer a court case management solution that automates ang tracks all sspocts of municipal courtz and offices. Ttis a fully integrated, graphical application
that provides effective case manapement, document processing and cash/bond management. This system complies with all state teporting and cenviction reporiz
and includes electronie reporting and slse integrates with certain of our financial management solutions and public safety sohutions,
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Public Safety

Our public safely software 5 a fully unified and comprehensive solution for law enforcement, fire and EMS, including 911/ computer aided dispetch (*CAD™),
records management, mobile computing, corrections management, Web-based information shacing and decision support, The modules are fully integtated, utilizing
a common database and providing fult functionality between modules, reducing data entry, The software provides fast, efficient dispatching, and quick access 1o
records, reparts and actionable information from an agency’s databass.

Our 911 / CAD solutions provide real-time, critical response digpateh functions in either single- or multi-jurizdictional environments. Whea integrated with our
records mahagement sofivate, o vital Link exists batween dispatch and the most comprehensive records database available. Within seconds, the dispatch. operator
and the officer in the field can access critical information, such ag prior incidents and outstanding warvants, increasing officer knowledge and safety. The selutions
offer strong geographis information systems integeation to Lelp dispatchers quickly [ocate and send the best response during an emergency. Tyler’s 411/ CAD
solutions dramatically improve performance, response thne and unit safety.

Our records management sohrtions for law enforcement and fire track statistical, operational, investigative and management data for inquiry and reporting, The
systems creats an efficiant case processing workflow end help solve crimes with an secessible database that mainlaing central files on people, places, property,
vehioles and criminal activity, Tyler's public safety records management solutions enable easy access to information and simplify reporting.

Our mobile compwting solutions for law enforcement and fire provide instant aceess to local, stale, regional and fodersl databases via mobile devices. Officers and
firefighors can exparience the bonefits of obtaining critical, teal-time information in the field, whils saving time by preparing reports directly in their vekicles,

Our juil management systems document and manage information that mects the requirements of a meder jafl facility. This includes the booking and housing of
persons in custody, supervising defendants on a pre-trial release, maintaining offenders sentenced to focal incarceration and billing other agensies for housing
inmatag. Searching, reporiing and tracking fetures ars integrated, allowing raliable, np-to-date acoess to ourrent arrest and incarcoration data, including digital
mug shots. Our systoms also provide warrant cheeks for visitors or boole-ing, inmate classification and rigk agsessment, commissary, property and medical
processing, automation of slatistics, and state and federal reporting.

Ouvr civil processing solutions manage civil process needs from document receipt through service, payment process and final closeout, We also have a mobile
electronic citation solution through which law snforcement officers can easily enter citation information in a mobile device, which is automatically vploaded into
the court or public safety records management systems, rather (han hand-wriiing citations that must be re-entered into the systems.

We significantly expanded our presence in the publiv sufety market with our asquisition of New World Systems Corporation in November 2015,
Property Appraisal and Tax

We provide systemns and software that aufomute the appraisal and assessment of real and personal propeity, inclnding record keeping, mass appraisal, inquiry and
protest tracking, appraisal and tax roll generation, tax statement processing, and electronic state-level reporting. These systoms are image and video-enabled 1o
tacilitate the storage of and access to the many property-related documents and for the ouline storgge of digital photographs of properties for use In defending
values it protest situations, Other related tax applications are available for agencies that bilt and collect txes, inchiding cities, counties, school tax offices, and
special taxing and collection agencies, These systems suppert billing, sellections, lock box eperations, mortgage sompany electronic payments, and various
reporting requirements.

Plamning, Regulatory and Malntenance

Ot planning, regulatery and maintenance software soluticns are designed for publc sector agencies such as commmunity development, planning, bullding, cede
suforeement, tax and tevenues, public works, transportaticn, land control, environmental, fire safety, storm water management, tegulatory conirols and
engincering, These solutions help public sector ageneies better manage thoir day-to-day business fanctions while streamiining and avtomating the many aspeots of
fheir land management, permitting and planning gystems, Our mobile solutions extend automation to the field and Web access brings online services to pitizens 24
hourz a duy, 365 duays a year.




Land and Vitgl Records Monagemen t

We also offer & number of specialized software applications designed to help local governments enhance and automate operations involving records and document
management, These systems record, scan and index information for the many gocuiments maintained by local governments, such g deeds, mortgages, Liens, UCC
financing statements and vital records (birth, death and marriage certificates), These applications include fully integrated imaging systems with batch and scan
processing capabilities and folly integrated recoipting and cashieting systems, as well as Web-enabled publiv sccess.

Dut content management solations allow state and local govermments and school districts 1o capture, deliver, manage and archive electronic information. These
solutiong streamiline the flow of digital informatlon fhronghout the organization to inerease efficiency by transforming paper forms and doouments into elecironic
finages that drive key business processes.

Subscription-Based Setvj

Subscription-based revete is primarily derived from cur SaaS ervangements, which utflize Lhe Tyler private cloud, as well as our transaction based offerings such
a¢ g-filing solutions.

We are able to provide the majority of our software products through our Saa8 model. The chients who ohoase this model typically do not wish to maintain, update
and operate these systems or make up-front capitel expenditures to implement these advenced technologies. The coniract terms for these arrangements range from
one to 10 years, but are typically contrasted for initiel perinds of fiva te seven years, The majority ef eur SaaS or hosting arrangements include additional
profpesional services as well as maintenance and support sorvices. In certein arrangements, the client may also acquire a Heense to the soflware,

As part of oor subseription-based serviees, we provide e-filing solutions that simplify the filing and management of coutt velated documents for courts and law
offices. Revenues for e-filing are included in subsoription-based revenues and are derived from transaction fees and in some cases fixed fee arrangentents.

Software Services

We provide a variety of professional IT services to clients who ylilize aur software produets, Virtually uil of our elients contract with us for installation, tralning,
and data conversion scivices in connzelion with theit pusehase of Tyler's softwate soltions. The complets implementation process for a fypical aystem includes
planning, design, data convetsion, set-up and testing. Af the culmination of the implementation process, a dats implementation team travels to the client's fhcility
to enaure the smooth go-live with the new system, Data implementation fees are charged separately o clients on efther a fixed-fee or hourly charge basis,
depending on the confract.

Boih in connoction with the installation of new systems and on an ongoing besis, we provide extonsive training services and programs related to our products and
services. Traming can be provided in our training centers, onsite at clients’ loaticns, or at mectings and conferenoes nnd can be customized to meet oliewts’
requirements. The vast majerity of eue ellents vontract with us for training servioes, both to improve their employees’ proficiency and productivity and fo folly
utilize the functionality of our systems. Training services are generally billed on an hovely or diaily bagcis, along with trave] and other expenses,

Maintenance and Support

Following the implementation of our software systems, we provide ongoing software support services to assist our clients in operating the systems and to
periodieally update the software. Suppart is provided to clients over the phone or vin the Web throngh help desks staffed by our elient suppert representatives, For
mors complicated issues, our staff, with the client’s permisaion, can log an to clients’ systems remolsly, We maintsin cur clients’ software largely through relsases
that conain improvements and increrental additions of foatures and functichality, along with updates necessaty hecense of tepisiative or regulatory changes.

Virtually all of our soflware clients contract with us for maintenance and support, which provides us with a significani source of recurring revenue, We generally
provide maintenance and support for our on-premiges clients andet annval, or in some cases, multi-year contracts, with a typical foe based on g percentags of the
soltware praduct’s license fee. These foes can zenerally be increased on reneywal and may also increase as new license fees increase. Mamienance and supporl fees
gro genorally paid annually in advance, Most maintenance contracts automatically renew unless the client or Tyler gives nolice of termination priot to expiration.
Simflar support ¢ previded (o owr SaS clients and is included in their subseription fees, which are classified as subsetiption-based revenues.
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Wa aie e nation’s 1argest provider of preperty appraisal outsoureing gorvices for locnl governiient taxing antlhorities, Those services include

+  The physieal ingpection of commercial and residential properties

»  Deta collection sad processing

+  Sophisticated computer analyses for properiy valuation

+  Preperation of tux rolls

+  Community education regarding the agsessment process

. Arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction

Local government taxing authorities normally reappraise properties from titne to Lime to update values for tax assessment purposes and to maintain equity in the
taxing process. In some jurisdictions, law mandates seassessment cycles; in others, they are discretionary, While some taxing jurisdictions perform reappraisals in-
liouse, many local governments ouisource this funclion because of its eyelical nature and because of the gpecialized knowledge and expertise requiretents
assoclated with it. Our appraisal services business unit has been s this business since 1938,

Tn some instancos, we also sell property tax and/or appraisal softwere products in cannaction with sppraissl outsourcing projects, while otber clients may only
engage us to provide apprajsal gervices. Appraisal outsourcing services are somewhat seasonal in nature to fhe extent that winter weather conditions raduce the

productivity of data colloction activities in cormection with those projects.

STRATEGY

Our objective is to grow our Ieyens and eamnings erganically, supplemented by focused strategic acquisitions. The key components of our business strategy are (&:

* Proyide high quality, valye-—addeg products and services to our clients . We compete on the basis of, among other things, delivering o cllents our decp
domain expertise in joal government operations through the highest value products and services in the maiket, We believe we have achieved a fepuiation as 2
premium produet and service provider to the loeal government market.

. Contiue to expapd our product and seryice offerings . While we already have what we believe to be the broadest line of sollware produets for local
govetnments, we centinbally npgrade our core sefiware epplications and expand our complementary product and service offerings o respond to technologicel
advancements and the changing needs of our ofients, In 2010, we bagan providing e-filing for courts and law offices, which simplifies the filing and managsment
of court relpted documents. We believe revenuo from e~filing solutions will continue to grow over time as more local and state governments mandate electronic
dosument flings. We also offer solutions that allow the public to ageess data and conduct transactions with local governments, such as paying trafflc tickets,
property taxes and utility bills via the Infernet. We believe thai the addition of such features enhances the marlel appeal of our core products, We have also
broadened vur offerings of consulting and husiness progess reengineeting services, In November 2013, we significantly expanded our presenee in the public safely
software market through the acquisition of Neve Wotld Systems Corporation,

. Fxpand our clicnt base . We scel to catablish long-term refationships with aew clients primatily through aur sales and marketing efforts, While we cutrently
have glients in all 50 states, Canada, the Caribbean, the United Kingdom, and other international locations, not all of our solutions have achieved nationwide
geographic penctration. We intend 1o continue to expand inlo new geograpliie markets by adding sales staff and targetivg marketing efforts by soluticns i thoss
areas. We also intend 1o continve 10 expand our customer bage 10 inelude more large governments. While our traditional mazket foons has primarily been on small
and mud-sized governmenls, our increased sizo and matket presence; togethor with the technological advances and improved scalability of cerfain of vur solutions,
are allowing s to achieve inerensing success in selling to larger clients. We also expect to oxpand our presence in infernational markets by Jeveraging our
Ioadership pogition in the United States through the disciplined pursuit of seleoted apportunities i other countiies.

. Expand. our gxisting client rolal jonghips . Our existing costomer bass affers significant opportmities for additional sales of solutions and servioes that we

catrenfly offer, but that existing clients do not fully ykilize, Add-on salos to existing clients typieally fvolve lower salos and marketing expenses than salss to new
slients,
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. Grow recurring revenues . We have a large recurring revenue Dbaze from maintenancs and support snd subseription-based services, which generated revenues
of $465.7 million , or 62% of total revenues, in 2016 We have historically experienced very low customer turiover (approximately 2% anmually) and recurring
revenues cotinue to grow as the installed customer base increases. Subseription-based revenues have been onr fastest growing reveiiue category over the past five
yeats, increasing from $44.6 million in 2012 to $142.7 million in 2015 .

. Maximize coonomies of scale and tales gdvantage of finaneial leverage in_gur business . Wo geel to build and maintain a larger client base to creats
ocomomies of seale, enabling us to provids value-added products and services to cur clients while expanding our operating margings. Because we sell primarily “off-
the-shel P’ softwrare, increased salos of the same solutions result in incrementally higher gross margins. In addition, we believe thut we heve o marketing and
administrative infrastruetsre in place that can be leveraged to accommodate significant long-term growih without proportionately increasing selling, general and
adminisirative expenses, :

' Attract and retain highty qualified We believe that the depth and quality of our opetations management and staff is one of our significant
strengths, and that the ability to retain such smployees i3 ciueisl to our continued prowth and success. We believe that our stable management tearn, financial
strength and growth opportunitics, s well as our Teadershipy position in the local goverament matket, enhance out altractiveness as an employer Tor highly skilled
employees,

. Pursne selected shratesic acomisitions . While we expect to primarily grow inlernally, from timne to time we selectively pursue strategic acquisitions that
provide us with one or more of the following

+  New products and services to complement our existing offerings
»  Bniry into new markeis related fo lozal governments
»  New olients and/or geographic expansion

' Establish strategie alliances . In January 2007, we anmounced a stralegic allianee with Microsoft Cotperation to jeintly develop core jpublic sector
funetisnality for Microsoft Dynamies AX to address the unique gcenumting heeds of public socior organizations worldwide, As part of this alliance, we are
enhancing Microsoft Dynamics AX with public ssetor-spocific fimetionality. The artangement has broadened the funclienality of Micresoft Dynamics AX,
providing both Tyler and Microsoft with a public sector aesounting platform to suppott their existing and prospective clients well into the future. Microsofl
Dynamics AX with public sector functionality was releqsed to the market in August 2011 and is being sold in the United States and Internationally threugh
Microsoft’s distribution channels. Tyler is wso an authorized Microsofl reseller for the Microsoft Dynamics solutions developed undet this arvangenent, and we
are selling the solutions directly into the governatent matket Tyler receives license and maintenance royalties on diract and indirect public-sector sales worldwide.

Our contracual researeh and development cemmitment to develop public sector functionality for Microsoft Dynamics AX was amended in March 2016 and
sigmificantly redueed our development commilment {hrough March 2018, However, we will continue 1o provide sustained engineering and technical suppert for the
public sector fusctionality within Dynamics AX.

SALES, MARKETING, AND CLIENTS

We marlet our producis and services through direct gales and marketing personnel lecated throughout the United States. Ofber in-house sales staff focus on add-on
sales, professional services and support.

Sales of new systems are typically generated from referrals from other govemment offices or departments witlin a county or municipalily, referrals from other
local governments, relationships established belween sales representatives and county or local officials, contacts al trade shows, direct mailings, and direct contast
From progpecls already familiar with vs. We are active in numerous national, state, county, and loeal government associations, and participate in annual meetings,
trade shows, and educational ¢venis,

Clicnts consist primarily of ceunty and municipal agencies, sehool districts and oiber local government offices. In counties, clients include the auditor, trepsurer,
tax assessotfeollector, county clesk, district clerk, county wid district court judges, probation officers, sheriff, and county appraiser, At municipal government sites,
clients includs directors from various departments, including administratior, finanes, utilities, public works, code anforcement, personnel, putchasing, taxation,
munieipal court, and police. Contracts for softwre produets and servies are gencrally implemented over periods of three monthg to one year, althouglh soms
complex implementations may span multiple years, with ansally renewihg maintenancs and support update agrecments thereafter, Althemgh either the ¢lient or
we can tetininate these agreements, historically almost all support and maibtenance agteements are antomatically renewed annually. During 2016 , approximately
43% of our ¥evenue was attributable to ohgoing supperl and mantenance agiesmanis. Contrasts for apprajsal outsourcing services are generally one fo three years
in cluration,




COMPETITION

We sompete with numerous local, regional, and patichal firtns thatl provide or offer some or many of the same solutions and serviees that we provide. Many of
these competitots ave smaller compardes that may be able ta affer less cxpensive soluttons than ours, Many of these finns operate within a speeific geographic atea
and/or in & narcow produoct or service iche, W also compete wiih national firms, some of which have greater financial and technical resoutoes than we do,
inctuding Cracle Corporation, Infor, SAP AG, FIS {SunGard), Thomson Reuters Corporation, and Constellation Sofiwars, Ine. In addition, we somelimey compete
with consulfing and systems integration firms, which develop custom systers, primarily for Jarger governients. We also occasionally compete with central
intertal information service departments of locgl governments, which requires us to persuade the end-user department to discontinue service by its own personnel
and outsource the service to us,

We compele on o variety of factors, including price, service, name recognhition, reputation, technologloal capabilities, and fhe ability to modify existing produocts
and seivices to accommodate the Individnal requirements of the olient, Our ability to offer an Integrated system of applications for several offices or depariments is
ofien a competitive advantage. Loosl gavernmental unlis often are required to geek competitive proposals throvgh a request for proposal process atd soine
prospective clients use cossultants to assist them with the proposal mnd vendor selsption process,

SUFPLIERS

Substantially a1l of the computers, petipherals, printets, scanners, operailng system soflware, office automation software, and other equipment necessary for the
implementation and provisien of out sofiware systems and services ate presently available from several third-party soutces. Hardware is purehased an original
equipment manufaciurer or distributor terms at discounts from reteil, We have not expericnced any significant supply problems.

BACKLOG

At December 31, 2016 , our estimated revenue backlog was approximately $653.3 million , compared to £844.5 million at December 31, 2015 . The backlog
represents sighed contracts under which the revenue has not been recognized as of year-end. Approximately $580.2 million , or 61% , of the backlog is expected to
be recognized during 2017,

INTRLLECTUAL PROPERTY, PROPRIETARY RIGHTS, AND LICENSES

We tegard cerkain features of ovr internal operations, software, and documentation as confidential and proprietary and rely on 8 comblnation of contraeiual
testrictions, trade secret laws and othet measures 1o protect our proprietaty intellectual property. We genetally do not rely on patents. We believe that, due to the
rapid rate of technological change in the corpuler software indvstty, trade secrets and copyright profeciion are less significant than factors such as knowledge,
abillty and expericnee of our employess, Crequent product enhancetnents, and tmeliness and quality of supporl services, We typically license our software products
under non-exclusive license agreements, which are generally non-trans ferable and have a perpetual term.

EMFLOYEES

At Degember 31, 2016 , we had 3,831 employees. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or are subject to collective bargaiiing agreements, We
congider our relations with our employees (o be positive.

INTERNET WEESITE AND AVAILABILITY CF PUBLIC FILINGS

W file annual, querterly, current and ciher 1eperts, proxy statements and other jnformation with the Securities and Bxchange Commission, or SEC, pursuant to the
Securities Exchange Act. You may reed and vopy any matetials we file with the SEC of the SEC’s Public Refersnoe Room by calling the SHE at 1-800-732-0330.
The SEBC matntains an Intemet site thet containg reports, proxy and other information statements, and other inforhation regarding issuers, includiag vs, that file
olectronically with the SHC, The address of this site is hitp:/fwww sec.gov,

We also mainiain a website at www tylertoch.com, We make available free of charge throngh this sile aur Anoual Report on Form 10-K, Quartetly Reports on
Form 10-Q, Farms 4 and 5, Current Repotts on Potm 8K, and emendments o those reports fled or furnished pursuant o Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange
Act as soon a5 reasonably proctivable after we elecironically file such material with, vr Runtsh it o, the SEC. In nddition, copies of our anmual repost will be mady
available, free of charge upen wtitten request.

Our “Code of Buginess Condust and Ethics™ is also available on owr wehsite. We ntend to satisfy the disclosure requirements rogarding amendments (o, or waivers
from, a provision of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such inforimation on eur website,
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ITEM 1A, RISK FACTORS.

An investinent in our commen stock invoives a high degree of risk, Investots evaluating eur company should carefully consider the factors described below and all
ofhier information contafned in this Annual Repart, Any of the following factors could materially harm eur business, operating results, and financial condition.
Additional factors and uncertainties not currently knowi to us o thot we currently consider inpmaterial gould alse harm our business, operating results, and
financial condition. This section should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements and related Notes and Management’s Discussian and Analysis of
Financizl Condition and Results of Operations included in this Armuel Repott. We may make ferward-looking statements from time to time, both writen and oral.
We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revisions to these forward-looking statements. Our actual resulis may differ nsaterielly
from those projected i any such forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, including those set forth below and elsewhers in this Annual Report.

Risks Assoctated with Our Software Products
Cyber-aitacks and security vilnerabilities can disrupt our business and harta onr compeiftive position,

Threats to 11" security cen take & varisty of forms. Individuals and groups of hackers, and sophisticated organizations including state-spensored organizations, may
take steps that pose threats to our clients and our IT. They may develop and deploy malicious software (o aftuck our produets and serviooes and gain access to cur
networlks and data centers, or act in a cocrdinated manser to launch distefbuted denial of service or otfier coordinated attacles. Cyber threats are constantly evolving,
thereby increasing the difficully of detecting and successfully defending against them. Cyber threats can have cascading impacts that unfold with increasing speed
across our infernal networks and systems and those of our portners and clients, Breaches of our network or data securify could disrupt the sectrity of ear internal
systems nnd business applications, impait our ability to provide services to our elients and protest the privacy of their data, result in produet development delays,.
compromise confidential or technica! business informatien hatming our competitive pogition, result in theft or misuse of our intellectual property or other assets,
requite us to allocaie more resources to improve technologies, or otherwige adversely affect our business. Our business policies and intemal security contrels may
not keep pace with these evelving threats,

We may not be able to fully protect client information from seourily bregehtes.

As we contine o grow the nmmber and scale of our cloud-based offerings, we store and process mereasingly large mmounts of personally identifiable and other
confidential information of our clients. The continued oocurrence of high-profile data breaches provides evidence of an external environment increasingly hogtile
1o infornation security. Despite ow efforis to improve security controls, it is pessible our security controls over personal data, our training of employees on data
sesutity, and other practices we follow may not provent tlie improper disclasure of client data that we stere and menage. Impreper diselosure could ham our
reputation, lead to legal exposure to clients, or subject va to liability wnder laws that protect personal data, resulting in increased costs or loss of revenue,

Hosting seivices for some of pur products are dependent upon the wninterripied operation of deuta eenters,

A material poriion of our business is provided throngh software hosting sexvioes. These hosting services depend on the uninterrupted opetation of data centers and
the ability to pratect computer equipment and information stored i1 these data centers against damage that may be caused by natural disaster, fice, power loss,
telecommunications or Internet failure, acts of terrorism, vnauthorized inteusion, somputer virnses, snd ofher similar damaging events, If any ¢f our data conters
wete to become inoperable for an extended period, we might be unable to fulfill our contractual commivnents, Although we take what we believe to be reasonable
procantions against such oconrrences, we can give no assuranse that damaging events such as these will net result in a prolonged intettuption of our services,
which could result in client dissatisfaction, loss of revenue, and danage to our businoss.

We run e risk of errors or defects with new producis or enhancenients lo existing products.

Our software products are complex and may contain crsors or defeels, espsoially when first infroduced or when new versions or enhancements are released.
Although we have not expetienced material adverss effects from any such defeots or errors to dats, we connot assure you that material defects and errars will not
be found in the fatrs. Any such. defects could result in u loss of vevenues or delay market acceptance. Our license agreements typically contain provisions
designad fo Timit our exposure o potential lability. Fowever, it is possible we may not always successfilly negotiate such provisions in our clienl contracts of the
limitation of liability provisions may nof be effective duc to existing or fulure fedetal, state, or local Taws, ordinances, or judicial decisions. Although we maiatein
errors and omisslons amd general Uability insurance, and we fry to structura conlracts to limit liability, we cannot assure you that a suceessfil claim could not be
made o would not have a maierial adverse effett on our future operating results,
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We must tmely respond fo technological changes fo bz compeiitive,

The market fox our products is characterized by technelogical change, evolving industsy standards in software technology, changes in client requiremeants, and
frequent new produet introductions and enhancements, The introdaction of products smbodying new technologies and the emergencs of new iadustry standards
van render existing produsts obsolete and unmatketable, As a result, our future success will depend, in part, upon our gbility to enhance existing products and
develap and inlroduce new products that kesp pace with technological developrments, satisfy inoteasingly sophisticated client requirements, and nchieve market
yeceplance. We cannol assute you that ws will successfully identify nsw preduet opportunities and develop and bring new products to market in & timely and cost-
effiective manner, The products, capabilities, ot technologies developed by cthers conid also render our products or technologies obsolete or noncompetitive, Our
business may be adversely affected if wo are unable to develop or acguire new software prochucts or develop enbimgements 1o existing products on a timely and
cost-effective basis, or if such new produsts or enhancements do not achieve market acceptance.

We may be unable to protect our proprieiary vights.

Many of our product and serviee offerings incorporate proprietary infermation, trade secrets, know-how, and other intellectunl property rights, Werely ona
combination of cortirncts, copyrights, and irade secret laws 1o establish and protect our propristary rights in our technology. We cannot be certain that we have
takeq all appropriste sieps to deter misappropriation of our intellectual propexty. There has also boen significant litigation recently invelving intellectual property
rights, We are nof currently involved in any matetial intellectual property litigation; however, we may be a party to such litigation in the future to protect our
proprietary information, frade seerets, know-how, and cthet infelleetual property rights, We cennot assure you thai third-parties will not assert infringement or
misappropriation claits against uy with respect to current or futire products, Any claims or litigation, with or without metit, could be time~conguming, costly, aud
a diversion fo management. Any such claims and litigation could also cause product shipment delays or require 1 fo enter into royalty or licensing arrangements,
Such royalty or livensing atrangemens, if required, may not be available on terms seceptable to va, if at all, Therefore, litigation to defend and enforoe our
intellsctual property rights could have a material adverse sffect on our business, regardless of the final eutcome of such litigation.

Clients may elect to lerminale our maintenance contracts and mandge operations titernally.

It is possible that our elients may eloct to not renew maintenance contrasts for our saftware, frying instead to maintain and operate the sofiware themselves using
their perpetual Heense rights (exchuding software applicaticns that we provide on a hosted o clowd basis). Thiz could adversely affect our revenues and profits,
Additionally, they may inadvertently ailow our intelleotusl property or other information to fall into the hands of third-parties, including our compeitors, which
could adversely affect our business,

Merterial portions of our business requive the Inierned infrasitucture io be further developed or adequately mainiaited,

Part of our future success depends on the use of the Internet as a means fo access public information and perform transactions electronically, including, for
example, clectronic filing of court documents, This in part requires the further development and maintengnce of the Internet nfrastrocture, Among other things,
this furfher developruont and maintenance will require a reliable network backbone with the necessary speed, data capaeity, security, and timely development of
complemertary products for providing reliable Internet access and services, If {lzis infrastructure fails to be further developed or be adequately maintained, our
bustness would be barmed because users may not be able fo nccess our goverment portals.

Risks Associuted with Selling Products aud Services lieto the Public Sector Murkeiplace

Selling products and services info the publle sector poses upique challenges.

We derive substantially all of our révenues from sales of software and services to state, county, and cily povernments, other municipal egencizs, and other public
entities, We expeot that sales 1o public sector elients will conlinue fo account for substantiatly all of our revenues in the futare. 'We face many risks and chatlenges
assoeiated with confracting with governmental entitigs, including

+  Resource limitations camsed by budgelary constraints, which may provide for a termination of executed contracts due to a lack of future finding

»  Long and complex sales oycles

»  Contract payments at times being subject to achieving implementation milestones, and we may have differences with elients as to whether milestanes have
been achieved
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. Political resistance to the concept of contracting with third-perties to provide IT solutions

+  Legislative chenges affecting a focal governmeny’s anthority to contract with thivd-parties

+ Varying bd procedures and internal processes for bid avceptanse

+ Varlous other political factors, inciuding changes in governmental administrations and personnel

Each of thiese risks 1s onlside cur control. If we fail to adequately adapf to these risks and vncertainties, our financial performance could be adversely affected,
A prolonged econamic slowdown conld fatm our operations.

A prolonged econemic slowdown o racession could reduce demand for our software produets and services. Local and state governments may face financiel
pressutes that covld in turn affeet our growth rate and profitability in the future. There is no assurance that local and stafe spending fevels will be unaffacted by
declining or staghant general sconornic conditions, and if budgel shortfalls ocour, they may negatively impact local and state IT spending and could adversely
atfect our business.

A deciine in the deiand for IT may vesult in a decrease jn our reVenies or lower our growth rate.

A decline in fhe demand for IT among our corrent and prospective clients tiay result in decreased reventies o a lower growth rate because our sales depend, in

part, on o clients’ level of funding for new or additional 1T systems and geevices. Moreover, demand for sur solutions may be redueed by a decline in overall
demand for computer softwate and services, We cimnot assure you that we will be ahle to increage or maintain our reVenues.

The open bidding process cregies unceriainty i predicting futtire contraci AWards,

Many governmental ageticies purchase products and services through an open bidding process. Generelly, a governmental entity will publish an sstablished Jist of
requirements requesting potential venidors to propose solutions for the esiablished requirements. To respond succeasfully to these requests for proposals, we must
acourately estimate vur cost strueture for servicing 4 propesed contrnet, the lime required to estublish operations for the proposed client, and the likely terms of any
other third-party preposals qubmitied. We cannot guatantse thet we will win aty bids in the future through the request for proposal process, ot that amy winning
bids will ultimately result in conttects on favorable terms, Qur failure to secure contradts through the open bidding process, oF to secure such coniracts on Tavorable
terms, may adversely affecl our revenue and gross margins., ‘

We face significant competition Jroim othsr vendors eandd poteniial new erifrants fiito our markefs,

We belleve we are a leading provider of integraled selutions for the public sector, Towevet, we fgce competition from a variety of software vendors that offer
producis anl services similar to those offered by us, as well as from companies offering to develop cusiom sofiware, We compete based on 2 numbsr of factors,
including

+  'Ihe stiractiveness of gur “evergreen” business strategy

«  The breadth, depth, and quality of our produet and service offerings

«  The ability to medify our offerings to accommeodate particular clienis’ needs

+  Technological itnovation

«  Name tecoghition

+  Drice

«  Ou financial strength and stability

We believe the market is highly frrgmenited with a large number of compeiitors that vary in size, preduct platform, and product scope. Our competitors include
consulting fitms, publiely held companles thal focus on selected segments of the public sector market, and a significant nomber of smaller, privately held
companies. Ceetain competitors have greater technical, marketing, end finsncizl rescurces than we do, We cannot gysure you that such competitors will nat develop

products or offer services that are supetlor to oz products or services or that achieve greater market aceeptance.
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We also compets with internal, centralized IT departments of gavernmenial entitics, which requires us.fo persuade the end-user to stop the internal service and
outsource te us. In addition, our elients and prospective clients could elect to provide information management services internally threugh new or existing
departments, which could reduce the market for our serviees,

We could face additionsl competition as cther esiablished and emsrging companies enter the public sector software application market and new produets and
technologies are inroduced, Increased competition could result in pricing pressure, fewer cHent orders, recluced gross margins, and loss of market share, Current
and potential competitors may make strategic acquisitions or establish ccoperative ral stionships among themaetves or with third-parties, thercby inerensing the
ability of their products to address the needs of owr progpective elients. It is possible that new competitors or alliances may emorge and rapidly gain significant
market share, We cannet gssure you that we will be able fo compete successfully agaist current and fubure competitors, and the failure to do so would have a
material adverse effect upon our business,

Fized-price contracts may affect aur profits,

Some of our contracts are on a fixed-priced basis, which can lead to various risks, including

+  The failure to accurstely estimate (he resources and time required for an engagement

+ The failure to effectively manage cur clients’ expectations regarding the scope of services delivered for a fixed foo

v The failure to timely and satisfactorily complete fixed-price engagements within budget

Ifwe do not adequately assess these and other risks, we may be subject to cost overruns and penalties, which may hanm our financial performance.

Changes in the inswrance markels may affect our business.,

Some of our clfents, primarily those for pur property appraisal services, require that we sscure performance bonds before they will select us as their vender. In
addition, we have in the past heen required to provide letters of eredit as security for the issuance of 2 performance bond. We cannot guataniee that we will be able
to seoure such performance bonds in the future on terms that are favorable to us, if at all. Our inability to obtain performance bonds on favorable fetms ot at al)
could impact our future ability to win svms contract awards, particularly large property appraisal gervices coniracts, which could negatively impact revenues, In
addition, the general insurance markets may experience volatility, which may lead te fumre increases in our general and administrative expenses and negatively
impact vue operating resulis.

Risks Assoclated with Our Periodic Rasulis and Stock Price

Saftware revenue recognition rules may requfie us fo delay revenye recognition inte futare periods.

We have [n the past had to, and may in the future be required to, defer revenue reoognition for goftware license foes due to several fhctors, including

+  License agreements include applications that ars under developiment or other undelivered cloments

s+ Client contracts require the delivery of services considered essential to the fanctionglity of the software, ineluding significent modifications, customization, or

complex interfaces, that could deluy product delivery of acceplance
«  The transaction involves customer acceptancs eriteria with a right to refund
s+ The fransaction involves contingent payment terns or fees
+ Wo are requited to accept & fixed-fee services contract
+  We are required io provide extended pgyment terms
Because of these Tactors and other specific requirements for software reverme reeognition under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, we
st bave very precise forms in our contracts to recognize revenus wpon the delivery aud installation of our software or performance of services. Negotiation ef
mulually soceptable terms and condijtions may extend the sales eycle. We are ot always able to negotiate terms and conditions that permil revenue recegaition at

the time of delivery or gven upon project completion.
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Fluctuations in guarterly revenue eould adversely impact oyr aperating resulls and stock price,

Our revenues and operating tesults are difficult to prediot and may fluctuate substantintly from quarter to quarter for a variety of reasons, including the following
s+ Prospective ciients’ contracting decisions are often made in the last few weeks of a quarter

+  The size of license iransactions can vary significantly

+ Clicnts may unexpectedly postponc or cancel precurement processes due to changes in sirategie priorities, project objectives, budget, er petsonnsl ;

+  Cliont purchasing processes vary significantly and 4 clieni’s internal approval, expenditure suthorfzation, and coniract nogotiation processes con be difficult
an time consuming to complete, even after selection of & vendor

+  The number, timing, and significance of software product enhancements and new sofiware product announcements by vs and ouy competitors may affect
purchase decisiong

+  Wemay have to defer reveiues under our revenue recognition policies

+  Clients tay eleet subscription-based arrangements, which result in lower software lHoense revenges in the initial year as compared to traditional, on-preeise
software lcense arrangements, but generate highet overall subseription-based ravenues over the term of the contract

In each fiscal quarter, our expense levels, operating costs, and hiring plans are based {o some extent on projections of fulure revenues and are relatively fixed, 1f
our actual revenues fall below expectations, we could experience a reduction in operating results. Alse, if actual revenues or eatnings for any given quarter fall
below expectations, it may lead to  decline in our stock price.

Increases in service revenue ay a percentage of loial revenues could decrease overall murgins.

We realize lower margins on software and sppraisal servies rovenucs than on Heense revenue, The majority of our contracts include both soflwate licensas and
software services, Therafore, an increase in the percentage of software service and appraisal service revenue compared to license revenue could have 2 defrimental
Imypzet on our overall gross marging and could adversely affect operating results.

Qur stock price may be volatile,

The: iarket price of our commeon stock may bs volatile. Examples of factors that may significantly impact our stock prioe ihclude

» Actoal or anlicipated fluctuations in eur operating results

+  Announcements of technological innovations, new produets, or new contrasts by us or our competitors

»  Developmonts with respact to patents, copyrights, or other proprietary rights
»  {Conditions and trends in the software and oiher techiology industries

s Adoption of new accounting standards rffecting the sofiware industry,

+  (Changes in financial estimates by securitics analysts

+  (eneral market conditions and other factors

Tn addition, the stock market has from time o time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations thet have particularly affected the markot prices of |
technology company stocks and may in the foture adversely affect the markst price of cur stock. Sometimes, seouritics class action ltigation is filed following

periods of volatility in the merket price of » partietlar company’s securities. We cannot assure you shat similar litigation will net oceur in the future with respeat {o

vs. Such litigation conld result in subsfantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could have s material adverse effect upon our

financial performance,
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Financlal Ouilock

TFrom time to time, in pregs releases and otherwise, we may publish forecasts or other forward-looking statements regarding our reslis, jneluding esthuated
revenues or earnings, Any forecast of our futurs performance reflects various assumpticns. These assumptions are subject to significant uneertaintles, and as 8
matter of course, any mwnber of fhemn may prove to be incorrect. Further, the achievement of any forecast depends on numeraus risks snd other factors (including
those deserlbed in fhis discussion), many of which are beyond our contrel. As a result, we parnot be cortain that our performence will be consisient with any
management forecasts or that the variation from such forecasts will not bo maierial and advetse, Current and potential stockholders ave caniioned not to base their
entire analysis of our business and prospects upon isulaled predictions, but instead are encouraged to ulilize our cntire publicly availsble mix of historicel and
forward-locking information, as well as other available Informetion regarding us, our produets and gervices, and the software industry when syalualing our
prospeotive rosnlts of operations.

Risks Associated with Ouy Growth Strategy and Gther General Corporale Risks
We may experiencs difficultles in execuling o' gequisition siralegy.

A matetial portion of our historical grewth has res ulted from siralegic acquisitions. Although our focus is on internal growth, we will coniinte to identify and
pursue strategic aequisitions with suitable candidates. These transactions involve significant ohallenges and risks, including the transaction does not advance our
business strategy, we get no satisfactory return ofi our invesiment, we have difticulty integrating busisiess systems md technology, we have ditficulty retaining et
integrating new employees, the transactions distract management from eur ofher businesses, we acquire trforeseen liabilities, and other uhanticipated events, Our
future success will depend, fn part, ol our sbility to suoocessfully integrate future acquisitions into our operations. It may take longer then expected to realize the
full benefits of these transactions, such as increased revenue, enbanced officiencies, or incraased market share, or the benefits may be vltimately smaller than we
expected. Although we conduet due diligence reviews of potential acquisition candidates, we may not identify all material liabilities or risks related to sequisition
candidates. There cah be no assurance hat any such sirategic acquisitions will be accomplished on favorable terms or will result in profitable operaticns,

Our faiture ta properly manage growih vonld adversely ajfect our busingss,

We have expanded our operations sigifican fly sinec 1998, when we entered the business of providing software solutions and services to the public secter. We
intend to centinue expangion in the foraseeable futurs to pussue exsting and potential markst opportunitics. This prowth places a significant dem end on
management and operational resources, Tn order to manage growth effectively, we must mplement and improve our operational systems, procedures, and controls
on a timely basis, Ifwe fail o implement these sysiems, our buginess may he materially adverscly affocted.

We may be wnable to hire, tnfegrate, and reiain gialified personnel,

Our confinued sucooss will depend upon the svailability and performance of pur key management, sales, marketing, client suppert, and product development
personnel, The loss of ey management or technical personnel could edversely affect us. We beliove that our continved success will depend in large pat upan our
ability to altraet, indegrate, and retaln such personnel. We have af times experienced and continue o experisnce difficulty in recruiting qualified

personpel, Competition for qualified software development, sales, and other personnel is intense, and we cannot assure you tht we will be suceessful in aitracting
and tetaining sueh personnel.

Comptianee with changing regulation of corporaie Fovernanse may result in additional expenses.,

Chenging laws, regulations, and stendards reluking 1o corporate governance and public disclosure can create uncertainty for pubfic companies. The osts required to
comply with such evelving laws are difficult to predict. To maintain high standerds ol corporate governance and public disclosure, we intenud to invest all
reagonably neeessaty tesourees to cemply with evolving standards. This invesiment may result in an unforeseen increase in general and adminisirative expenses
abd o diversion of managements time and atention from revenuz~gensrating activities, which may harm our operating results,

We dan't foreree paying dividends on our cotimnoit $ock,

We have not declared or paid a cash dividend since we enterad the buginess of providing software solutions and services to the public sector in 1998, We intend to
retain earnivgs for use In the operation and expansion of cur business. We do not anticipate paying any cesh dividends on oty commen stock in the Toresceable

fiture,
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Provisions in owr certificate of incarporation, bylaws, and Delaware law could deter iakeover afientpfs.

Cur board of directors may issue up 1o 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock and may determine the price, rights, preferences, privileges, and restrictions, jncluding
voting and corversion rights, of these preferzed shares. These determinations may be made witheut any furiher vete or action by owr stockholders. The rights of
the Tiolders of our comnmon stock will be subject ta, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of any prefeered stoek that may be isgued in the
fiture. The issuatce of preferred stock may meke it more diffioult for & third-party to sequire s majority of our outstanding voting steck. In addition, some

provisions of our Certificate of Tnoorporation, Bylaws, and (he Delaware General Cosporation Law could also defay, prevent, of make mors difficult a merger,
tender offer, or proxy contest involving us.

TTEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

Not applicable.

ITEM 2, PROPERTIES.

We oconpy approximately 890,000 squere foet of office space, of which approximately 609,000 square feet iz in office facilities we own, We own or lease offices
for out major operations in Avizona, Colorado, Georgla, lowa, Maine, Michigan, Montana, New York, Ohio, Texas and Washington.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCBEDINGS.

Other than routine litigation incidental to-our business, there are no material iegal proceedings pending to which we are party ot 1o which any ¢f ous properties are
subject,

TTEM 4, SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS,

Mot applicable,

17




FARTII

ITEM. 3, MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTHRS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES.

Our cornmon stock is traded on the New York Stock Fxchange under fhe symbel “TYL” At December 31, 2016., we had approximately 1 492 stockholders of
recard. Most of our stockholders held their shares in street name; therefore, thers are substantially more than 1,492 beneficial owners of our comman stock.

The following table shows, for the cal endar petieds indicaled, the high and low sales price per share of cur commeon stock oa teporied on the New York Stock
Hxchange.

) ) ) ) High ] Low

Ao1s; it Qarter” - . R ST - F7 I 1018
Second Quarter 133.54 118.05

 Phifrd Quarter e Co sl 1298

Toutth Ql:tirter ’ ' 184.01 150.00

2016 First Quaster 5 17250 118.16
o fggondQuater . . o LT FEE A Coe s T S 1egdy. L 12670
Third Quarter | _ 17577 159.24

Foulth Quarier I S A L RN - Thade ‘ 13061 |

2017 =.'-First.‘(fmﬁrtw.(Qtl'ﬂfaqghﬁabrnafy"m,i’fﬁ]:?) S o 166868 14255

We did not puy any cash dividends in 2016 or 2015, Cur bank credit agreement eontains restrictions on the payment of cash dividends, We intend to retoin
samings for use in the operaiion and expansion of our business, and, therefore, we do noi anticipate declaring a cash dividend in the fores eeable futute.

The following table summarizes certain information related to our stock option plan and cur employee stoel purchase plan. ‘There ore no warranis of rights related
to our equity compensation plans as of Desember 31, 2016 .

Nunsber of gesurities remeibing
avsilable Toy

Mumber of seevrtics fo fiiure issuance whder
be issued upon exetelse Weighted average equity compensation
of outslanding aptions, exercise priee of outsteading plans (exelnding seemities
warrants and rights as of opfions, reflected in initlal column
] December 31, 2016 warrants and rights a5 of December 31, 2016)
Hquity cempensation plans
approved by security
shareholders:
sdeoptanglas L i T sissA ¥ 0 BB o RSN
Bmployee stock purchase plan 13,592 121.33 846,727
Rguity onpénsation plansior e T . - e
- approved by seoifity - - R R R R -
Cooheiders e e e LT T Sl T
5,169,029 % 83.74 3,749,705

1%
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As of Decenber 31, 2016 , we had authorization to repurchase tp 1o 2.0 million ndditional shares of Tyler commen stoek, During 2016, we purchaged

approximately 882,000 shates of our comon stock for an nggregate purcha
follows:

sa price of $112.7 million . A symmary pf the repurchase activity during 2016 is as

Maxirmum
Additional number of shares
number of shares that may be
Total number of  authorized that Average reputchased
shares may be price paid under cuirent
Period repurchased repurchased per share authorization
“[hired tuoithg eirded March 31 _ TR Y 1245 ‘ 643,000
Additional antherization by the board of directors — 1,500,000 — 2,143,000
Phyed montis dhded Jins 30 - - e s e 245,000
Three months ended Septemnber 30 — — —_ 2,143,000
Oreobér 1 iiough Duteber 31 - e — = B.103,000
Nevember 1 through Noyember 30 37,000 — 149.53 2,106,000
Devenibey 1 through December 31 U800 e L2 - 3018000
282,000 1,500,000 § 127795

The repurchase program, which was approved by our board of directors, was announced in Qctober 2002 and was amended at various times from 2003 through
2016. There is no expiration date speoifisd for the authorization, and we Intend fo tepurchase stock under the plan from time to fime.

Subsequent to Decentber 31, 2016 and through Febraary 21, 2017, we purehased approximately 42,000 shares of our common stock for an aggregate cash purchese

price of $6.2 million .
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Performance Geaph

The following Performaiice Graph and velated information shall not be deamed “soliciing material” or o ba “filed” with the Sgcuriiles and Exchange
Camtmisslon, nor shafl such information be incorporated by reference into any fiiture iing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securitles Exchange Act of 1934,
cach s amendad, except fo the exteni that we specifically incorporaie It by referance inio swch Siling,

The following table compares tofal sharsholder returns for Tyler over the last five years 10 the Standard and Poer’s 500 Stock Index and the Siandard and Pocr's
600 Information Technology Index assuming 100 investment made on December 31, 2011. Each of the three measures of cumulative total return agsumes
refnvestiment of dividends. The stock performance shown ots the graph below is not necessatily indicative of future price porformance.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN
£600
P
FH0E HM""‘\M
3 &
G400
o
B30 / )
20 s o PSS m-ffﬁ‘mﬁ?w\vwmwwﬁgﬁnwdw H
”ﬁ—w“"‘;a—f ] - oyt
_‘Mvw*’j’ MW'MF'\%”M‘- !
GO Fpemtiememmn BT : » |
40 T S— oy . P
1203174 1201 VHALED 1A 1283115 {2306
g Toder Teelmotngios, T mewds 98 300 Srock Inclex
st s SBFELO Informamtion 1‘qclatat<;g§‘ Tiuchex
Company f Index 1231711 12/3112 12/31/13 12/31/14 1231415 12431416
Tyter Techietogies, e, - . o0 T GRS - - - 33909, o 383 IR S
S&D 500 Stock Index 100 116.00 153.57 174,60 179.01 198.18
KP $00 Istomination Technology index . - S S VEA - 162 a8l o 19RAR . 25761,
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA,

{In thousands, exeept per share data)

FOR THE YBARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2016 2015 (b) 2014 2013 2012
STATEMENT OF OFERATIONS DATA: , o A T T
Revenues | § 756043 § 591,022 § 493101 § 416643 & 363,304
Gostondexpenssss : o o L

Cost of revenues 400,692 313,835 259,730 223,440 195,602
. Selifng, géner:z"d:mﬁ‘ﬁﬂlﬁiﬁ'istra'ti\feEfx_pi%ns;e& A 167,161 . B EEE: B 10‘&526‘6 B 31 sy08

Research and ﬂeve]:)pment eNpense 43,154 20,922 25,743 23,269 » 20,140
 Ambrtizgtion of wystoinel ad trade nusne irfangiles sy o $908 o ASS R . 13
Operating income 131,305 106,043 94,822 67,128 56,577
Oither {ekpenses) iwostue, el N ¢F - AR TRT... DU ..c) ) g0y . - @BT05)
Income before ingome taxes 129,307 los424 94,467 65,819 53,865
Troonts tox provisioh 1)~ ‘ S doash - ABSES Casspr. TR RN
Net income 109,857 64,869 58,940 19,101 32,004
Net carninigs pordituted dhere - 0 % o imeo g - ancs o les 3 L ), . Lo,
Weighted average diluted shares {a) 18,961 36,552 35,401 32,916
STATEMENT OF CASHRLOWS DATA: - S IR
Cash fiows provided by aperating activities {a) $  olgsy § 134327 § 142,839 § Ce4297 § 67432
t‘::n'sﬁlsﬁéws.u’s:éd:hy'imfestingmﬂviti-es T 30y (3e8488) . 1158 (25.658) {34, Ti6y
Cash flows (used) provided by Tisancing setivities (2) (138,075) 91,052 (3,99%) 3831 (271.616)
BALANCE SHEET DATA! ‘ o L o
Total asscls § 1357945 & 1356570 §  S6R812 5 444488 § 338,666
RevalvingWseofwredt - - - 0 L W06 - GERIT . = et 18,000
Shareholders’ cquity - 915,525 R58,457 336,973 246,319 145,200

{ay During 2816, we adopted Accounting Standarils Update ("ASU") No, 2016-09 "Improvements to Employee Shave-Based Paymont Accounting” requiring the
recopnition of excess tax benefits or tax deficiencies as a component of income tax expense; these hepefits or deficiencies wore historically tecognized in squity.
‘As the standard veguires a progpective method of adoption, cur net income in 2016 includes o $29.6 million income tax benefit due to the edoption fhat did not
seent in the compatable periods presented above. In addition, the ASU updates the method of salertating diluted shaves resulting ip. the inelusion of 519,000
additional shares in onr diled camings per share caleutation that is not compareble i the other periods presented, Refer to Note 1 "Summary of Significant
Accommting Policies” for further discussion of this new aceounting siandard.

The adeption of ASU No. 2016-09 wlso requires excess tax benefits, previousty presented ag fnancing activitics, to be classificd s operating activities. As
retrospective ndoption for this component of the standasd is allowable, we have adinsied all periods presented above to reflect this change in classiflcation .

(b) On Novembet 16, 2015, we completed the acquisition of New World Systems Corporation ("NWS"), Operating vesulis for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2015, include $5.9 million for fnancial advisory, legal, accounting, dve diligenae, valuation and other expenses necessary lo complete the NW3S
acquisition as well a5 $3.5 million amontization axpense related to NWS acquisition intangibles.
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ITEM 7. MANAGBMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document contains “ferward-looking statements™ within {he meaning of Section 27A of the Secnrities Aot of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 that are not hisiotical in nature and typically address future of anticipated evenls, trends, expectations or beliefs with respeet fo otr financial condition,
results of operations or business. Forward-looking staiements oflen contain words such zs “belicves,” “expects,” “antisipates,” “lorcaees,” “forengsts,” “estimates,”
“plans,” “intends,” “continues,” “may,” “will,” “siould,” “projects,” “might,” “could” or other slmilar words or phrases. Similatly, statements that describe out
business stratepy, outlook, objectives, plans, infentions or goals also are fotward-locking stetenients. We believe there is a reasonabie bagis for cur forward-looking
siolements, but they are inherently subject to visks and uaceriainties and aetval results could differ materially from the expectations and beliefs reflected in the
forward-looking staterents, We presently consider the following to be among the imporfant factors fhat could cause actual Tesults to differ meterially from our
expectations and betlefs: (1) changes in the budgets or regulatory environmenls of our elients, primarily losal and state governments, that could negatively impact
information technology spending; (2) our ability to protect client information from securly breaches and provide unintetrupted operations of data centers; (3) our
ability to achieve growth ot operational sypergies tarough the integtation of acquired businesscs, wiiile avoiding unanticipated costs and dispuptions to existing
operations; (4) material portions of our buginess require the Ingernet infrastructure o be adequately maintained; (5) our ability to achicve our financial forecasts due
to vigious Tactors, ineluding project delays by our olients, reductions In transaction slze, fower transactions, delays in delivery of new products or releases of &
decline in out renewal rates for service agreements; (6) general economie, politieal and market onditions; (7) technological and market risks associated with the
development of new preducts or services or of new vetsions of existing or aequired pro ducis or services; (8) competition in the industry in which we conduct
business and the impact of competition on pticing, client retention and pressure for new products or gervices; (9) the ability to aliract and retai qualified personpel
and dealing with the loss or retirement of key members of management or other key personnel; and (16) costs of complinnce and any fajtare to comply with
government and stock exchange regulations, A detailed discussion of these factors and other risks that affect pur business are desoribed in liem JA, “Risk Faclors,”
We expressly digclaim any abligation 1o publicly update or revise our forward-looking statements.

QVERVIEW
General

We provide integratod information mena gement solutions and services fat the public sector, with a focus en local governments, We develop and markot a broad
lire of software products and services lo adelreas the TT needs of citles, counties, schools and other local government entities. In addition, we provide professional
IT services to our clients, including sofiware snd hardwars installation, data conversion, training and fot certain clients, product moditications, aleng with
continuing matnienance and support for clients using our systems, We also provide subscription-based services such as sofiware as a service (“Saes™), which
utilizes the ‘'yler private clovd, and electronic document filing solutions (“e-filing”), which simplify the filing and managemend of court relatzd decnments,
Revenues for e-Gling are derfvod from transaction fees and In sume cases fixed fee arrangements, Wo sleo provide property appraisal putsourcing services for
taxing jurisdictions.

Our products generally antomaic six major functicnal areas: (1) financiel management and education, (2) courts and justice, (3) public safsly () propetty appraisal

and tax, (3) planning, regulatory and maintenance, and (6) lard and vital records manzgement, We report our results in two segments, The Bnterprise Software

(“E8™) segiment provides municipal and county governmenis and schools with software systems atd services to meet their information techtiology and avtomation
needs for mission-critical “back-pffice” functions such aa: financial management; courty and justice processes; public safety; planning, regulatory and
maintenance; and land and vital records management. The Appraigal and Taz {(*A&T™) segment provides syslems and software that avtomate the appraisal and
asnessment of real and personal propetty a8 well as propetty appraisal oulsourcing services for local governments and {axing authorities. Properly appraigal
outsourcing services include; the physical inspection of commereizl and residential properties; data collection and processing; computer analysis for property
valuation; preparation of tax rolls; community edneaticn; and atbitration between taxpayers and the asgessing jurisdiction,

‘otel organic Tevenues increased 12% n 2016 eompared to 2015

On November 16, 2015, we acquired all of the capital stock of New World Systems Corporation (“NWE"}, which provides public safety and financial solutions for
local governments, The purehase price, net of oush aequired of $22.5 million, was $337.5 million in cash, of wiich $4.0 million was acerued sl Decembet 31,
2015, and 2.1 million shares of Tyler common stock velued at $362.8 million.
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On May 29, 2015, we acquired all of the eapital slock of Brazos Technology Corporetion (“Brazos”), which provides mobile hand held solutions pritarily to law
enforvement agencies for field aceident reporting and electronically issuing sitations. The purchase price, net of cash acquired and including debl assumed, wag
46.1 million in cash and 12,500 shares of Tyler common stock valued at $1.5 million,

The operating resulis of NWS and Brazos e included with: the operating resulis of the Enterprise Software segment since fheir respective dates of acquisition.

We monitor and analyze sevetal key performance indicalors in order to manage our business end evaluate our financial and operating performence, Those
indicators inclnde the following:

Revenmes — We derive our revenues from five primary sources! sale of software licenses and royalties; subscription-based arvangements; software services;
fmaintenance; and appraisal services. Subsoripticns and muintenance are considered rectIring reveius SOUrces and comprised approximately 62% of our
vevenue in 2016 . The number of new SeeS clients and the number of existing ¢lients who convert from out traditional software arrangements to our SealS
model are g gignifioant driver fo our business, together with new software license <ales and maintenance rate increnses. In addition, we also m ohitor our
custormnet base and churn as we histotically have experiences) very low customer Lurhover, Duting 2016 , based on our number of ¢ustome:s, furnover was
approximately 2% .

Cost of Revemues and Gross Margins — Our primary cost comp onent is personnel axpenses in canmection with previding software implementation,
subseripfion-baged services, maintonance and support, and appraisal services to our clients, We cm improve gross margins by corro]ling headoount #nd
related costs and by expancing our revenue base, especially from those preducts and services that produce increinental fevenus with minimal {neremental cost,
such us sofiwars licenses and royalties, subseription-hased services, and maintertance and support, Our appraisal projects are tyokical in naturs, and we ofien
employ appraisal personnel an 2 short-term bagis to ceineide with the life of a project. As of December 31, 2016 , our total employee count inereased to 3,831
from 3,386 at December 31, 2015 .

Sefling, General and Administrative (*SO&A™) Bxpenses — The primary compunents of SG&A expenses are administrative end sales personnel salaties ond
commigsions, share-based coimpensation expense, marketing expense, tent and professional fees, Sales commissions typically fluctoate with ravenues and
ghare~based cotnpensation expense gensrally increases when the smarket price of our stock imoreases. Other administrative cxpenses tend to grovw al a slower
reite than tevenues. 1n 2015, 8G&A expenses include spproximately $5.9 million for Gnancial advisery, legal, accounting, dus diligence, valuation and ofher
vations services necessaty to complete the NWE acquisition.

Liguidity and Cash Flows —The primary driver of aur cash flows i« net Income. Uses of cash include acquisitions, capital investments in property and
equipment and discretionary purchases of treasury stock, Our working capital needs are fairly stable throughout the year with the significant componeals of
cash outflows being payment of persennel expenses offset by cash inflows representing collection of accounts receivable and cash receints from clisnts in
advance of revenue heing carned, In recent years, we have also received significant armounts of cash from employees excreising stock options and contributing
to our Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Balance Sheet — Casl, accounts receivable and days sales oulstanding and deferred revenue balances are important indicators of our business,

New Accounting Pronouncemenis Adopied in 2016

Improvements to Bmployee Share-Based Peysnent Aceoutin g. Tn March 2016, the Financial Accounting Standatds Board { TASB”) {ssued Accounting Standards
Update ("ASU") No. 2016-09, nCompensation-Stoek Compensation (Tapic 718): Improvements to Employce Share-Based Payment Aceounting” which simplifies
several aspecta of the accounting for employce share-basesd payment {ransactions, including the accounting for mcome tases, ferfeitures, and siatulory tax
withhelding requirements, az well as clessification in the statement of cash flows. This standard is effective for our intetim and anual reporting periods begiming

Docember 15, 2016, and eacty adoption is permitied. We clected to ently adopt this standard in fourth quarker of 2016. The impact of the satly adoption wag a3
follows;

«  The standard climinates additional paid in capital ("APIC") pools and requires excess tax benotits and tax deficiencies 1o be recorded in the income
statement as a disorete ftem when the awards vest or are setiled. The adepiion of this guidance on 3 prospeetive basis resulted ity the recognition of excess
fax benefits in our provision for ingome taxes.

¢ The standard requires excess lax benefils to be recognized regordless of whether the berefit reduces taxes payable, The adoption of this guidance is
applied en a modified retrospestive basis; howaver, It did not have an fmpact on sur rafained earnings as of January 1, 2016, as we had previously
recognized alf our exoess fax benefits,
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+ As permitted, we have elected to continue to estimate forfeitures expected to ocour o
recognized i each perlod, As such, the guidanes relating to forfeitures did not have an impa

«  The new puidance changes the caleylation of eommon steck oquivalenis for sarnings per share purposes.

determine the amount of stock-based compensation cost to be
ot on our retained earnings as of fanuary |, 2016,

+  Aspermilted, we elocted to apply the statement of cash flows guidance that cash flows related 1o excess tax benefits be presented as an operating activity

tetrospectively,

Adoption of the new standard resuited in the recognition of excess tax benefits In our provision
ended December 31, 2016, As of December 31, 2016, the change in the calew
shares for the diluted earnings per shars caleulations, The impact to our previously rep

{ation of comimon s

Three Months Baded
March 31, 2016

Three Moenths Ended

June 3G, 2016

for incoms taxes rather fhan APIC of $29.6 million for the perlod
tock equivalents added spproximately 515,000 weighted everage
crted quarterly resulis for fisoal year 2016 ie as follows:

Thres Months Ended
September 30, 2016

(i thousands, sxoept Per Khard shsounts) .

_AdReported A Adfistod

" AsRapord, Ay Adieid

" AsRepored AsAdinted

Triciome statetients: .
Income tax provision 5

- Metineoms | 0 . . .
Pasic earnings per common share B

" Diied snniipsper vommon e kR

Diluted weighted average common shares
outstanding

Statément of (;ash flows;
N} eah provided by operaidag activities =
Mot eash (used) provided by tinancing activities  $

10,495
A
0.47
4

38,557

10270,

(15,860)

¥
$

$§254

9,550

0,50
047

35,071

S ALEL 8

(16911) $

Presentation of Finapcial Statements - Going Concern, 10 Angust 2014, the FASB

(Subtopic 205-40); Disclosure of Uncorlaintics abowt on Datity’s Ability to Continus as 2 Going
are conditions or events, in the ageregate, that raise subsiantial doulit about the entily’s &

11,323

0.52

38,196

1337
5,668

PELN

8

%

5,188

0.69

- 08

38,738

10,320

25

]
§
¥

LS

R

14,155

.61
.38

38,506

{77,973}

$

$

089
15,490
.97
3,91

39,062

013
(99,003)

tssuad ASU No. 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Stetements - Going Cancern
Caneern. The guidance teguires an entity o evaluate whether there

bility 10 continue as a going concern within ong year after {

he date that the

finsnelal statements arc issued (or within one yeat nfier the financial statements are available to be issued when apphicable) and to provide related fostnote
for the annual petiod ending afler December 15, 2016, and for annual and interim periods thereafler.
We ndopted this standard in the fourth quarter £ 2016 end jts adoption did not bave an impact on ouy consolidated financial statements,

daclosures in certain eiroumstances, The. guidance is effective
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TRecent decounting Guidance not yei Adopted

Revenme from Contracts with Customers . On May 28, 2014, FASE issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contraets with Cugtomers.” This ASU is the result
of o convetgence project between the FASE and the Tnternational Aceounting Standards Board, The eere prineiple behind ASU No. 2014-09 14 that an entity
should recognize revenue o depict the wansfer of promised goods and services fo cusiomers i an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entily expects
to be entitled in exchange for delivering those goods and gorvices. This model itivolves a five-step process that includes identifying the eontract with the customer,
identifying the perfermancs obligations in the contrast, determining the transaction price, altocating the transaction price to the performance obligations in the
conftact and recognizing revenue when (or as) the entity satisfles the porfornunce obligations. The AST allows two methods of adoption: a fill retrospective
spproach where three years of finaneda! information are presented in nccordance with the new standard, and a modified retrospective approach where the ASU is
applied to the most current period presented i the financial statements, We curently antieipate adopting the standard using the full retrospective method lo restate
each prior reporting petiod prosented. Our gbility to adopt using the full retraspective method is dependent on system readiness, including soflware pro cured from
third-party providers, and the completion of our analysis of information necessary to restote prior period financial statements.

The new standard requires application o fater than ennual repotting periods beginning affer December 15, 2017, including imterim reporting petiods therein;
howaver, public entiiies are permitted to elect to carly adops the new standard, We are assessing the financial impact of adopling the new slandatd and the mathods
of adoption; however, we aie surrently unable to provids a reasonable estimate regarding the financial impact. We will adopt the new standard in fiseal yoar 20 18.

We anticipate this standard wilt have a material fmpact on our consolidated financial staternents. While we ate contiauing to assess all potential impacts of the
standard, we cutrenily belisve the most significant impact relates to our accounting For software license fees, install ation fees, and incremental cost of obiaining a
contract. Specifically, under the new standard we expect software license fees under perpetual agreements will no longes be subject to 160% discount aliccetions
from otiier elements in the gontract, Discounts in artangements will be ellocatad neress all deliverables increasing license revenues and decrensing revenuss
allocated to other performance obligations. In addition, in most cases, net Hoenss faes (total license fees less any allo cated discounts) will be recognized at the
point in time that control of the softwars license transfers to the customer versus our curtent policy of recognizing revenue only to the extent billable per tite
contraciual terms, Time-based license foes currently racognized over the license ierm will no Jonger be recoghized over the period of the license and will instead be
recognized at the point in time thai contro] of the softwrare license transfers to the customer, Instellation fees will no longer be considered distinct performance
pbligations and therefore will be recognized over the term of the arrangement or life of the parformance obligation. We expact revenue related to our Saal
offerings. ind professionsl services to remain substantially unchanged. Dire to the complexity of certain contracts, the actual revenue recognition reatinent requ ired
nder {he standard will be dependent on conttact-specific texms and may vary in some Instances from recognition at the time of billing, Application of the new
standard requires that incremental costs direcily rolated to ebtaining o contract (zypically sales commissions plus atty associated fringe benefits) mwst be recognized
a8 an asset and expenscd over the expeeted Jife of the asrangement, unless that 1ifs s less than one year. Cutrently, we defer sales commissions and recognize
pxpense over the relevant initial confractuel term. With the adoption the new standard, we expect amortization periods to cxtend past the initial tern.

Lonses. On Febroary 25, 2016, the FASD issued its new leage accounting guidanee in ASU No, 2016-02, “Teases {Topic 842),” Under the new guidance, lessess
will be required te recognize the following for all leasss {with ihe exception of sheri-torm leases) at the commencement dale;

+  Alease liability, which is 2 lessee’s ubligation to meake lease pryments arising frein a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and
+ Aright-ofiuse asset, which is an asset that represents the lessee’s fight 1o use, or centrol he use of, a specified asset for the lease term,

Lessees (for capital and aperating leascs) and Lessoss (for sales-type, direct financing, end operating leases) must apply a modificd retrospective transition approach
for loases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the eatlivst comparulive period presented in the financial statements. The modified retrospactive
approach would ot require any transition acconnting for leases that sxpired before the eatdiest comparative peried presented. Lessces and lassors may not apply a
full retrospevtive transition approacly, :

The AR is elfective for fistal yeurs beginning afler December 13, 2013, including intertm petiods therein, Eatly application is permitted for all business entities

upon issuance. We are assessing the financial impact of adopting the new standard, Towever, we are currenily unabls to provide a reasonable estitnaie regarding
the financial impact. We expeet to adopt the new standard in fiscal year 218,
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Activity in the Tocal govornment sofiware matlet continues to be robust, and our backlog at December 31, 2016 reached $053.3 million , a 13% inorease from last
year, We expect Lo continve to achieve solid growth in revenue and eamings. With our strong financial position and cash flow, we plen to continue to make
significant investinents in proguet development to better position us to centinue to oxpand our competitive position in the public sector software merket over the
long term.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING PCLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our diseussion and analysig of financiel condition and rosults of operations is brsed upon our financial statements, vihich bave been prepared in assordance with
accounting principles generally aceepted in the United Staies (*GAAP™), The preparation of thesc financial statements requites us to make estimates and jodgments
that affect the reported amounts of asseis and liehilitics at the date of the financial staterents, the reperted mneunts of revenues, cost of tevenues and expenses
duting the reporting period, and related disclosure of contingencies, The Notes to the Financial Stutements included as part of this Annual Report describe our
significant accounting policies need in the preperation of the financial statements. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the
application of the percentage-of-completion and pronortional performance methods of revenue recognition, the carrying amount md estimated useful Lives of
intangible assets, detetmination of shure-based compensation expense and valuation allowange for teceivables, We bage our estimates on histotical experience and
ot various othet assumptions that we belisve to be reasenable under the circumstances, the resulls of which form the busis for making judgments about the catrying
values of assels and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results moy differ from these estimales under different assumptions or
conditions.

We believe the following critical actounting policles require gignificant judgments and estimates used in fhe preperation of our financial statements,

Revenue Recegnifion . We [ROgnize 18venIes i aosardanes with the provisions of Accounting Siandards Codification {(“*ASC”) 603, Revemue Recognition and
ASC 985.605, Software Revetue Recognition. Our revenues urs derlved from sales of software licenses and rayalties, subscription-based services, appraisal
services, maimtenance snd support, and services that typically range frem installation, training and basic consulting to sofiwers madification and ustomization to
meel specific customer needs, For muitiple element software arrangements, which do not entail the performance of services that are considered essentlal to the
tanotionality of the softwate, we generalky record revenue when the delivered products or performed services result in a legally enforcenble and nen-refundable
claint. We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts and sales ndjusiments, which are provided af the fime fhe revenue is recognized. Becanse most of our
customers are govermmental cntities, we tarely inour 4 logs resulting from the inability of @ cuztomer to make required payments., In a limited number of cases, we
encounter a customer who is dissatisfied with sete agpeet of the software product or out service, and we may offer a “concession™ fo such customer, 1 those
lirnited siluations where we grati § congession, we rarely veduce the contract arrangement fee, but alternatively may perform additional services, su ch 83 additional
trafning or creating addifional custom reperts. These amounts have historically been nominal, In connection with eur customer sontracts and the adegquacy of
related atlowances and measures of progtess towards contract completion, our project managers are charged with the respamsibility to continually review the slatus
ol each customer on 4 specific contract basis, Also, we review, on at least a quarterly basis, significant past due acconnts receivable and the adequacy of telated
regnrves, Bvents or changes in circumstances that indicate that the carrying amount for the allowances for doubtful accounts and salos adjustments may require
sevigion, inglude, but are not limited to, deferioration of a customer’s financial condition, faiture to manage our customer's expectations regarding the scope of the
services to be deliversd, and defeots of errors in new versions or enhancements of ot software produsts.

Wa wse conlract accounting, primarily the pereantage-of-ompletion mathed, a8 disengeed in ASC 605-35, Constraction — Type and Certain Production — Type
Contracts, for those software arrangements that irvolve stenificant production, modification or customization of the software, or where our software setyices are
otherwise considered essential to the functionality of the anfiware, We measure progress-io-completion primarily using labor hours incurred, or value addad. In
sddition, we recognize revenue nsing the proporiional performance method for oUr projperty appraisal projects, some of which can range up to five years. These
mefhods rely on estimales of total expected cottract reveaus, billings and colleations and expected centract costs, as well as measures of prograss toward
completion, We believe reasonably dependable estimates of reveniuo and cosis and progress applicable fo various stages of a confract can be made. Al times, we
perform additicnal and/or non~santractual services for little to no incremental fee lo satisfy cusiomer éxpectations, If changes oveur in delivery, productivily or
other faciors used in developing our estimates of expectod COSTS OT revenues, we I¢vise pur cost and revenue estimates, and any revisions ace cherged to income in
the period in which the facts that give tise to that revision first heceme known, In connection with these and certain other contracts, we may perform the work prict
to when the services are billable and/or payable pursuant to the sontract, The termination clanges in most of our contracts provide for the payment for the value of
produeis delivered and services performed in the event of an eatly tertipaiion,
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Tor §naS arrangements, we ovaluate whefher the custemer hag the contractual right to teke possession of our software at any Lime during the hosting period without
significant penalty and whether the customet can feasibly maintain the software on the custetner’s herdwarc or enter inte anothet arrangement with a third-pacty to
fost the software. 1f we determine that the cusiomer has (he contractual right to take posscssion of our goflware at any time during the hosting petiod without
significant penalty and oan feasibly maintain the sollware ent the cnstomer’s hardwars or enter fnto another arrangement with a third-party to host the software, we
resognize the lcense, professional servives and hosting services revenues pursuant 1o ASC 085-605, Software Revenue Resognition, For Saal errangements that
do not meet the criteria for recognition under ASC 985-605, we goeount for the clentents under ASC 603-25, Multiple Element Arrangements using all applicable
facta and circumstances, ineluding whether (i) the clement hes stand-glone value, (i) there is » general right of return and (iif) the vevenus is contingent on dellvery
of other elements. We allocate the conract value o each slement of the arrangenient that qualifies for treatment as separate element based on vendot-specific
ohjective evidence of fair value ¢VSOR™, and if VSOB is net pvailakle, third-party evidence, and if third-party evidence is unavailable, estimated selling price.
For professional services associated with Spad arrangements that we determine do not Wave stand-alone value o the cusiomer or e contingent on delivery of ofhey
glements, we recognize the setvices ravenue ratably over the remaining contrachsal poriod once hosiing has gone Hve and we may Degin billing for the hosting
services. We record amounts that have been inve icad in accounts recelvable and in deferred revenus o revenues, depending on whether the revenme recoghition
vtiteria have been met.

In connection with cectain of our contracts, we have recorded retentions receivable or unbilled receivables consisting of cosis. and estimated profit in excess of
billings as of the balance sheet date. Meny of the contracts which give rise 1o unbifled receivables at & given balance shest date ar subject to billings in the
subsequent accounting period, We roview nibilled receivables and refated contract provisions to ensnre we are justified in recognizing revemue prior te billing the
custorner and that we have abjective evidenos which allows us to secognize suoh revenue, In addition, we bave n sizable smount of deferred revenue, which
represents biflings in excess of revemie earned, The majority of this lability consists of maintenance billings for which payments are made in advance and the
revenue ls ratably eamned over the maintenance peticd, generally one year, We also have deferred revenue for those contracts in which we receive a deposit and the
vonditions in which to record revenue for the servics or produet have hot been met, Ona periodic basis, we review by customer the detail components of owr
deforred revenue fo ensute our accounting remains appropriate.

Intangible Asseis and Goodwiti , Our business acquisitiony typically-result n fhe creation of goodwill and other intangible asset balances, and these balances affect
the amouni and timing of futute period amotizalion sxpense, as well as expense we could possibly ineur s result of awt impairment charge, The cost of acquired
companies is allocated to identifiable tangible end intangible assels based on estimated fais value, with the excess allogated to goodwill. Accordingly, we bave a
significant balance of acquisition date intangible assets, including soflware, cuslomer refated intemgibles, trade name, leases and goodwill. These intangible assets
(other than goodwill) are amartized over their estimated usedul lives, We currently have no intangible assets with indefinite Jives other than goodwill.

Whet testing goodwill for impairment quantitatively, we firsl compare the fait value of sach reporting unit with its carrying amount. Ifihe crrying amount of a
yeporting unit exeeeds its fair value, 3 second step is perfornted to measure the amount of polential impairment. In the second step, we compare the implied fajt
volue of reporting unit goodwill with the carry ihg nmount of the reperting wnit's goodwill, If the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied
foir value of that goadwill, an impaitment loss i3 recognized, The fair values ealoylated in our impairment tests are determined vsing discountad cash flow models
jovolving several assumptions. The assumptions that are wsed are based upon what we believe a hypothetical marketplace participant would use in estimating fair
value, We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to bo reasonable but that are unpradictable and inherently uncertain, We eveluate the
reasonableness of the fait value caleulations of our reporting uinits by compating the total of the falt value of all of our teporting units 1o our (otal market
capitalization.

Our anmual goodwill impairment analysis, which we perfosmed quantitatively during the second quartet of 2016, did not resuli in an impairment cherge. During
2016, we did not identify any triggering events thag woul & equire an update to-our abitsl impairinent review.

All intanglble assets (other han goodwill) are seviewed for impairment whencver events or champes in circumstances ndicate that the carrying sineunt of at assel
may nof be recoverahte. Recoverability of other intangible assets is meagured by comparison of the satrying amoaut to estitpated undiscounted future cash flows,
The assessment of rocoverability or of the estimaled wsefiil life for amortization purposes will be affected if the timing or the amount of estimated future operating
cash flows is not achieved. Such indicators way inglude, amosng others; a significant decline i expected futurs cash flows; a sustained, significant decline in stock
price and market capitalization; a significant adverse change in legal factors or i the business climate; nnanticipated competition; and roductions in growth rates.
Tn addition, products, capabilities, o technoiogies developed by others may render our software products obsolets or no-gompetitive, Any advesse change in these
factors could have a signifioant impact on the recoverability of goodwill or other intangible assets.

Share-Based Compensation. We have a stock option plan that provides for the grant of stock options to key smployecs, directors and non-cimployes consullants.
We catimats the fair value of share-boased swards on (he dats of grant vsing the Black-Scholes oplion
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valuation modet, Share-based compensation expense includes the estimated effects of forfeitures, which will be adjusted over the requisite service period to the
extent aotus] forfeftures differ, or are expectad lo differ from such estimates, Changes in estimated forfeitmes are recognized in the perjod of change and will also
impact the amount of expense to be recogmized in ftute periods, Forfeitore raie assumptions ave derived from historical data, Our policy to estimate the iinpact of
the forfeitures remains in accordance with the newly adopted aecounting standard ASU No. 2016-09.

We ostimate stock price volatility at the date of grant based on fhe hisioriosl volatility of our common stock. Estinated option life is determined using the
weighted-average period the siock options are axpeoted to be oulstanding based primarily on the options” vesting terms, remaining contraciual life and the
employees’ expecied exercise basad on historical patterns, Determining the a ppropriate fair-value model and caloulating the fair value of share-based wwards af the
grant date requires considerable Judgtivent, including estimating slo ok price volatility, sxpecied option Kl and forfeiture rates.

ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND OTHER
The following discussion compares the histerical reaults of eperations on 2 basis consistent with GAAP for the vears ended Decetnber 31, 2016, 2013 and 2014,

Percentage of Total Revenues
Years Ended Dacember 31,

_ ' 2016 2015 2014
TRevenupy: . o . R R
Software ligenses and royaltics 9.8% 10.0% 10.0 %
Csselptiohs . . SRR Tt S (& UETRNURE | A
Softwate services 25.1 23.7 23.1
Meltmies . o oL R AP 1% SRR - S
Appraisal services ) 35 42 - 44
wdweomdotei U T I . A
Tolal revenues 100.0 100.0 100.0
fbﬁaﬁzatfn‘g_ﬁxﬁeﬁﬁé&f T ) B DR T ' S ‘ S )
Clost of sofiware licenses, royalties an
acquired software 3.3 1.0 0.8
ﬁﬁsﬁfuféﬁﬁwﬁés‘e?ﬂgé&'Iiiglfhtqiiﬁnfss T LT T s e
abid gobsariptions oo o T Hgp o . . #82. R VX
Cost of appraisal setvices ‘ 2.2 2.7 2.9
'C‘-nﬂi6fligirdwa'fﬁ;'=éiﬁdot}fqr" SRR T A I % IS B -
Seliing, general and administrative eXpensss 221 226 230
Haswritol.and devalopmint erpenys’ . . e e FRRCE7 RS RN
Amortization of customer and trade hame
intangibies 1.8 1.0 0.9
L. Gpemtingioome 0 LT S T A T s 12
Other (expense) income, net ) ) (0.3 0.1 (ﬁ..i]
B bofore bicaie taxes o C e e T M T s XN
Income tax provision 2.6 74 12

23




2016 Compared lo 2015
Ee YaHues

On November 16, 2015, we acquired NWS, which provides public safety end financial solutions far local governmenis. In May 2013, we acyuired a company
which provides mobile hand-held solutions primarily to law enforcement agencies for flold accident reporting and electronically issuing citations. The tesults of
their operations are included in our ES segment from their respective daies of acquisition. For comp arative purposes, we have provided explanations for chenges in

operations to exclude results of operations for these acquisitions noting the exclusien.
Software llcenses and royalifes.

The following table sets forth & comparison of our software licensos and royalties revenue for the years ended December 31:

Change
(_.‘p'iu fhpusands) e _ 2016 . ' 2015 . % %
T T A S Ty T N T

A&T _ ‘ ' ' 3,462 4,632 830 . 18
‘ot datbivare ficanses and ryalties revefivie R S 4a06. 8 o 89008 B 5308 3%

Excluding the results of acquisitions, goftware license revenue incrensed 3% compared to the prior year. The majority of this growth was duc to a more active
marketplace as the result of impravement in loesl gevernment economic conditions, &8 well as our Snerensingly strong competitive position, which we aliribute in
patt to our investment in product development in recent years. This inerease was offset somewhat by lowet sales Lo our existing custonier base Tor conrts and
justice related add-on solutiong that assist and support the transition to 8 papariess environment. By the end of 2015, the majority of our courts and justics clients
had implemented these add-on solutions.

Alfhough the mix of new contracts between subseription-based and perpetual license arrangements may vary from quarter Lo quatter and year fo year, we expect
our Jonger-term software license growth rate to be negatively impacted by & growing number of customers choosing o subscription-based options, rather than
purchasing the soflware under a traditional perpetual software Hicense arrangement, Subseription-based arrangements resuli i lower software license revenue jn the
initial year as compared 1o perpetual sofware livense atrangements but generate higher averall reventie over the term of the contract, Our tew client mix in 2016
was approximately 68% selecting perpetual sofiware licensce arangements and approximately 32% selooting subsctiption-based arrangements compared Lo A client
mix in 2015 of approximately 76% selocting petpetial software license arrangements and approximately 24% selecting subscription-based atrangements. 250 new
clients onterad into subseription-based seftware atrahgements in 2016 compared to 134 new elients in 2015 .

Subscriplions.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our subseriptions revenue for the years ended December 31;

Change
(5 In lhousands) 2016 2015 & %
AT _ B R TT 4,843 2,345 48
o ssedonk e s Bl S Tgh b S0 L o

Subsoription-based services Tevenus primarily consists ef revenue dorived from our SaaS arrangements, which utilize the Tyler private cloud. As part of ot
subscriplion-based services, we also previde slectronic dogument fifing solutions (“e-fling™) that simplify the fling md managenent of sourt related documents
for courts and taw offices. T-filing revenue is derived from traneaction fees and fixed fee acrangements.

Excluding acquisitions, subseription-bassd services revenue inareased 24% compared to 2015 . R-filing services contribuled approximately $ 4.9 million of the
subseriptions revenue increase in 2016 . Most of the e-filing revenme inciease related to several statewide gontracts, several of which implemented mandafery

clectronic Tiing during 2015 and throughout 2016 . New SaaS clients as well as existing clicnts who converted to our Saa% moded provided the remainder of the
subscriptions revenue increass. In 2016 , we
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added 250 pew SaaS clients and 53 existing clients elecled to coavert lo our SaaS model, The average contract sizes in 2016 were 1% and 9% higher than 20135 for
new clients and clients converting (o our Saa¥ model, respectively.

Sofiware services.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our software services revenve for the years ended December 31:

Change
(5 in thausands} 2016 2015 § %
B R o T Issars § Lo & o 294100 IR
A&T 16,326 10,784 5,542 51
ot Sofiwareeivives sevenas . - . .. & 1480 ¥ 13088 § . - s49m L A

Software services revemue primarily consists of professional services billed in coanestion with implementing our software, converting client data, training client
personnel, onstam development activities end cansulting, New clients who purchase our proprietary software licenses generally also contract with us to provide for
fhe telated softwate services, Bxisting clisnts also periodically purchase additional leining, econsulling and minor programiming services. Excluding the results of
acquisitions, sofiware serviees revenue grew 11% compared to the prior year period. This growth is paitly due to additions to cur implementation and support staff,
which inereased our capacity to-deliver backlog, and a contract mix that included more custom development and other services.

Maintenance,

The followlng table sets forth a comparizon of vur maintenance reverue for the years ended Decemnber 31:

Changs
(% in thaugamls) 2046 2015 $ %
B LT e TR A SRS R T SRR YYE T IR T T I
A&T 18,589 17,951 638 4

. Totl mafforignsereveniie, - - o L s sanbey 8 ST R 7 )
We provide maintenance and suppert services for ovr software preducts and certain third-party software, Excluding the results of acquisitions, maintenance
revetine grew 9% compared to the prior yoar, Meintenance and support revenue incteased mainly due io growth in our installed customer base from new software
licanse sales as well as annval maintensnee rate increases,

Appraival services.

The following table sets forth a comparison of eur appraisal services revenue for the years ended Deceniber 31!

Change
[ iv thonsands) $ %
T § N
A&T ) ‘ 5
| Wil apprivel ke vevenis . B ¥ 5%

The appraisal services business is somewhat cyolical and driven in pact by statatery revaluation cycles in various states, In 2016, appraisal services rovenuc
increased 5% compared to prior year primarily due to the Franklin County, Ohio, revaluation project, which began Jate in the fourth quatter af 2015,
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Casi of Revenpes and Gross Marglis

The following table sets forth a eomparison of the key components of our cost of revennes for the years ended December 31:

Change

( in thousands) 2016 2015 $ %
Solats Tetwes and goyateos -~ . % TS B Less 3 1A% - wW
Acquired software 22,235 4,440 17,795 N/M
Sofiware servicey, malntenance and sbsofptlons o - T 3isgay - 288380 - s 2%
Appraisal services 16411 15,922 489 3
Hndwass and et * B TOIE . TP .. ..o MR 56

Total cost of revenues $ 400,692 § 313835 % 86,857 28%

The following table sets forth a comparison of gross margin percentage by revenue type for the years ended December 31:

Gross margin percentage 2016 2015 Change
“Sofoware Jicenses, Tayalties and apquired sotiware s T ekl B T e
Software servicés, maintenatce and subscriptions ‘ 45.5 ' 42.6 ' 2.9
‘Appttisdl services R L 2 35 - U
Hardware and other 323 12,5 0.2y
vl grssemagh .t L e % 01 %

Software Heenses, rayaltles and acguived software , Costs of sofiware licenses, roynlties and acquired software arc primarily comprised of amorlization expense for
poquired software and thivd-patty software costs. We do not have ary dircet costs assooiated with royalties, In 2016, our software licenses, Toyalties and acquired
software gross margin percentage declined compared 1o ths prior year due to much higher amortization expense for acquired software resuliing fiom our
acquisition of NWS. Excluding the results of NWS, our software license, royalties and acquired software gross matgin was 91,0% in 2016 comparsd to 93.6% in
2015,

Koftware services, malnlerance aind subscriptions . Cost of software services, maintenance and swbseriptions primarily consists of personnel costs related to
instaliation of our software, conversion of client data, {raining client personnel and suppert activities and varions other services such as custom client development
and on-golng operation of SwaS 4nd e-filing atracgements, n 2016, e seftware services, raintenatce and subsoriptions gross margin increased 2.9% compated 1o
the prior year. Cur implemeniation and suppaort atafl has growa by 169 employoes since December 31, 2015. To suppott sales growth, we began making significant
investments in our implementation and suppert staff in earty 7015, Sinee December 31, 2014, excluding acquisitions, we have added 369 implementation and
support employees, These additions contributod to the revenue growth in 2016, In addition, the NWS revenue mix ineludes a lower proportion of software services
compared to Tyler’s historical revenie taix, which also benefited the gross margin. Costys related to mainienance atid various other services such as SaaS and ¢-
fiting typically grow at a slower tate (han related revenue dus to leverage i the utitization of support and maintenance staff and coonamies of scals, Maintenance
and subseription price increases alse resnlted in slightly higher gross margins,

Approtsal services . Appraizal services revene comprised approximately 3.5% of total revenue. The appralsal services gross margin inereased 1.1% sompared to
2015, A high proportion of the cosis of appraisal services ravenue are variable, as we often hire fsmporary employess t0 assist in appraisal prajects, whose term of
smployment generally ends with the projects” complstion,

Our 2016 blended gross margin remained consistent compared to 2013, Our overall gross matjin was positively impacied by improyed ytilization of owr support
atid maintenance staff; however, this bonefit was offset by amortization expense for acquited software related to the NWS acquisition,
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‘ Genergl and Adminisirative &

Selling, genernl and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses consist ptimarily of salaries, eraployee benefils, iravel, shave-based compensation expanse, commissions
and related overheacl costs for administrative and sales and marketing employoess, s well g, professional fees, trade show activitlss, advertsing costs and other
marketing related costs. The follawing table sels torth a comparison of our SG&A exponses for the following years ended December 31

Chatige
(§inthowands) _ . 016 2018 L2 %
Selling, goneral and adnitsilsifattve expensos TR Iemer. 3 a3 % w0 2%

SG&A a8 a percentage of revenue was 22.1% in 2016 compared to 22.6% in 2015 . In 2013, our SG&A expense included approximately $5.9 million for financial
advisory, legal, accounting, due diligence, valuation and othet varicus expenses necessary to complete the NWS acquisition, Excluding NWS transaction costs and
$CG&A ftom acquisitions, SG&A expense ingreused spproximately 12% mainly du to compensation vosts refated to increased staff Jevels, higher stock
compensation expense and increased cominission expense a8 a result of higher sales, We have added 22 employees mainly to our sales and finance teams since
December 31, 2015, In addition, our 2016 stock compensation eXpensec rose 6.4 milllon, mainly due to increases in our stock price over the last fow years,

Reseqreh and Development Expense

Resenrch and development expense consists primatily of salaries, employee benefits and related overhead costs associated with product development. The
fallowing table sets forth a compatison of our research and development expense for the years ended Deceniber 31

Change
{$ In thousands) . 2016 2015 _ $ %
Researdh and develpprieht sipeinsé . - R HEEE = EC s Caupm X v IEEE. IR

Research and development expense consists mainly of costs assoclated with development of new produsls and technologics from which we do not awrently
generate revenue, as well as cosis relaied fo the ongoing developtnent efforts for Microsoft Dynamics AX, Our contractiul research and development commitment
to develap public sector fimetjonality for Microsoft Dynantics AX was amended in March 2016, which significantly reduced ous development commitment
through March 2018, However, we will eontinue to provide sustained enginearing and technioal support for the public sector functionality within Dynamics AX,
License and malutenance royaltios for 21l applicable domestic and international sales of Ixynamies A¥X te public seclor entities will continue under the terms of the

contract.

Excluding the resulis of acquisitions, research and development cxpense inoreased 1,5% in 2016 cornpared to the prior year peried, mainly due to researsh and
development efforls relatod to new Tyler product development initlrtives. As a reault of the Microsoft Dynamics AX amendment, we also redeployed certain
devolopment resoutces o enhance functionality o several existing selutipns and these vosts wers recorded fn cost of sales — sofiware sexvices, maintenance and
subsetiptions,

Amorifzation of Customer and Trads Newmg Infangtbles

Acquisition intangibles eve comprised of the ¢xcess of the purchage price over the fai vaiue of net tangible assets nequired that is allocated to acquired soflware,
leases and customer and trade name inlangibles. The temaining excess purchase price is allocated to goodwill that is not subject to amartization, Amprtization
expenge related o aoquired sofiware [s included with cost of revenugs, while amortization expense of customer and trade name intemgibles {5 recorded as operating
expense. The estimated uselul lives of both customer and trade name intangibles range from five to 25 yeats, The following table sets forth & comperison of

amortization of custormer and trade name intangibles for the years ended Decentber 31!

Change
{$ In {housands) ] nie 2015 3 %
Amiortzition of susiémer aid wade pame tangibles . §o I3WIE 5905 g oo 8B . 133%

Amiortization of custemer and trade name jntangibles inereased substantially from the comparable prior year perieds due 1o the acquisition of NWS in November
2015,
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Tstimated annual amertization expense relating to customer and trade name acquisition intangibles, excluding acquired software for which the amottization
expense is recorded as cost of revenues, for the next five yeats and thercafter is as foliows (in thowsands):

017 . s . : ] 13,404
2018 13,658
2019 - - . : 1,398
2020 11,241
b R Lol S 17,121

Amorization expense relating to acquired leases will ba recorded gs a reduction to hardware and other revenue and ia expected to be $442,000 1n 2017, $426,000
in 2018 , $373,000 in 201% , $314,000 in 2020, $312,000 in 2021 and $1.3 million thereafter .

Other

The following table sets forth a comparison of other (expense) income, net for the years ended December 31:

Change
& inl‘rhm;sands) 7 _ ' ~ 2016 . 2015 $ _ %
Olber (onponise) iacoms, Bt . T . TR (aoh 8§ oss B @amy N

Other (expense) inceme is comprised of interest expense and non-usage and other fees associated with our revolving eredit agreement ag well as intorest income
from investod cash. In 2015, we had significantly higher invested cash balanees and ne outstanding debt uril we completed the NWS scquisition on November 16,
2015,

Income Tax Provision

The following table sets forth a comparisor of our income tax provision for the years ended Deccmber 31:

Change
($inﬂ101isa11d§) _ 2016 _ ] 2015 — 8 . —— % -
ncomd ik provision © - ¢ - . v D TR TS S T - ealesy . (G5

Tifsitive in:cmnﬁ:-ﬁn.c":&ﬁ T U . S 3 A30% - - 469%

The decrease in lie incore tax provision doring 2016 was primerily driven by the sdoption of ASU No. 2016-09, which requires the excess tax bonefits from stock
aption exercises to be recognized a3 seduction of the income tax provisien, wheress they previously were aceounted for as an crease to shareholders’ equity.
The adoption of ASU No, 201608 resulted in a $29.6 milllon decresse in our full year 2016 provision for income taxes. (see Note 1 ~ "Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies” in the secompenying consolidated financial statenoesnts).

Excluding the impast of the adoption of ASU o, 2016-09, our income tox provision and effective tax tate i1 2016 would have been $48.0 million and 37.9%,
respectively.

The effoctive income tax rotes in both 2016 and 2015 alse iffered from fhe statutory United States federal income tax rate of 35% due 10 state income taxes, the
domestic production activitics: deducticn, non-deductible share-based compensation expense, disqualifying incentive stack option dispositions, and non-deductible
business expenses. We realized a lower domestic production relivities deducticn as 2 result of texable Income limitations and nos-deductible {ransaction cosis
relaied to the NWS avquisition negatively impacted our 2013 effective tax rate. In the past fow years a relatively high amount of excess tax benefiis related to stock
option excroises have resulted in & reducticn in our qualified manufastaring pelivities deduction, The quatifisd manufacturing activities deduction tan be limited to
1 cartain leve) of taxable income on the tax returm. "Therefore, any significant items that reduce tayable incotne, such as excoss tax benefils on stock aptions, can
reduce the amount of the qualified manufaciuring activities deduction, We experienced significant stock aption exorcise activity in 2016 and 2015 that generated
excess tax benefits of $29.6 million and $45.3 million, respectively.
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2015 Compared to 2014
Revenues
Software Hoenses and royolties.

The following table sets forth 2 somparison of our software licenses and royalties revenue for the years ended Deceraber 31:

Change
(§ in thousands}) 2015 2014 $ Yo
® ' T R ‘ 16%
A&T ' 4,632 3,018 1,614 | 53
Tt software igenses mid royalties reveie e T § . 006§ ugds - 0%

Excluding the results of acquisitions, sofiware license revenue incrensed 15% compared to the prior year. The majority of thiis growth was due to 4 more active
marketplace as he reault of improvement in local government sconomic conditions, as well as our increasingly strong competitive poition, which we aftibute in
patt to aur invesiment in prodoct development in recent years. In addition, add-on sales %o our existing customer bage for conrts and justios related solutions that
assist and support the transition to a paperless environment increased approximately $1.3 million.

Our new client mix in 2015 was appreximaiely 76% selecting perpetual software license arrengements and approximately 24% selecting subseription-baged
arrangements compared to a client mix in 2014 of approximately 74% selecting perpetual soflware license arcangements and approximately 26% selecting
subseription-based arrangemments, 134 new clients enjered into subscription-bused software atrangements in 2015 comparsd to 138 new clients in 2014,

Subscriptions.

The following table sets forth 8 comparison of our subscriptions reverme for the yeats ended December 3 ¥

Change
(§ in thousands) 2015 2014 ¥ %
W L Lyt e §. . csAgE % L RLTER L
A&T ' ' 4,343 3,526 1,317 37
Tl stiaptona gm0 B 10w b B g . g 27%

Subscription-based services revenue ineteased 27% compared to 2014, B-filing services cantributed approximately $7.7 million of the subscripticus revenue
increase 1 2015, MMost of the e-filing revenue inerease telated 1o goveral statewide oontracts, several of which implemented mandatory elecironic filing neat fhe
end of 2014 and througheut 2015, New Sned clicots as well us existing clients who converted {0 our Saa$ model provided e remainder of the subsariptions
revenue increase. In 2015, we added 134 new SasS clients and 66 existing clients elected to convert to our SanS model, The average contract sizes in 2015 wers
38% and 22% higher than 2014 for new clients snd clichs gotverting to our Sasd nodel, respectively.

Software services.

The following table sets forth a comparison of our softwine services tevenwe for the years ended December 31!

Change
($ in thonsands) 2015 2014 § %
T e Y RTINS loaids § . msm . MW
A&T ‘ 10,784 9,675 1,100 1
ot soflvite services wventie - - R 15045 8. Ik 8 28031 L n%

Exeluding the resulls of acquisitions, seftwars services sevenue prew 30% compared to the prior year period. This growth is mainly due to much higher revenus
frem proprietary sofiwate arrangements, as well as additiens to our implementation and sopport staff, which inereased our eapacity te deliver backlog,
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Malntenanee.

The following table sets forth a comparison of out inuintenance revenue Tor the years ended December 31;

Change
($ in. thousands) 2015 2014 $ Y
B . . o % stk §. mssdl  § - LW 7 Li6%
A&T _ 17,951 16,815 1,136 7
“Total iifiitonunte fevéie ' S % asEay % 21608 R T

Bxchuding the resulis of acquisitions, malntenance revenue grew 12% compared fo the prior year, Maintenancs and support revenus moreased mainly due to
gtowth In our installed customer bage from new sofiware Hcense sales as well as punual maintenance rate incroases.,

Appraisal services,

The following table sets forth a comparison of our appraisal services revenue for the years ended December 31:

Change
{§ in thousands) 2015 2014 § %
A&T _ 25,065 " 21,802 L3263 15
Toiat appraiil sopvtostrevenue L e 98085 8 Bigoz. § .. da@ - Qs%

Appraisal services revere benefited from the addition oF several new revaluation contracts, including the City of Delroit, and the cutrent appraisal gyels in
Indiang, both of which began in 2014, In fate 2015, Franklin County, Obio began a full reappraisal eyecle, which alse contributed to appraisal services tevenue,

[ 2] enues and Gros: 3

The following table scts forth a comparison of the key components of our cost of Tevenues for the years ended December 31:

Change

($ in fhousands) 2015 2014 § Y%
Softivars Hootiud wndeoyalles . T SRR F-> N SRR THOG. & 68 o T
Acquired sofiware 4,440 1,858 2,382 159
o fiovar Soiviees, ilntshairce snd sUbsorptions Lol oomedg LT BGESE Lo YT LAl
Appiaigal services ' ‘15;922 14,284 1,638” ' 11

"Total cost of revenues by 313,835 § 259,730 % 54,105 21 %

The follosving table sets forth a comparison of gross margin percentage by zovenue type for the years ended Degember 31:

{Irass margin peresntugs 215 2014 Chaiye
SeTtware Tioenses, royalties wd nequlied soflwine _ T T R W% ow
Software scrviccs,' maintenance and subsecripticns 42.0 43.0 o4
Apbratsdl detvices . - o LT keE T s RO AR
Hardware and other 325 323 0.2
Overall giosa gl T - L R 46.5% Coetara o AW

Saftware licenses, voyalties and ucguired softwere . Tn 2015, our software licanses, royalties and aoquired software gross margin pereentage declined compared to
the prior year due o much higher amotiization expense for acquired software resulting from our acguigition of NWS, Hxcluding the results of NWS, our soflware
license, rayaltics and acquired software gross margin was 93.6% which increased 3% from the prior year period mainly due to higher revennes from proprietary
softwate arrangemonts,
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Suftware services, maintenance and subseriptions . In 2015, the sofiware services, mainfenance end subseriptions gross margin percentyge declingd compared to
the prior year mainly due to onboarding cosis associated with necelerated hiring fo ensute that we are well-positioned to deliver our current backlog and antleipated
new business. Excluding 285 employees sdded with acquisitions, eur implementation and suppost staff has grown by 200 employees since December 31, 2014, In
addition, in 2015, we incuried $1.4 million niore in contract labor cost than 2014 in an effort to maintain Hexibilily fo accommodate fluctuations in demand for
professional services. The gross margin decline was somewhat offsel because costs ralated to maintenance and various othet services such ag Sas8 and e-filing
typically grow af a slower rate than related revenve due to leverage in the wtilization of our support and mainfenence staft and economnyies of seale. Price increases
also resulied in slightly higher rates on ceriain services.

Appraisal services . Appraisal services revenue comprised approximately 4% of total revenue, The appraisel services gross margin increased 2% compared to
2014. A high proportion of the costs of appraisal services revenue are variable, as we oflen hire temporaty employees to assist in appraisal projects, whose term of
emiployment generally ends with the projests’ completion. The appralsal gervices gross margin was favorably impacted by operational efficiencics associated with
a large revaluation contract (hat began late 2014,

Our 2015 blended gross margin declined (.4% comparted e 2014. The gross margin was negatively impacted by increased acquired software amortization expense
misociated with the NWS acquisition and expenses associated with incieased hiring of implementation and development staff in order to expand our capacity to
inplement our contraot backlog,

Cenerdl and [ istres 565

The following table sets forth a comparizon of our SG&A expenses for the following years ended December 31:

Change
(% in thousands) 2015 2014 .. $ ‘ %
Selimggoverllond adnotaGve crponses . S 135317 §. | M05360 § . 2508 . 2%

8ideA as a porceniage of revenue was 22.6% in 2015 compared to 22.0% in 2014. In 2015, our BG&A expenses include approximately $5.9 million for financial
advisory, legal, sccounting, due diligence, valuation and other various gervices necessary to complete the NWS acquisition. In addition, our 2015 operating reaulls
inelude $4.0 million of SG&A expenses for NWSE from the date of acquisition. The remaining SG&A expense increass is mainly dve to compensation cost related
10 increased staff levels, higher stock compensation expense and fncreased commission expense as a result of higher sales, Exclnding 140 employees added with
acquisitions, we have added 16 employees mainly to our sales and finance teams since December 31, 2014, In addition, our 281 5 stock compensation expense ross
$4.2 million, mainly due to increases in our stock price over the last few years.

Research and Development Expense

The following table sets forth a comparison of our research and development expense for the years ended December 31:

Change
b in [housands)_ i - _ _ — 2015 ] 2014 . 3 . %
Toevaich wd Qovelopmnl wRpee -+ 5 W9 b .. AnMs w9 TR

Rescurch and development expense In 2015 includes approximately 51,5 million related to NWS. The remaining increase compared 1o 2014 was primarily due to
ingranged staffing to maintain and enhance our competitive positicn and ennval wage adjustinents.

Amortization of Custonter aud Trade Name Tnitangibles

The following tablo sels Forth a comparison of amortization of custemer and trade name intangibles for the years ended December 31:

Change
($ in fhougatds) 2015 2014 § %

Artizatitm of customer 4 ade pame intengfbles . - 0 1§ 1. 5905 8 TTaks . 1B S

In 2015, we completed two nequisitions (hal increased amortizable customer and trade name intangibles by approximately $127.8 million. This amount is being
amoitized over a weighted average period of 15 years. We also added approximately $3.7 million 1o acquigition related intangibles to reflect the fair value of
acquired leases, which will be amortized over the weighted average life of 9 voats,
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The following table sets forth a comparisen of other income (expense), net for the yearg ended December 31

Change
{§ in thousands) 2015 ' 2014 3 %
Oiherigomo (sifohse), hat - . B W1 0§ . sy - 7 . WM

Expenses in 2014 wers comprised primarily of non-usage and other fees associated with a revolving debt agreement thai terminated in Aungust 2014, offset slightly
by interest income from invested cash. Tn 2015, we had significently higher invested cash balances than 2014 until we completed the NWS acquisition on
November 16, 2015,

[ncome Tyx Pravision

The foliowing table sets forth a comparison of our come tax provision for the years ended December 31

Changa
(8 #i fhomsands) ‘ 2015 — 2014 ¥ %
Teometaprovlsion . oo .o 8T IS 3 sy $ X

Effaciveimométaxsite - - T s : S 7 S ) U

The effective income tax rates were different from the statutory United States federal income tax rate of 35% principally due to sfate income taxes, nonwdeductible
share-based compensation expense, the qualifisd mannfacturing activities deduction, disqualifylng incentive stock oplion dispositions, non-dedustible meals end
enicrtamment costs and non-deductible transnction costs. A lower qualified manufacturing ectivities doduction md nea-deductible transaetion costs related to the
NWS acquisition negatively impacied our 2015 effective tax rate.

T the past fow years & reletivoly high amomt of excess fax benefits related to stock option exercises have resulted in o reduction in our qualified manufacturing
activitios deduction as a result of taxable income Hmitations. We experienced significant stock option excereise activity in 2015 and 2014 that generated excess 1ax
benefits of $45.3 miflion and $19.4 million, respectively.

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY

As of Decernber 31, 2016 , we had cash and cash equivalenis of $36.2 million compured to $33.1 million at December 31, 2015 . We also had $33,3 million
invested in investment grade corperaie and municipa! bonds as of December 31, 2016 . Thess fnvesiments mature between 2014 throngh mid-2018 and we infend
to kold these investments until maturity, Cash and eash equivalents consist of cash on deposit with several domestic banks and money market finds, As of
December 31, 2016 , we had $10.0 million in outstanding borrowings and fwe ouls! anding letiars of credit totaling $2.2 million in connection with a client coniract
md the expansion of our Yarmonth facility. Beth efters of oredit puarantze out performance under each contract. We do not belicve the Jetiers of crodit will be
required 1o be deawn upon. Both Jelters of eredit expire in 2017, We believe our revolving line of eredit, cash from operating activifies, vash en hand and acoess
to the credit markets provide us with sufficient flexibility te meet our Jong-term financial needs.

The following table sets forth a summary of cash flows for the yeats ended December 31:

(§ I thousands) 26 2015 2014

Cadh Thows provided (nsed) by: - RO T L T e
Operating activities N . ¥ 191,859 § 134,327 8 142 839
Jnveslingactivitles . 0 T o S 0,730y - ¢ 08A80) (1,355
Finaneing acivities ' . (138,075) 91,052 (3,963)
‘Nt fnoreirse (dacrekie) in vath abd bids equivale N T T A R0 § 1l

‘Net; cash provided by operating activitics continues to be eur primary source of funds to finance operating needs and capital expenditures, Other potential capital
tesources include cash on hand, public end private issuances of debt or equity sccurities, and bank borrawings, It is possitile that our ability to access the capital

adl credit markefs in the futyre may be limited by economic conditions or other fastors. We cutrently believe that cash provided by operating aclivities, cash en
thand and available credit are
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sufficient to fur our working cepital requisements, cepital expenditures, income tax obligations, and share repurchases for at least the next twelve months,

In 2016 , operating activitics provided cash of $191.9 million . Cperating activilies that provided cash were primarily comprised of net income of $109.9 millien ,
nongash deprocistion and amortization cherges of $30.3 millicn and nor-oash share-based compensation expense of $29.7 milllon . Other sources of operating
vash were higher deferred revenue balances due to growth in our installed software maintenance customer base and growih in subsoription-based arrangements and
timing of paymenis for wages and commuissions. Somewhat offsetting these increases were annual maintenance and subscription biltings.

In general, changes in the balance of deferred tevenue are cyelical and primarily driven by the timing of our meintenamce renewal billings. Qur renewal dales osour
throughout the year but our largest renowal oycles ovour I the sscond and fourtl quartes,

Days sales outstanding in accounts receivable were 93 days at December 31, 2016, compared to 100 days at Decemtber 31, 2015 . Cur maintenance billing cycle
typicalty peaks ef ks highest Jevel in June and second highest level in December of each year and is followed by collections in the subsequent quarter. DSO is
calculated based on quarter-end accounts reseivable {excluding long-term recelvables, but incloding unbilled receivables) divided by the quotient of annuglized
quartetly revenwes divided by 360 days.

Lirvesting activities used cagh of $50.7 million in 2016 compared to $398.5 million in 2015 . We invested $20.3 million in investment grade corporate and
municipal bonds with maturity detes ranging from 2016 through mid-2018 . Approximately $37.7 million was invested in property and equipment. We purchased
an office building in Falmouth, Maine, thal was previously lsesed fiom an sntity owned by an executive’s father and brother, for approximately $5.7 million end
paid $3.0 million for construction to expand a building in Yarmouth, Maine, We plan to spend approximately $18.7 million in 2017 in connegction with ths
completion of this office expansion. The remaining additions were for computer equipment, furnifure and fixtures in support of internal groveh, particularly with
respect to growth in our cloud-based offerings. We also made a small acquisition for approximately $7.4 million and paid $2.0 million refated to the working
cepital holdback in connection with the NWS acquisitlon. These expenditures were funded from cash generated froin operations, eash on hand and bank
borrowings, -

In 2015, we completed the acquisition of NWS for the purchese price of $337.5 million in cash, of which $4.0 million was acerued at December 31, 2015, and 2.1
million shares of Tyler common stock valued at $362.8 million. Also we completed the acquisition of Brazos Teehnelogy Corporation for the purchase ptice, net
of cash acquired and including debt assumed, of $6.1 million in cash and 12,500 shares of Tyler comnmon stock valued ol $1.5 million. On January 39, 2013, we
made 2 $15.0 million investment in convertible preferted stock representing o 209 interest in Record Holdings Pty Limited. We also invested $30.9 million in
investment grade corparate and munieipal bonds, The remaining use of cash was for capita! expenditures related to computer equipment, furhiture and fixtures in
support of internal growth, particularly with respest to growth in our cloud-besed offerings.

Finaneing sctivities used cash of §138.1 million [n 2015 compared to cash provided by financing activities of $91.1 million in 2015 . Financing sctivitics in 2016
were vemptised of $56.0 million net payments on ovr revolving line of eredit offset somewhat by collections of $29.8 million trom stock option exervises and
employve stack purchase plan activity. We also purchased approximately 882,000 sheres of our coramon stock for an aggregate purchase price of $112.7 million ,
of which $860,000 was accrued at Decamber 31, 2016,

Finauelng activities in 2015 were comprised 07 net borrowings of $66,0 million and eollections of $27.8 million from stock option exercises and smployes stock
purchase plan activity, We purchased approxinately 5,400 shares of our common stock for an aggregate purchase prive of $645,000 in 2015 and peid $2.1 million
[n debt issuance costs, Cash used by Thanving activities in 2014 were comprised of porchases of 294,000 shares of out common stock for an aggregate purchage
price of $22.8 million offset substantiatly by colleotions of $1%.8 millien from stock option exercises and confributjony from the employee stock purchiase plan.

On May 11, 2016, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of an additional 1.5 millien shares of Tyler cominon stock, The repurchase program, which was
approved by our board of direstors, was announced in Cetober 2002, and was amended at various times frem 2003 through 2016. As of December 31, 2016 , we
had temaining sutherization lo repurehase up to 2.0 million additional shares of our common steck. Out shate repurchass program allows us to repurchase shares at
our diseretion. Market conditions influence the timing of the buybacks and the number of shares repurchased, as well as the velume of employee stock option
exercises. Share repurchases are generally funded vaing our existing cash balances and borrowings under our oredit facility and may oceur through open market
purchases and transactions structured (irough investment banking institutions, privately negotiated ttansactions and/or ether mechanisms. There ig no expiration
date specified for fhe authorization mid we intend to repurshase stock undor the plan from time to time.

Subsequent to Decentber 31, 2016 axd through February 21, 2017, we purchased approximately 42,000 shares of our commen stock for an agpregate cash purchase
price of $6.2 million .

On Noverber 16, 2015 , we enlerad into a $300.0 million Credit Agreement (the “Credit Facility”) with the various lenders party thereto and Wells Fargoe Bank,
National Association, s Adninistrative Agent, The Credit Tucility provides for a revolving credit line
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of up to $ 300.0 million , ineluding & $10.0 million sublimit for letfers of credit, The Credit Facity matures an November 16, 2020, Borrowings under the Credit
Facility may be used for general corporate purposes, including working capilal requiremonts, acquisitions and share repurchases. Borrowings under the Credit
Facility bear Inlerost at a rate of efther {1) Wells Fargo Bank’s prime rate (sobject to vertain higher rate determinations) phis a margin of 0.25% to 1.00% or (2) the
30, 60, 30 or 380 day LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1.25% to 2.00% , As of December 31, 2016, our interest vate was 1.96% . The Credit Facility is secured by
substantially all of our agsets. The Credit Facilily tequires us to maintain certain financial ratios and other financial conditions and prohibits us from making certain
investments, advances, cash dividends or loans, and limits incuttence of sdditional indebtedness and liens. As of December 31, 2016 , we wele in compliance with
those covenants .

As of December 31, 2016 , we had $10,0 million in outsianding borrowings and nnused borrowing capacity of $287.8 million under the Credit Faeility .

We paid income taxes, net of refunds received, of $30.2 million in 2016 , $27.3 million in 2015 , and $10.2 million in 2014 . In 2016, we experienced significant
stock option exercise aciivity that generated nef tax benefits of $29.6 million and reduced tax payments accordingly. In 2015 and 2014, excess tax bensfits were
$45.3 millien and $19.4 million, respoectively,

Excluding acquisitions, we anticipate that 2017 cepital spending will be between $52.0 million end $54.0 million, including approximately $24.0 million related to
roal estate. We expect the majority of the other capital spending will consist of compuler equipment and sofiware for infrastructure replacements and expansion.
We currently do hot expecl to capitalize significant amounts telated tn software development in 2017, but the actual amount and timing of those costs, and whethar
they are capitalized ot expensed may result in additional capltalized sofiware developiment. Capital spending is expected to be funded from existing cash balances,
cash flows from operations and borrowings under cur revolving fine of eredit.

From time to time we engage in discussions with potential sequisition candidates. In order to pursue such opportunities, which could require significant
commiiments of capital, we may be required to incur debt or to issue additional poientially dilutive securities in the future. No assurance can be glven as to our
future acquisition eppertunities and how such opportunities will be financed,

We leaso office facilities, as well as transportation, computer and other equipment Used in our operations under non-cancelable operating lease agresments expiring
at various dates through 2023, Most leases contain renewal options and some contain purchase options,

Sumimarized in the table below are our cbligations to make future paymems wnder our Credit Facility and lease obligations at Decerber 31, 2016 {in thousands):

2017 2018 19 2020 2021 Thereafter Total
Redelvisglineoferedit . - 5 - — &  — § < k16000 § = § . = 5 10,000
Lease obligations S 5177 4221 3556 3273 2,059 601 18,887
Toul Mot piyinent obligations 8 5177 % A3 § 3554 % 13278 B 08§ 601 % 2By

As of December 31, 2006, wa do nof have any off-balance sheet arrangements, guarantees fo third-parties or inaterial purchese commitments, except for the
operating lease conmunitments listed above.

CATITALIZATION

At Decetnber 31, 2016 , our capitalization consisted of $10.0 million of outsianding borrowings and $915.5 million of shareholders’ equity.

ITEM. 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK,

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may affeet s due to adverse changes in tinancial market prices and interest rates,

As of December 31, 2016 , we had $10.0 million in ouistanding borrowings under the Credit Faeility. Loans under the Crodit Facility bear interest, at Tylet's
option, at 2 per annum rate ef either {1) the Wells Fargo Bank prime rate {subject to certaity higher rate determinations} plus o margin off 0.25% to 1.00% or (2) the
30, 60, 90 or 180-day LIBOR rate plus a mergin of 1,25% to 2.00%.

In 2016 , our offective average inlerest rate for bortowings was 1.79% . As of December 31, 2016 our infetest rate was 1.96% . The Credit Taeility is secured by
substantially afl of our assets.
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Assuming borrowings of $10.0 million , a hypothetical 10% inorease in our interest rate at December 31, 2016 for a one-year period would result in approximately
$19,600 of additional interest rate expense,

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA,

The reports of our independent registered public accounting firm and our financiel statements, related notes, and supplementary data are included as part of this
Annual Report beginning on page F-1,

ITEM 9. CHANGES TN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE,
None.
ITEM 94, CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES,

Bvatuation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures — We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securitles Exchange
Act) designed to provide reasonable agsurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in the repotts we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summerized and reported within the time periods specified in the S8EC’s rules and forms, These include controls and procedures designed to
ensurs that this information is accumulated and comminicated fo our management, ineluding our chief execntive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriste
to allow timely Jepisfons regarding required diselosuras. Management, with the partivipation of the ehief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated
the effectivenoss of our disclosure conirels and procedures as of December 31, 2016 . Based on this evaluation, the chief executive officer and chiaf finaneial
offfcer have concluded that our disclosure controls mixd procadntes were effective as of December 31, 2016 .

Mandagement 's Report on Internal Control Over Financle! Reporttng — Tyler’s management is responsible for egtablishing and maintaining effective futernal
control ever financial reporting as defined in Seourities Bxchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Tyler’s infernal control over financial reporting is designed to provide
reasonable assurance to Tyler’s management and board of directors regarding the preparation amd falr pregentation of published financial statements,

Because of its inhesent limitations, internal eontrol over financial reporiing may nol prevent of detect migstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to
bo effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Management assossed the effectiveness of "I'yler’s infernal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016 . In making this assessment, management used
the eriteria set forih by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comunigsion (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). Based on our assessment,
we concluded that, as of December 31, 2016, Tyler’s infernal conirel over financial reporting was effcetive based on these criteria.

Tyler's internal eontrel over fingneial reperting as of December 31, 2016 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting
firm who also sudited Tylers financial statements, Frnst & Young’s atlostation report on Tyler’s internal control over financial repor(ing nppears on page F-1
hereok

Changes i Internal Control Over Financigl Reporting — During the quatter epded December 31, 2015 , there were no changes in our internal contrel over

financial roporting, as defined in Securities Bxchange Act Rule 13a~15{f), that rmaterially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our intetnal control
over financial reporting,

ITEM 9E. OTHER INFORMATION.

Nons,
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PARTTII
Bee the information under the following ceptions i Tyler’s definitive Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference. Only those sections of the Proxy

Statement that specifically address the iiems set forth herein are incorporaised by refarence, Such incorporation by reference does not include the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis, the Compensation Committes Report or the Audit Committee Report, which are included in the Proxy Statement.

Headings in Proxy Statetnent

TTEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE “Tyler Management” and “Corporate Governange Principles and Board
GOVERNANCH. Matterg™
ITEM 11, BEXBCUTIVE COMPENSATION, “Executive Compensation”

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL GWNERS

AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managemetyt”
MATTERS.

ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, "Bxecutive Compensation” af
AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE, “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions”

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The infornation required under this item may be found under the seetion captiened “Preposals For Consideration — Proposal Two — Ratificalion of Cur
Independent Auditors for Fiscal Year 2017 in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated hetein by reference,
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PARTIV

ITEM 15, EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES,

The following documents are filed as part of this Atmual Report;

(a) (1) The fingnefal statements are filed as part of this Annual Report.
Page
Reporis pf Independsnt Registered Public Accounting Firm E-1
Conselidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the vears ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 F.3
Congolidate: lance Sheets as of December 31 i 1 F-4
tements of Shareholders® Equity for the years ended Decem 015 and 2014 F-5
Longolidate tements of Cagh Flows for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 k6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7
(2) Financial statement schedules:
Thete are no financial statement schedules filed as pert of this Annual Report, since the required information is included in the
financial statements, including the notes thereto, or the cirenimstances requiring inclusion of such schedutes are not present.
(3) Exhibits
Certain of the exhibits to thiz Antual Report are herelyy incorporated by reference, ag specified:
Exhiblt
Number Desoviption

a1 Restatod Certificate of Incorporation of Tyler Three, as amended through May 14, 1990, and Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior
Patticipating Prefarred Stock {filed as Bxhibit 3.1 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1990, and incorporated by reference
herein),

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Cerlificate of Incerporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 10 our Form 8-, dated Febroary 19, 1998, and
meorporated by reference hersind, P

1.3 Amended and Resteted By-Laws of Tyler Corporation, deted Ostober 20, 2015 (filed as Bxhibit 3.3 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 39, 2015, and incorporated by reference herein}.

14 Certificate of Amendment dated May 19, 1999 to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Bxhibit 3.4 to our Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2000, and incorporated by reference herein).

41 Specimen of Commen Stock Certificate (Tiled as Bxbibit 4.1 to our registration statement no, 33-33505 and incorporated by zeference
herein),

42 Credit Agreement dated November 16, 2013, among Tyler Techiologies, Ine. and Wells Fargo Bank, N, A. as Administrative Agent and
other lenders party hersta (tiled as BExhibit 10,1 io our Form 8-K dated November 16, 2015, and incorporated by refarence herein},

43 Agreement gnnd Plan of Merger, dated as of September 30, 2015, by and among Tyler Fechnologies, Inc., Brinston Acquisition, ELC, New
World Systems Corporation, and Larry D, Leinweber, as the Principal Shareholder jdentified therein and the Shareholders’ Representative
identified therein. (filed as Bxhibit 2.1 to our Form 3-IC, dated October 1, 2015, and incerporated by reference herein).

102 Tyler Technologios, Ine. 2010 Stock Cptien Plan effective as of May 13, 2010 (filod as Exhibit 4.1 1o our regigtration statement no, 333-
168499 and incorporated by reference herein).

10.% Employment and Non-Competition Agreement between Tyler Technologies, Inc. and John 5. Marr Jr. dated Eebruary 5, 2613 (filed as

Exhibit 10.3 to our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2812 and incorporated by reference herein).
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Exhibit

Number Txescription
10.4 Employment and Non-Compelition Agreement between Tyler Technologies, Inc. and Dustin R, Womble dated February 3, 2013 (filed as
Exhibit 10.4 to our Form 10-X for the year ended December 31, 2012 and incorporated by reference hereiny,
10.5 Empleyment and Non-Competition Agreement between Tyler Technologies, tne. and Brlan K. Miller dated February 5, 2013 (filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to our Form 10-K for the year ended Degember 31, 2012 and incorporated by reference herein).
0.6 Employment and Non-Competition Agresment between Tyler Technologies, Inc, and H. Lynn Moore dated Pebruary 5, 2013 {filed as
Exhibit 10.6 to our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 and Ingorporated by reference hevein), -
10.7 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our registration siatement 333-182318 dated June 25, 2012 and incotporated by
reference herein).
®23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
*31.1 Rule 13a-14(n) Cettification by Princfpal Executive Officer.
312 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification by Principal Finansial Ofticer,
*32 Section 1350 Certification of Principal Exeoutive Officer and Principal Finaneial Officer,
#1401 Instance Document
*101 Seliema Document
*10] Laleylation Linlchage Document
*101 Labels Linkbage Document
*101 Definition Linkbase Document
*101 Presentation Linkbase Doaument
* — Filed herewith,

A copy of each exhilit may be obtained at & price of 15 cents per page, with a $10.00 minimum order, by writing Investor Relations, 5101 Tennysen Parkway,

Plano, Texas, 75024,
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Pursuant (o the sequirements of Section 13 or 13(d) of the Securittes Exchatige Act of 1934, the registrant has duly cansed this roport fo be signed on its

behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: Febtoary 22, 2017

Pursant to the requirements of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates

indicated have signed this repost below,

Date; February 22, 2017

Date: February 22, 2017

Date; February 22, 2017

Date: Febroary 22, 2017

Date: February 22, 2017

Date: February 22, 2017

SIGNATURES

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By:

By

By:

By

By:

By:

/s/ Iohn S, Marr

John &, Marr
Chiaf Executive Officer and Chaitman of the Board
{prineipal executive officer)

fsf John 8, Marr

John 8. Marr

Chief Brecotive Officer and Chaltman of the Roard
Directot

(principal executive offiser

/3! Brian X, Miller

Brian K. Miller

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
{principal financial officer)

3/ W, Michael Smith

W. Michasl Smith

Chief Accounting Officer
(principal accounting officer)
{s/ Donald R. Brattain

Denald R, Brattain
Dircotor
fsf Glenn A. Carter

Glenn A, Carter
Diirector
/s/ Brenda A Cline

Brenda A, Cline
Director
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Date: Febiuary 22, 2017

Date: February 22, 2017

Date: February 22, 2017

Date: Febroary 22, 2017

Dale: February 22, 2017

By:

By:

By:

By:

Je/ I Luther King

I Luther King
Director
/s/ Larry T, Leinweber

Larry D, Leinweber
Director
s/ Danjel M. Pope

Daniel M. Pope
Director
fs/ Dustin R. Womble

Dustin R, Womble
Director
fsf John M, Yeaman

John M. Yeaman
Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Diractors and Sharcholders
Tyler Technologies, Ing.

We have audited Tyler Technologies, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016 , based on criteria established in Interngl Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committes of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO oriter{a), Tyler
Technelegies, Inc.’s management s respensible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its agsessment of the affectivenass of
intersial control ever financial reporting included in the accompanylig “Managenent’s Report on Tnternal Control Over Financial Reporting.” Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the company s internal control over financial reporting based ot our audii.

We condveted our audit in accordance with the standards of fhe Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal conirol over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal centrol over financial reporting, assessing the risk that 2 material weakness exists, testing and evaluating
the design and aperating effectiveness of internal contzol based on the assessed tisk, sad performing such other precedores as we conzidersd necessary in the
clreumstanices. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for cur apinion,

A company’s infernal contrel aver finaneial reporting is a provess designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of figancial statements for external purposes in ascordance with generally aceepted accounting principles. A corpany®s internal control over financts!
reporling includes those policies and procedures that {1) pertain to the maintenaiss of records that, in reasonable detadl, acenrately and faitly retlec! fhe
transactions atid dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded us necesgary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally acoepied accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of fhe company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and direstors of the company; and (?) provide reasonable assurance regarding preveniion o timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or dsposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finanoial reporting may net prevent ar dotect misstaiements, Also, projections of any evaluation of
effecliveness to future petiols are subject o the risk that conirols may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, ot that the degree of compliance with
the policies of procedures may defericrate,

In our opinion, Tyler Technologies, Inc, maintained, in afl malerial respocts, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on
the COBO eriteria.

We also have audited, in accotdance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Cversight Beard (United Staios), the consolidated balance shects of
Tyler Technologies, Inc. as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated stalements of comprehensive income, shareholders™ equity, and cash
flows for sach of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2076 and our report dated February 22, 2017 expressed an ungualified opinion thereon.

fs/ BRNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 22, 2017
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED FUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Boeard of Directors and Shareholders
Tyler Technologies, Ing.

We have audited the sccompanying congolidated bulance sheets of Tyler Teohmologies, Inc, #s of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , and the related conselidated
statements of comprebensive incomns, shareholders’ squity, and oash flows for each of the three yeats in the period ended Deoember 31, 2016, These financial
statemenits are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our respongibility is to express an opinion on these financial siatements based on our audits,

We conducted our audits in aceordance with the standards of the Public Company A ceoumting Ovetsight Board (United $tatos), Those standards require that we
plan and perform the andit to abtain reasenable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, An audit ineludes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the firanoial statements. An andit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well a3 evaluating the overall financial statement presentation, We believe that our audits provide a reesonable hasis
for our opinion,

It our opinion, the financial statements referred to abeve present faitly, in all material respects, the financial position of Tyler Technologies, Inc. at December 31,
2016 and 2013, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the perlod ended December 31, 2016 , in cenformity with U.S,
generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to (ho consolidated financial statements, the Compury has adopted ASU 2016-09 Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718}
Improvements to Bmployee Share-Baged Paymeni Accounting,

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Beard (United States), Tyler Technelogiss, Inc.’s internal
contro} over {inancial reporting as of December 31, 2016 , based on criteria established in Infernal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Commitiee of
Sponsering Organizations of the Treadway Comnission (2013 frameworl) and our report dated February 22, 2017 expressed an unguatified opinion thereen,

fof ERINST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 22, 2017




Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the vears ended December 31

(In thousands, excepl pet share amounts)

Reveiiss; . o
Softwate licenses and royaftiss
Subserfationy
Software services
Maintersiyes
Appraisal services
Thardwire i other:

Total ravenues

Cost of fevenues:
Bestivare licsised and toyafiiey . -
Apyuired software

Sofhwate sorviows, iaintenases and wdissodptions

Appraisal services
- Pardvears and other - P
Total cost of revenues

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Resedrch and developimetif expents - -
Amrlization of custemer and trade nams intangibles
Operﬂtiﬁg income
Other (expense) income, net
[ Inceme before fiistnie tikey £

Income tax provision
- Ngpideone -

Pttt pei buiitined Siafe:

Basic
- Dilieed o

See accompanying noles,

2016

2015

2014
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LM%

174,804
302,960
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) 59,008 §
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25,065
562

49,063
87,548
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212,696

756,043
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“3i8,95%;

16,411

591,022

1633
4440

a0

15,922
501

L9060
1,858

236,363

14,284
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400,692

13,731
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167,161

43,154
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Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Consolidated Bolance Sheots
(In thousands, except par value nnd share amounts)

ASSETS
Current asseis:
" Gash and gagh squivalents

Accounts receivable (Tess al]owauce fur ]csses of $3,396 in 2016 and $1 64(1 n 2015)

Bhrtsfeim mvesu’nﬁuis
Prepaid expenses
. Triowime fax reeslvably .
{rher current assets
“fotal cuireht atsets

“Actounts eceivabis, Torig-teth
Property and equipment, net
Ofhier asgets: .~

Goodwill

- Other mtang;blwps, et

Cost method invesiment

.an-m’il.';:@n’t_ql}_wgmpm’ts find oiher msgely ..

L]AB].LITIES AND SHAREIIOL[}ERS' EQUITY

Corrirdinbilifes:
Accounts payable
Jceatued Tabfifties
Deforred revenue
. Tétl vugent Habilitles. -

Revolyiigline of ofadi,
Daferred revenue, Iong-lerm
Defvired ihaomﬁ 1<txes

Cioimiiiinensts diid coiltgensios |

Sharbhﬂders eqnfty':

Prefen red stock, $10.00 par va]ue, 1,000 000 sharce authnnzed none issued

. Conimor
il WEapd 2015 07 -

- Additional paid-in cupital

" Addomdla ey i‘.aﬂ]ercomj{lm]lansﬁfe loss, el of tak

Retained oar nmgs

T edsuty stoxﬂc, ﬂt cnst, 11 38’13’:‘33 atid 11,373,666 shhws [ ZD]Gami 2013, réﬁpecﬁ\fmy

Total shareholders' equity ,

Sae accompanying notes.

ciok; §0,01 par vale; 105)&]@0,0(}0 shﬁrés aulho‘r" df 4R

f 4?,969 shareq

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2013

I £ 13,087
200,334 176,360

26,273 kX ER

21,039 22,334

2,895 21,080

2,268 1,931

U REL080 Ptk e
2,480 2977

124,268 101,112
650,237 653,666
267289 W5
15,000 15,000
T -0 -
$ 1357 045 % 1,356,570
$ 7295 § 6,789
' 55,989 49,156
298,217 281,627
361501 C a3y

L A00° - 6B
2,140 3,115

SN - PLOLG
oAl R
356,663 607,755

N L I )
435,876 326,013
s R <)
915,525 858,857

$.. 1350085 § 1356570




Tyler Technologies, Ing,
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

For the yeats ended Decamber 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014

{In thousands)

Common Stock Additlonal Accumlated Other

Shares

Pyid-in Comprehensive Refained
Amount Casital Insomme (Loss) Harnings

Treasmy Stock

Total

Shares

Amount

Shareholders’
Bquily

Balunge at Decamber 11, 2073 .. dR148
Met income —
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. vompagatien plag =
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©wmployostock pichese pla . —
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Igsuance of shares for acquisition —

§

BT 28§ . @6 ¥ il

— — —_— 58,940
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Tyler Technelogies, Ing,
Conszalidated Statements of Cash Flowa
For the years ended December 31

(In thousands)
2016 2015 2014

Cash Flows fot operatlng aotivitiss: o o o S N
Net income ‘ $ 109857 3 64,869 § 58,940
Adfistongnty & pebprieils et fitsome 1o cadh provided by operations: o I S .

Depreciatien and amortization 50,301 19,574 14,603
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See qocompanying notes.
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Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Notes 10 Conselidated Financial Statements
(Tables in thousands, except per share data)

) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

We provide integrated sofiware systems znd related services for the public sector, with 2 fosus on lecal governments. We develop and inarket a broad line of
software solutions and services to address the information technology (“TT7) needs of cities, counties, schools and other local government entities, In addition, we
provide professional IT services, including software and hardware installation, data conversien, training, and for certain customers, produst modifieations, along
with continning maintenance and support for customers using cur systems. We also provide subscription-based services such as software as a service (“SraS”)
arrangements, which utitize the Tyler private cloud, and elecironic document filing solutions (“e-filing™). In addition, we provide property appraisal cutsoureing
services for taxing jurisdictions.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSQLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include our parent company end g subsidiary, which is whelly-owned. All signifivant infercompany balances and
transactions have been eliteinated in consolidation. Compreliensive income (loss) is defined as the changs in eqoily of a business enterprise during a peried from
transactions, and other events and circumstances from nen-owner sowrces and includes all components of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss).
We had no items of other comprehensive income (loss) during the vears ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014,

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash in excess of that necessary for operating requirements is invested in short-term, highly liquid, income-producing investments. Investments with original
maturities of three menfhs ot less are clagsified as cash and oash equivalents, which primatily consist of cash on deposit with several banks and meney market
funds, Cash and cesh equivalents are stated ot cost, which approximates markst value.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

We earn revenue from seflware Heenses, royulties, subscription-based services, soflware servioes, post-contract-eustomer supporl (“PCS™ or “maintenance’},
hardware, and appraisal services.

Software Arrangemonts:

For the majority of our softwate atrangements, we provide services that range from ingtallation, raining, and basic consulting to sofiware modification and
customization te meet specific custamer needs, I the areangement does not require sighificant production, modification or customization or where the soflware
services are nof ¢ongidered essential to the functionality of the software, revenve is racognizod when all of the following conditions are met

. persuasive evidetce of an arrangement exists
. delivery has ocoutred

. our fe dg fixed or determinable

’ collectability is probable

Far multiple element arrangements, sach element of the arrangement is analyzed and we allocate a portlon of the total anangement fee to the elements based on the
relative fair vaive of the element vsing vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value (“VSORB™), regardless of any sepurate prices stated within the contract for
each element, Fair value is considered the price a oustomer would be required to pay if the element was sold separately based on our historical experienice of stang-
alotie sales of these elemens to third-parties, For PCS, we use renswal rates for continued support arrangoments to detetmine fair value, For software services, we
use the fair valve we charge aur customers when those scrvives are sold separately. We monitor our transactions to determine that we maintain and periodically
revise VSOH to reflect fair value, In soflwere srangetnents in whish we have the fair value of all undolivered dlements but not of a delivered element, we apply the
“residual method,” in compliance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™) 985-605, Software Revenue Recognition. Under the residual method, if the fair
value of all wndelivered elentenis is determinable, the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee is
allocated to the delivered element(s) and is recognized as revene psevming the other revenue recognition criteria are met, In software arrangements in which we
do not have VSOR for all undelivered elements, revenue iy deferced until Tair value s deteimined or ali elaments for which we {lo fiof have VSOE have been
delivered, Alternatively, if sufficient VSOE does not exist and the oaly undelivered clement is
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servicea that do not invalve significant modification or customization of the software, the entire fes is recognized over the period during which the services ave
expected to be performed.

Sofiware Licenses and Royaltles

We recognize the revenue allocable to software licenses and specified upgtades upon delivery of the software product or upgrade to the customer, unless the fee is
not fixed or detenmingble or collectability is not probable, If the fee is nol fixed or determinable, software license revenue is generally recognized as payments
become due from the customer, If eollectability is not considered probable, reverue {8 recognized when the fee is collected. Arrangements that include sofiware
serviees, such s training or installation, are svaluated to determine whether those services ate essential to the product’s functionality.

A majority of our software arrangements involve “ofitthe-ghelf” software. We consider software to be off-the-shelf software if it can be added o an errangentent
with niinor changes in the vnderlying code and it can be used by the customer for fhe sustomar’s purpose upon installation, For off-flie-shelf software
arrahgements, we recognize the software license fee as revenue effer delivery has oceurred, cnstomer accepiance is reasonably assured, that portion of the fee
represents a non-refundable enforcealle eleim and iz probable of collection, and the remaining services such as draining are nof vonsidered agsential to the
product’s funotionality,

For atrangements that involve significant production, modification or customization of the sofiware, or where soflware services are otherwise considersd essential,
we recognize revenne using contract accovnting and apply the provisions of the Construstion typs and Frodnction type Contracts as discussed in ASC 605-35, We
generally use the percentage-of-complation method to recognizs revenus from these atrangements. We measure progress-to-completion primarily using labor hours
ineurred, or vatue added, The percentage-of-completion method generally results In the tecognition of reasonably consistent profit margins over the life of'a
contract because we have the ability to produce raasonably dependatils estimates of contract billings end contraot costs. Wo use the level of profit margin that is
most likely to vceur on g contract. If the most tikely profit margin cannot be precisely determined, the lowest probable level of prefit margin in the range of
estimates £ naed until the results can be estimated more precisely. These atrangements are often knplemented over an extended time period and oceasionally
Tequire 08 to revise total cost estimates, Amounts recognized in revenue are caloulated using the progress-to-completion measurement after giving effsct to any
changes in our cosi estimates, Changes to total estimated voniract costs, if any, are recorded dn the petiod they are determined. Bstimated losses on uncompleted
contracts are recorded in the perind in which we Frst detersing that a loys is spperent. For arrangements that include new product releases for which it is difficult
to estimate final profitability except to nssume that o loss will wliimately be incnrred, we recognize revenus under the completed coniract method. Under the
completed cotitract method, reveiiye is recognized only when a contract is completed or substautially complete. Hislorically these amounts have been immaterial,

We recognize royalty revenue when earned under the terms of our third party royally arrangements, provided the foes are considered fived or determinable rnd
tealization of payment is probable, Curcently, our thivd patty royaliies are variable in naturs and such amounts are not considered fixed or determiinable until we
recaive notice of amounts eatned, Typioally, we receive notice of rayalty revenuos carned on a quarterly basis in the immediate quarter following the royalty
roporting period, '

Software Services

Some of our software arrangements include services considered essentlal for the sustemer to use the software for the customer*s purposes. For these sefiware
atragements, beth the software license revenue and the services revenue are tecognized as the services are performed using the percentage-of-completion contract
accounting methed, When software services are not considered essential, the fee allacable to the service slement is recognized as revenue as we perform the
serviced,

Computer Hardware Bquipment

Revenve allocable to computer hardware equipment is recognized when we deliver the equipment and collection is probable.

Posgt-Congract Customer Support

Our oustomers generally enter into PCS agreemenis when they purchase our software licenses, PCS includes telephons sapport, bug fixes, and rights to upgrades
on a when-and-if available basiz. Qur PCS agreements are Lypically renewabile annually. Revenue allocated to PCS is recogmized on o siraight-line bosls over the

period the PGS s provided. All significant costs and expenses associaied with PCS are expensed as incuired,
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Subsctiption-Based Servi
Subscription-based services vonsist of revenwes detived from Saa8 arrangements, which utilize the Tyler privato eloud, and electronie filing transactions.

For Saa8 arrangemenits, we evaluate whether the customer has ihe contractual right to take possession of our sofiware at any time during the hosting period without
significant penalty and whether the customer can feasibly maintain the sofiwate on the customer’s hardware or enter into anether arrangement with a third-party to
Tosl the software. In cages where the customer has the condractuel right to take possession of our soflware al any time durfng the hosting paricd withous significant
penalty and the custormer cmn fensibly maintain the soflware o the customer’s havdware or enter into another arrangement with a third-party to host the software,
we recognize the license, professional services and hosting services revenues pursuant fo ASC 985-6035, Software Revenue Recognition,

For Sua8 arrangements that do not meet the criteria for recognition under ASC 985-605, we aveownt for the elements under ASC 505-25, Multiple Element
Arrangements, using all applicable facts and circumstances, including whether (I} the element hag stand-alone value, (i) there is 1 general right of return and

{iif) the revenue is contingent on delivery of other elements. We allocaie coniract value to each element of the arrangement that qualifies for treatment a3 a separate
element based en VSOE, and if VSOE is not available, thivd-parly evidence, and if third-party evidence is unavailable, estimated selling price, We recognize
hosting setvices ratably oveat the term of the arrangemeont, which range from one to 10 years but ave typically for a petiod of five fo seven years, For professional
services associated with SaaS arrangements that we determine do not have stand-alone value to the customer or are vondingent on delivery of other elements, we
recognize the services revenue ratably over the remaining contractual period once we have provided the custemer access to the software and we may begin billing
for hosting services. We record amounts that have been invoiced in nccounts tecsivable and in deforred revenue or revenues, depending on whetler the revenue
recognition criteria have been met,

Electronic filing transaction fees primarily pertain to documents filed with the courts by attorneys emd other third-parties via our e-filing services and retrieval of
filed docmnents via our aceess services. The elements for these arrangements are aceounted For under ASC 60525, For each document filed with 4 court, the- files
generally pays a transaction fee and a ceurt filing fee 1o us and we remii a portion of the Wransaetion fec and the filing fee to the court. We record as revenue the
iransaction fee, while the portion of the transastion fee remitied to the courts is recorted as cost of sales as we are acting as o principal in the arrangement, Courl
filing fees collected on behalf of the courts and remitied 1o the eourts are recorded on a net basis and thus do not affect the statement of comprehensive income, In
some cascs, we ate paid on a fixed fee basis and recognize the revenue ratably over the contractual period.

Costs of performing services under subscription-besed arrangements are expensed as incurred, except for cetfain divect and incremental contract ovigination and
set-up eosts assaciated with SaaS arrangements. Such direct and ineremental costs &ro capitalized and amortized ratably over the related San$ hogting term,

Appraisal Services;

For our property appraisal projects, we recognize revenue using the proportional performance method of revenue recognition since many of these projects are
implemenied over one to fhree year periods and consist of varicus unique activities. Under this methed of revenue secognition, we identify each activity fot the
appraisal project, with a typical project gencrally calling for bonding, office set up, training, routing of map information, data entry, data coltection, data
verification, informal hearings, appeals and project management. Bach aclivity or act is specifically identified and sssighed an estimated cost, Costs which are
considered to be associated with indiraet activities, such as bonding costs and office set up, are expenged as incurred, These costs are typically billsd as incuered
and are recegnized as revenue equal to cost. Direct contract fulfillment activities and related supervisory costs such as data coltection, data entry and veritication
are expensed ns incuried. The direct costs for these activities are delermined and the total sontract value is then allocated to each activity based on a consistent
profit margin. Each activity is assigned a consistent unit of measure to determine progress fowards completion and revenue is recognized for each activity based
upon fhe percentage complete as applied to the estimated revenue Tor thal activity. Progress for the fulfiflment activities is typically based an lzbor hours ot an
outpyt measure sush as the avmber of parcel connts completed for fhut gotivity, Estimated losses o uncompleted soitracts ate recorded in the period in which we
first determing that a loss is apparent,

Allocation of Revenue in Statements of Comprehensive Incoms

In our statements of comprehensive income, we allocate revenus to softwars Heenses, soltware services, maintenance and hardware and other based ou the VSOR
of fair valug for elements in cach revenue arrangement and the application of the residual method for arrangements in which we have established VSOR of fair
vatue for all undelivered elements. In arrangemnents where we are not able te establish YSOB of Tair value for nll usdelivered elements, reverue is first allocated to
any undelivered elements for which VSO of fair value has been established, We then allocate revenue o any undelivered elements for which VSOE of fair value
has not been established based upon management’s best estimate of fair value of those undelivered elements and apply a rosiduat method to
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determine {he license fee, Management’s best estimate of fair valus of undelivered elements for which VSOR of fair value hag not besn estublished is based upon
the VBOR of similar offerings and other oljective criteria,

Other

The majority of deferred revenue sonsists of uneacned malnfenance revenne that has been billed based on contractual terms in the underlying arrangement with the
remaining balance consisting of payments recelved in advance of revenue being earned under sofiware licensing, subscription-based services, software and
appraisal services and hardware installation. Unbilled revenue is not billable at the balance sheet date but is recoverable over the remaining Iife of the contract
through billings made in accordance with contractual agreements, The termination clauses in our contracts generally provide far the payment for the value of
products delivered and services performed in the event of an earfy termination,

Prepaid expenses and other current asgets inelude direct and incremental costs such as commissiong associsted with arrangements for which revenug recognition
has been deferred. Such costs are expensed at the time the related revenue is recognizad.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of our financial statenents in sonformity with accounting pilneiples generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP™} vequires us to make
estimates and assumpiions that affect the reported antounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and labilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported smounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting peried. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the
application of the percenfage-of-completion end proportional perfermance nethods of revenue recognition, the carrying amount and estimated vseful lives of -
intangible assets, delermination of share-based compensation expense and vahsation allownnce for receivables. Actual results could differ from estimates,

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, equipment and purchased softwars are recorded al original cost and incrzased by the cost ofany significant improvements after purchiase, We expense
maintenance and repairs when incurred. Depreciation and amortization is caleulated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the asset’s estimated useful
life or the term of $he lease in the case of leasehold improvements, For incomes tax purpeses, we use aceslerated depreciation methods ns allowed by ax laws,

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CCSTS
We expensed research and development costs of $43.2 million during 2016 , $29.9 million during 2015 , and $25.7 miltion during 2014
INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and Liability method, Deferred tuxes arise bevause of different treatment between financial stolement aceounting and
tax accounting, known as “temporary difforences.” Wo record the tax sffoct of these feimporary differences as “deferred tax assets” (generally items that can be
used as a tax deduetion or credit in the fujure periods) and “deferred tax liahilities” (generally items that we received a tax deduction for, which have not yel been
recorded in the incume stateimet). The deferred tax assets and liabilitles are measured using enacied tax rules and laws that are expected to be in effect when the
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or setfled, A valuation allowance would be established to reduce deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not
that a deferred tax asset will not be “realized "

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

We have a stock option plan that provides for the grant of stock options tv leey employess, directors and non-employee consultants, Stock aptions generally vest
altet three fo six years of contitmous setvige from the date of grant and have a contractual ferm of 10 years, We account for share-based compensation utilizing the
fatr value recognition purseant to ASC 718, Steck Compensation, See Note 9 — “Share-Baged Compensation” for further information. During fourth quarter of
2016, we adopled Accounting Standards Updats ("ASU") No. 201609 "Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Tmprovements ta Employee Share-Based
Payment Accounting," See "New Accounting Pronomncements" below for further information,
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GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired, including identifiable intangible assets, in connection with our
business combinations. Upon acquisition, goodwill is assigned to the reporting unit that is expeeted fo benefit from the synergies of the business combination,
which is the rgporting unit to which the related acquired technology is assigned. A reporting unit is the operating segment, or a business unit one level below that
eperating segment, for which diserete financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed by exceutive management, We assess goodwill for impeinment
antwally as of April, or motre frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate i6s catrying value may not be tecoverable,

When testing goodwill for impairment quantitatively, we first compare the fair valve of each reporting unit with its carrying amount, If the carrying amount of a
reporting unit exceeds iis foir value, & second atep iy performed to measure the amount of potential impaitment, In the second siep, we compare the implied fair
value of reporting unit geodwill with the carrying emount of the reporting vnit's goodwill. Ifthe carrying smount of reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied
fair value of that goodwill, an impaitment tosg is recognized, The fair values celeulated in our impairment tests are determined ysing discounted cash flow models
involving several assumptions. The assumptions that are vsed are based upon what we balieve a hypothetical marletplace participant would nse in estimating tair
value, We evaluate the reasonableness of the fadr value caloulations of our reporting units by comparing the total of the fair vatue of all of our reporting units to our
total market capitalization.

Our antnal goodwill impairment aualysis, which we performed quentitatively during the second quatter of 2016 , did not result in an impairment charge.
(hher Intangible Assaty

‘We make judgments about the recoverability of purchased intangille assets other than goodwill whenever events or changes in circamstances indieate that an
impairment may exist, Customer base and acquired software each comprise approximately half of eur purchased intangible assets other than goodwill, We review
our enstomer tnover each year for indjcations of impainment. Cur customer turnover has historically been very Jow, There have been no significant impeirments
of intangible asgets in any of the periods presented. If indications of impairment are detertnined to exisi, we measure the recoverability of assets by a comparison
of the carrying amount of the asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the canrying amount of the assets
exgeeds their estimated future casb flows, an impairment charge. is recognized for the ameunt by which the cerrying amount of the assets exceeds the fajr value of
the assets.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

We periodically cvaluate whether current facts or gircumstances indicate that the carrying value of our properiy and equipmont or other long-lived agsets to be held
and used may nol be recoverable. If such citcumstances are determined to exist, we neasure the recoverability of assels to be held and used by a comparisen of the
carrying amount of the #sset or appeopriate grouping of agsots and the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If the
carrying amount of the assets oxaoeds their estimated fhture cash flows, an inpeirment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying arount of the
ussels exceeds the fair value of the assels, Assels to be disposed of would be separaiely presenied in the balance sheet and reporled at the lower ofthe catrying
amount or falt value less costs to sell, and are ne longer depreciated, The assets and liabilities of a disposed group classified as held for sale would be presented
sepavately in the approptiate asset and liability sections of the balance sheet, There have been no significant impairments of long-lived assets in any of the periods
presented,

COSTS OF COMPUTER SOFTWARE

We capitalize seftware development cests upon the establishiment of techinological feasibility and prior to the availability of the product for-gencral relcase to
cusiomers, Soflware development costs primarily consist of petsonnel costs and eent for related office space, We begin to amortize capitalized costs when a
product is available for general release io customers, Amortization expense fs determined on o product-by-product basis at a rate not less than straight-line basis
over the product’s remaining estimated economic life, We have not capitalized any internal software develapment costs in my of the periods preseuted,

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Cash and cash equivalents, aceouils receivables, accounls payables, shorl-lerm obligalions and certain other assets at cost approximate fair value becavse of the
short matarity of these inatruments, The fair value of our revolving line of credit approximates book value os of December 31, 2016, because our interest rates
resof approximately every 30 days or less. Sec Note 6 — “Revalving Line of Credit” for forther discussion.
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As of December 31, 2016 , we have $33.5 million in investment grade corporate and municipal bonds with matutity dates renging from 2016 through mid-2018

. We intend to hold these bonds te maturity and have classified them as such. We believe cost approximates fair value because of the relatively short duration of
these investments, The fair values of these securities are considered Level Il ag they are based on inputs from ¢uoted prices in markets that are not active of fom
olher observable market data. These imvestments are Included In short-term investments and non-current investmenits and other assets.

As of December 31, 2016 , we have $15.0 million invested in convertible preferred stock representing a 20% interest in Record Holdings Pty Limited, a privately
held Australian company specializing in digitizing the spoken word in court and legal proceedings, The fair value of this investinent is based on valuations using
Level ITL, unobservable inputs that are suppotted by little or no market value activity and that are significant to the fair value of the frvesiment,

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK AND UNBILLED RECEIVABLES

Financisi instewinents that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of oredit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts teceivable
fromn trade customers, and investments in marketable securities. Our cash and cash equivalents primarily congists of operating account balances and money market
funds, which sre maintained at several major domestic financial institutions and the balances often exceed insured emounts, As of December 31, 2016 , we had
cash and eash equivalents of $36.2 million , We perform periodic evaluations of the credit standing of these financial institutions,

Concentrations of oredit rigk with respect to receivables are limdied due to the size and geographicet diversity of our custorner base. Histerically, our credit losses
have not been significant. As a result, we do not believe we have any significant concentrations of cradit risk as of December 31, 2016,

We maintain sllowances for doubtful sccounts and sales adjustments, which are provided at the time the revenue is recognized. Since most of our customers are
domestic governmental entities, we rarely incur a loss resulling from the Inability of & customer to make required payments, Events or changes in eircumstances
that indicate that the carrying amount for the allowances for doubtful gscounts and sales adjustments may require revision, include, but are not limited to,
deterioration of 1 customer's financial condition, failure to manage our customer’s expectations regarding the scope of the setyices to be delivered, and defecis or
errors in new versions of enhancements of our software produots.

The following table summarizes the chianges in the allewanees for doubtful necounts and sales adjustments:

Years Bnded Decomber 31,

_ . 2016 2015 2014

Baloiéedt beginatig of yoar e T S % I T " I BRIt
Prcvi‘éiuns for losses - accounts receivable o 4,484 1,756 ' 1,897
Collection ot nopoutis pisviously wesien off S Lo . e B % S e
Deductions for acoonnts charged off or eredits fasued o . (2,728) {1,994) (1,285)

The termination clauses in niest of our contracts provide for the payment for the value of products delivered or services performed in the event of early
terminatfon, Cur property appraisal outsourcing service coniracts can range up to three vears and, ina fow casoes, as long as five years, in duration. In connection
with these coutracts, as well as certain softwere service contracts, we may perform work prior to when the software and services arc billable and/or payable
pursuant to the contract. We have historically revorded such unbilled receivables (costs and estimated profit i excess of billings) in connection with {1) properiy
sppraisal services contracts accounted for using proportional performance accounting in which the tovenue is earned based upon activities performed in one
aeeounting period but the billing normally oceurs subsequently and may span another accounting period; (2) sofiware serviees contracts accounted for using the
percentage-of-completion method of revenue recegoition using labor hours ag a measore of progress towards completion in which the services are performed in
one accounting period but the billing for the software clement of the artangement may be based upon the specific phase of the implementation; (3) software
revenne for which we have ebjective evidence that the customer-specified objective criteria has been met but the billing has not yet been submilled to the
customer; (4} some of our contracts provide for an amonnt io be withheld from a progress billing (generally between 5% and 20% retention) until final and
satisfaclory project completion is achieved: and (5} in a limited number of eases, we may grant extended payment terns, generally lo existing customers with
whom we have a long-term relationship and favorable collsction history,
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We have recorded unbillad receivables of $33.6 million and $29,7 million at December 31, 2016 and 2015 , respectively. Included fn unbilled receivables are
retention receivables of $5.0 million and $4.7 million ai Decober 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and these retentiong become payable upon the completion of
the contract or completion of our fisldwork and formal hearings. Unbilled receivables and retention receivables expected to be collected in axcess of ene year have
been included with accounts recelvable, iong-tanm portion in the accompanying censolidated balance sheets.

INDEMNIFICATION

Most of our sofiware license agreemenis indemnify our customers in the event that the software sold infringes upon the intellectual property rights of a third-party.
These agreements typically provide that it: such event we will either modify er replace the software so that it becomes non-infringing or precure for the custotmer
the right to use the software. We have recorded no tiability agsociated with these indemnificatons, as we are iot sware of any pending or thteatened fnfiingement
actions that are pessibls losses. We believe the estitmated fair value of these intellectual property indenanificetion clauses is minimal,

We have also agreed to indemnify our officers and board members i they are named or threatened to be named as a party to any proceeding by rezson of the fact
that they aeted in such capacity, We maintain directors’ and officers* liability insurance coverage to protect against any such losses, We have recorded no liability
associated with these indenmifications, Because of our insurance coverage, we believe the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts for previous years have been reclassified to conform to the current yeay presentation,
NEW ACCOUNTING PRONQUNCEMENTS
New decowmting Pronauncements Adopted in 2016

Improvements to Emploves Share-Baged Payment Accountin g, In March 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU No. 2016-09,
“Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 713); Improvements i Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting” which simplifies several aspeots of the
accounting for employee share-based payment trangactions, including the accounting for income taxes, forfeitures, and statutery tax withhelding requirements, ag
well as classification in the staternent of cash flows, This standard is effestive for our interim and annnal reporting perinds beginning December 15, 2016, and early
adoption is permitted. We olected to early adept this standard in fourth quarter of 2016, The impact of the early adoption was as follows:

+  The standard eliminates sdditional paid in capital {" APIC") pools and requites excess tex benefits and tax deficiencios to be recorded in the jncome
statement as a discrole item when the awards vest or are setfled. The adoption of this guidence en a prospective basis rosultad in the racognition of exoess
tax benefits in our provision for ineome: taxes.

+  The standard requires excess tax benefits (o be recognized rogardlesy of whether tlie benefit reduces taxes payable, The adoption of this guidance is
applicd on a modified retrospective basis; hewsver, it ¢id not heve an impact oo our retained earnings as of Januaty 1, 2016, as we had previously
recognized all-our excess tax benofits,

+  As permitled, we have slected to continne to estimate forfeitarcs expected 1o ocour to determine the amount of stock-based compensation cost to he
recognized in each period. As such, the guidance relating o forfeitures did not have an iinpact on our retained earnings ag of Januaty 1, 2014,

+  The new guidance changes the caleulation of common stock equivalents for carnings per share purposes.

+  Aspermiited, we elected to apply the statement of eash flows guidance ihat cash flows related to exosss tax bencfits be presented as an opersting activity
rafrospectively,
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Adoption of the new standard resulted in the recognition of excess tax beneflts in our provislon for fheome taxes rather than APIC of $29.6 million for the period
ended December 31, 2016. As of December 31, 2016, the change in the caleulation of cammon stock equivalents added approximately 519,000 weightad average
shares for the diluted earnings per share caleulations, The impaci to our previously reporled quarterly results for fiscal year 2016 iz s follows:

Three Monihs Ended Three Months Exnded Three Months Ende
March 31, 2016 June 30, 2016 September 30, 2016
(It thouisainds, except per shire asnounts) - AsReportel AsAdjusied - AsReportsd AsAdfusted  As Reportsd  * As Adisted
Iriconte stifmerts: o o oo . N
Income fax provisian 8 10495  § 9350 § 11,323 & 5188 % 14,155 % 989
- Netinesine -~ 150 % IR % 1887 8 25007 % 2228 ¥ 35450
Basic earnings per common share b 047 8 0.50 % 052§ 069 § 061 % £.97
- Dofluted evprisigs per Sotitinon shere § 04 % . 047§ 049§ 08§ 638 3 B9l
' Diluied welghted average commen sheres ' '
outstanding 38,557 39,071 38,156 38,738 38,506 39,062
Statement of cash Bows:
. Netvosh provided by operating activifies. .~ doR70- § 41320 8 BT C§ w0y 6L § 0 a1
Met cash (used) provided by financing activities  § (15,860 §  (16911) % 5,668 § 25 0§ (M9 § 0 (90,095
Presentalion of Fi i afements « Going Concern , In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, "Prosentation of Financial Statements - Going

Concern (Subtopic 205-40); Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue es 9 Going Concern." The guidance requires an entity te avaluate
whether there are conditions or events, in the aggregale, that raise substantial deubt about the entity’s abilify to continue as a going concern within one year after
the date that the financial siatements arc igsued (or within one year after the financial statements are available ta be issued when applicable) and to provide related
footnate disclosures in certain circumstances. The guidance is effective for the amual petiod ending afier December 15, 2016, and for ammual and interim periods
thereafler, We adopted this standard in the fourth gquarter of 2016 and its adoption did 1ot have an impact on out cotisolidaled finmmeial statements.

Recent Accounting Guidance not yet Adopted

Revenye from Contracts with Customers, On May 28, 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenve from Contracts with Castomers,” This ASU is the
resull of & convergence project between the FASE and the International Acconnting Standards Board. The oore prineiple behind ASU No, 2014-09 is that an entity
should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods and services to customers in oo owseunt fhet reflects the conaideration to which the entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for delivering those goods and sorvices. This moedet involves a five-step process that includes identifying the conlract with the customer,
identifying te performance obligations in the contract, determining the transzction price, aliooating the trangaction price to the performanee oblizations in the
coutrget and recognizing revenue when {or as) the: entify sotistics the performance obligations. The ASU allows two metheds of adoption: a full retrospective
approach where three years of financial informetion are presented in accordance with the new standard, and a modified retrospective approach where the ASU is
applied 1o the mast current period presented in the financial statements, Wo currently enticipate adopting the standard using the full retrospective method fo restate
each prior reporting petiod presented, Our ability te adopt using the firll retrespeclive method is dependent on system readiness, including software procured from
third-party providers, and the completion of our analysis of information necessary to restate prior period financial statements,

The now standard requires spplication no later than anmual reporting periods beginning affer December 15, 2017, including interfim reporting periods therein;
however, public entities are permilted to elect to early adopt the new standard, We are assessing the financial impact of adopting the new standard and the methods
of adoption; however, we are currenty unable to provide a ressonable cstimate regarding the financial impact. We will adopt the new standard in fiscal year 2018,

We anticipate this standard will have a matexial impact on our consolidated financial staiements. While we are continuing to assess all potentin? impacts of the
gtanuiowd, we eurrently believe the most significant impact relates to our accounting for safiware license fees,
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instailation foes, ahd incremental cost of obiaining a contract, Spesifically, under the new standard we expevt software Jicense fees under perpetual agresments will
1o lenger be subject to 100% discount allocations from other elements in the contract, Discounts in artangements will be allocated across all deliverables
increasing lcense revenuss and decreasing rovenues allocated to other performance obligations. In addition, in most cases, net loense foss (total lcense fees less
any allocated discounts} will be recognized at the point in tims thet control ¢f the software license transfers to the custemer versus pur corrent policy of
recognizing revenue only fo the extent billable per the contractual terms. Time-based license fees cunrently recognized over the license term will no longer be
recognized over the period of the license and will Inslead be recognized at the point i time that contrel of the software license transfors to the customer.
Installation fees will no longer be considered distinot performance obligations and thesefors will be recognized over the term of the artangerent or life of (e
performance obligation. We expect revenue related to our a8 offerings and professional services to remain substantially unchanged, Due to the complexity of
ceriait contiracts, the actval revenue recognition treatment required under the standsrd will be dependent on contract-specific terms and may vary in some instances
from tecoghition at the time of billing. Application of the new standard requires that meremental costs directly related to obtaining a contract (typically sales
commissions phiz any associated fringe benefits) must be recognized as an assst end expensed over the expected life of Be arrangement, unless (hat 1ife is Jess than
ohe yeat. Cutrantly, we defer sales commissions and recognize expense over the relevant initial contractwal term. With the adoption the new stendard, we expest
amortization periods te extend past the initial term,

Loages., On February 25, 2016, the FASB issued its new lease accounting goidence in ASU No, 2016-02, “Leases (Topie 842)." Under the new guidance, lessees
will be required {o recognize the following for eli leases (will the exception of shori-lerm leases) at the commencement date:

¢ Alease ligbility, which is a lessee's obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and
+  Aright-oftuse assel, which iz an assel that represcuts the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specificd asset for the lease term.

Lessees (for capital and operating leases) and lessors (for sales-type, divoct financing, and operating leases) must apply a modified retrospective transition approach
for leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements, The modified retrospective
approsch would not require any transition accounting for leases that expired before the earliest comparative period presented, Lessees and lessors may not apply a
full redrespective transition appreach.

The ASU is efifective for fiveal years beginning after Deceraber 15, 2018, including inferim perlods therein, Barly application is permitted for all business entities
upen issuance. We ate assessing the financial impact of adopting the new standard; however, we are currently unable to provide g reasonable estimate regarding
the financial impact. We expect ta adopt the new standard in fiseal vear 2019,

@ ACQUISITIONS

016
During 2016, we asquired a business for approximately $7.4 million in cash paid, This acquisition is immaterial to our consolidated financial statemonts, The
operating tesults of this smaf] acquisition are inctuded with the eperating resulis of the Enterprise Software segment since its date of acquisition, The purchase
priee allocation for this acquisition is reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2016 and is preliminary,

2013

On November 16, 2015, we acquited all the capital stock of New World Systems Corporation (“NWS™), which provides publie safety and financial solutions for
local governments. The purchase price, net of ¢ash acquited of $22.5 million , comprised of $337.5 million in easl, of which $4.0 million was accerued at
December 31, 2015, and 2.1 million shares of Tylet common stock valued ot $362.8 million , which was based on the clesing price on November 16, 2015, We
also incurred fess of approximately $5.9 miltion for finencial advisory, logal, accounting, due diligenee, valuation and other various servicos necesaary to complete
the acquisition. These fees were expensed in 2015 and are Included in selling, genersl and adminisiraiive expenses,

In 2016, we paid $2.0 million related fo the werking capiial noldback of $4.0 million and reduced the acorued Hability, Our final valuation of the fair market value
of NWS" assefs and liabilities esulied in adjustmenis to the preliminasy opening balance sheot, These adjustments reluted to a reduction in deferred tevenue and
related deferred income taxes and additional reserves for accounts receivable and contingencies resulting in a net decrease to goodwill of approximately § 7.4
million .
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On May 29, 20135, we acquired all of the capital stock of Brazos Technology Corporation (“Brazos™), which provides mobile hand held solutions primarily to law
enforcement agencies for field accident reporting and elcetronically issuing oitations. The purchase price, net of cash acquired of $3 12,000 and including debt
assumed of $733,000 , was $6.1 million in cash end 12,500 shares of Tyler common stock valued at $1.3 million .

The operating results of NWS and Brazos are included with the operaiing results of the Enterprise Software segment since their dates of acquisition, The fait value
of the agsets and liabilities acquired are based on valuaiions using Level 111, uncbserveble inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are
signilicant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities,

(3) PROPERTY AND BQUIPMENT, NET
Froperty and equipment, net consists of the following at December 31:

Useftll
Lives
(yetrs) 2016 2015
Lanid T : A ' e R AL
Building and leasehold improvements 5-30 94,924 71,020
Compiir syoipmsitand purchaséd sofware =~ . - o U -] COBSET T 4
TFurniture and fixtores ) 5 19,897 16,651
Trasporfonsqiptiese . . s L Y e
180,853 144,324
Aopumutated deprectetlon add eitortization © L - " Lo L s6ERs) W

Property and equipment, net 5 124,268 § 101,112

Depreciation expense was §13.4 millicn during 2016, $9.1 miltion during 2015, and $7.% million during 2014 .

In 2016, we purchased an offive building in Falmontl, Maine, thal was previously leased from an entity owied by an executive’s father and brother, for
approximately §9.7 million , and paid § 8.0 million for construction to expand a building in Yarmonth, Maine.

We own office buildings i Bangor, Falmowth and Yanmouth, Maine; Lubbock and Plano, Texas, Troy, Michigan; and Moraine, Ohio. We [ease some space in
these buildings to third-party tenaits. These Jeases expire between 2017 and 2025 and are expected to provide vental income of approximately $1.6 million during

2017, $1.9 million during 2018 , $1.9 million during 2019, §1.7 millien during 2620 , $1.4 million during 2021, end $5.2 million thercafter. Reatal income from
third-party tenants was $1.7 million in 2016, $913,000 in 2015, and $945,000 in 2014

)] GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Otlier intangible assets and related acoumulated amortization sonslsts o the following at December 31:

2016 2015
Liruss vifying attguint o aequislion Mtinglhies: _ _ , . oo T e
Customer related intangibics ' $ 186,231 $ 181,671
Acniredsofwiee - T R B |- SR | 2.
Trade name ' 11,065 10,765
" Lénser anduired - B e oL B - R . 3’6% .
377,086 368,796
Ascoutilited smonation - T [ .. -/} AR (L)
Total intangibles, net b 267,259 § 295,378

Total amartization expense for infangibles was $36.4 million in 2016, $10.3 million in 2015 , and $6.4 milllon during 2014 .
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The allocation of acquisition intangible assets is summarized in the following table:

December 31, 2016 Ducember 31, 2015
Weighted Weighted
Grogs Averape Giross Average
Catryliyr Amortization Acenmulated Carrying Amortization Actuntutated
Amount Poriod Amoriization Amount Period Amertization
Noti-atogrtizable intangibled: L ST : L
Goodwill b 650,237 — ¥ — ¥ 653,666 —  § —
Amortizable intamgibles: . 4 . , A : L o
Customer related intangibl e 186,231 15 years 51,491 181,671 15 yoears 18,754
Actuired SGﬁWarB T : 175,006 7 yenis COBANS L - iTR6He - 7 s 32,880
Trade name 1 1,065 T2 years 2,740 10,765 12 years 1,747
s nequiréd 00 - 388k Gyemy . . CABY . 3Em | Gyedrs 37
The changes in the carrying amonnt of goodwill for the two years ended December 31, 2016 are as follows:
Enlerprise Apprasal
Software and Tax Total
Balariteds o | 2B12014 Lo ol ey imses 8 . B3sT % 124,142
Goodwill acquired duung 2015 related 1o the pu] chase of NWS 527,618 — 527,618
Gondwill doqulfed duriiig 2015 rolated 16 the purokose of Bromos . - © . 1906 . 806
Balance as of 12/31/2013 ‘ 647,100 6,557 653,066
Gﬁﬁﬂk»zﬂ;l-wi]ui’retlﬂin-ﬂig" 3016 telted o a sl apquisitlon. 1 . T 3,983 w— Rt
Pur ChﬂSB prige ad,]uslmenw related to NWS ﬂcqu[smon _ {7.372) —_— (7,372)
g R . I A x5

EBstimated atnval amertization expense relating to acquired leases will be recorded as a reduction to hardware and other revenue and is expected to be $442,000 in
2017, $426,000 in 2018, $373,000 in 2019, $314,000 in 2020, $312,000 in 2021 and $1.3 millien thereadter . Bstimated annual amortization expense relgiing to

acquisition intangibles, mcludmg acqu]red software, for which the amortization expense is recorded as cost of revenues, for the next five years is 4s follows;

2018 '
2015
2020
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(5) ACCRUED LJABILITIES
Acorued Habilities consist of the following at Decernber 31:
2016 2015
Actrued wages, botinzes 4nd comnissiots o Lo . U A
Other acorued liabilities 16,993 17,150
S o 539 8 ABis6

© REVOLVING LINE OF CREDIT

On November 16, 2015 , we entered into a $300.0 million Credit Agreement (the “Credit Facility”) with the various lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, a5 Administrative Agent. The Credit Facility provides for a tevolving credit line of up to § 300.0 inillion , including a $10.0 million sublimit
for letters of eredit. The Credit Facility matures on November 16, 2020 . Borrowings under the Credit Fecility may be used for general corporate putposes,
including working capital requirements, acquisitions and share repurchases.

Borrowings under the Credit Faciltty bear interest at a rate of eitlier (1) Wells Fargo Bank®s prime rate (subject to certain higher rate determinations) plus 2 margin
of 0.25% to 1.00% or (2) the 30, 60, 90 or 180 day LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1.25% to 2,00% . As of Decetber 31, 2016, our intsrest rate was 1.96% . The
Credit Facility is secured by substantially all our assets. The Credit Facility requires us to maintain ceriain financial ratios and other finaneial conditions and
prohibits us from making vertnin investments, advances, cash dividends or loans, and limits Incurrence of additional indebtedness and Hens, As of December 31,
2016 , we were in compliance with those covenants .

As of December 31, 2016 , we had $10.0 milifon in ontstanding borrowings and unused borrowing capecity of $287.8 million under the Credil Facility . In
addition, as of December 31, 2016 , we hiad two outstanding letters of credit totaling $2.2 million in favor of s etent contract and the expansion of an office
building in Yarmouth, Maine. Both letters of eredit guarantee our perfermance under each contract angd both expire in 2017,

We paid inferost of $1.9 million in 2018 aud $223,000 in 2015,

) INCOME TAX

The income tax provision (benefit) on income from operations consists of the following:

Yeoars Ended Decomber 31,

‘ 2016 2015 2014
Curtent: . . - e T T e T
' Tedenal $ 41,366  $ 44841 8 34,504

“Stale. e T .. TS L. -
48,389 51,511 39,331

Delured © T . .. O < ]
$ 19450 § 43555 § 35,527

Reconciliation of the U.S. statutory income tex rate to our effective incomie tax expense rafe for operations follows:

Years Ended December 31,

_ 2015 2615 2014

Poderal indoime tax expense atiatutoryeste . . . .. . ¥ | T#357 % 0 940§ ¢ 3500
State income tax, net of federal income tax benefit 4,807 3,7 15 2,867
Ddﬁm‘sliépwﬂ,ut:li'zrﬂ-;s_letiyfiﬂiﬁa._-i?l'eﬁmﬁnn L i o G LY.y PR ¢ 1 W ¢ K|
Excess tax benefits related to steck option exercises (29,582) - ) —
Nonfeductible bustnoss expensés. - .. 1 S S X £ R VU S - 1
Other, et N ' (64) (7 (169)
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Due to the adoption of ASU No, 2016-09, federal and state exceds tax benefits fram stock aplion exercises for the year ended December 31, 2016 are reflected as a
reduction of the provigion for Income taxes, whereas they were previously accounted for as an increase to sharcholders® equity. See Note 1 "Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies” for additianal information related te this adoption.

The tax effiscts of the major items recorded as deferced tax assels and liabilities ag of December 31 ave:

2016 2015
Tefsired fieome tax assets: o , , . '
Operating expenses not curreﬁtly deduotible b 18721 § 9,953
Stock option anid other wiiployte bengfit plamy . : . . 19665 _ 13,504
Capital loss and etedit caﬂ'yf_orward _ _ — 17%
Tolal dofeired inoome fax assets ™ - o S ossase - MG
Deferred income tax liabilities:
fatanpible nssets 000 . . . o T g U {108,754) {113,653y
Property end equipment ' (3,207 (2,781}
Total deferred mcome tax lial?i] ities {107,165) (114,662)
Not deforcsd nconse th liabiltley -~ o TR w8 (6871 % (91,006]

Although realization is not assured, we believe it is more likely than not that all the deferred tax assets will be realized, Accordingly, we believe no valuation
allowancs is required for the deforred tax assets. However, the amount of the deferred tax asset considered reaizable could be adjusted in the future i7 estimates of
reversing tuxable tempotaty ditferences are revised. There wers no vnrecognized tax benefits during any of the reported peripds.

The Infernal Revenue Servics (“IRS™) is exemining cur U.S, income tax returh for the year 2012 . As of February 21, 2017, no significant adjustments have been
proposed by any taxing jurlsdiction. We are unable to malke a reasonzble estimats ag to when cash settlemeats, if any, will occur.

We are subjoct to TS, federal tax as well as income tax of multiple state and local jurisdictions, We are no longer subject to United States federal income tax or
state and local Ingome tax examinations for years befare 2011,

We paid income faxes, net of refunds reeeived, of $30.2 million in 2016, $27.3 million in 2015 , snd $10.2 millien in 2014 |

() SHAREHQLDERS” EQUITY

The following table details activily in our conymen stock:

Years Bnded December 31,

2018 2015 14
Shares Amount Shares Amgunst Shares Amount
Swck gption exercisoy . . - 0T 8§ 23327 ULl 23380 - $55 .§ - 14880
Purchases of commeon stock (882) (112,699) {5) (645) (254) (22,817j
Fmployee stisisk filam garehuses L R A %= BT 48 S g R i 1t :
Shares issued for acquisitions ' — — 2,149 364,333 17 1,473

Subsequent to Deocember 31, 2016 and through February 21, 2017 , we repurchased 42,000 shares for an aggregate purchase price of $6.2 million . As of
February 21, 2017, we had authorization from oue board of dirsctors to tepurchase up o 2.0 million additional shares of our conmmon stock.
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) SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Share-Based Compensation Plan

We have a stock option plan that provides for the grant of stock options to key employees, directors and non-employee consultants, Stocl options generally vest
after three o six years of continuous service from the date of grant and have a conlractual term of 10 years. Once options become exercisable, the emplayse can
purchase shares of our common stock at the market price on the date we granted the oplion. We account for share-based compensation wilizing the fair value
recognition pursuant to ASC 718, Stock Compensation. During fourth quarter of 2016, we adopted ASU No, 2016-09 "Improvements to Employae Share-Based
Payment Accounting,” See Note 1 - "Summary of Significant Accounting Policles” for further inforimation,

Az of December 31, 2016, thers were 2,9 million shares available for future grants under the plen from the 20.0 million shares previously approved by the
shareholders,

Determining Fair Value of Stock Compengation

Valuation and Amortization Method, W+ estimate the faft value of shere-baged awards granied vsing the Black-Scholes option valustion model, We amortize the
fair value of all awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite servics periods, which are generally the vesting periods.

Brpected Life, The expected life of awards granted represents the period of time that they are expected to be outstanding. The expected life represents the
weighted-average period the stock eptions ars expected to be outstanding based primarily on the options® vesting terms, remaining conilractual life and the
employess' expected exercise based on historical patterns,

Bxpected Volutility. Using the Black-Scholes option valuation mode], we estimate the volatility of our common stock ai the date of grant bused on the historical
volatility of our common stocle.

Risk-Free Interest Rate. We base the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scheles option valuation model on the implied yield currently available on U.S.
Treasury zero-coupon issues wilih ait squivalent remalning fenm equal 1o the expecied lifs of the award,

Bxpected Dividend Yield, We have not paid any cash dividends on our commeon steck in more than ten years and we do not anticipate paying any ¢ash dividends in

the foreseeable future. Consequenily, we use an expected dividend yield of zero in the Black-Scholes opdion valuation model,

Txpected Forfeitures. We use historizal data to estimaie pre-vesting option forfeitucas, We tecerd share-based compensation enly for those awards that are
cxpeoted to vest.

The following weighted averngs assumpiions were used for eptiong pranted:

Years Ended December 31,

_ ) ‘ _ 2016 2015 2614

Bsppopsd i nysar . - 5 0 0 e T ey TR S
Expected volatility ‘ 29.3% 28.3% 30.9%
Rigeffesidatontiare” . 0 i 0 Domc e g T e L
Expeted forfeiture rate —% 1.7% 3.0%

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense related to share-based awards which Is recorded in the statements of comprehensive income;

Yearz Ended December 31,

. ‘ _ _ 2016 2015 2014

Cowt of Soliwars sorvipes, Malntotanse and subselplions - - R R I TS T ST

Selling, general and administrative Bxpenses . 23,‘]99 ]6,802 o 12,642

Tq_lﬂlﬂmr%ﬂjﬁ_‘&‘@d.ﬁétilpéhéﬁt{ﬁﬂe%péhs’és‘_ ‘ e ' B2 AN AT A U S
Tax benefit ' ' ' (30,059) (5,986) 4237
" Net (deerease) Inoreasirin nethneme . o 0 N e O
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Adoption of ASU 2016-02 resulted in the recognition of excess tax benefils in our provision for income taxes rather than paid-in capital of $29.6 million for perind
ended December 31, 2016,

Stock Option Activity
Options pranted, exercised, forfeited end expited are summarized as follows:
Weighted
Average
Weighted Remninlig
Nuinber of Average Exerofse Contractual Life Aggregate
Shares Price (Years) Intringic Value
Ouwsgridlog 4t Decombior 31,2013~ o O Eme % mss T ' T
Granted ‘ 675 54,15
Breedded - . - - U A ) I A L
Forfeited 3 3744
Ookandifig ot Decetiber 31,2084 - - T T SEmeT T qig
Granted ’ . ' B 4 o 14sm
“Brerclged. - - o S T O odgy .Eﬁﬁi 2
Fotfeited ' ‘ (2) 19.61
Oiiislanding af Deoember 31,2015 -~ . Y 7P
Granted I ' 846 147.25
CBmersised . - o T L S Ey L 28
Torfeited | en 95.33
Outstanding Bt Desgmber 31,8006 . . 0 7 S JE 7O T IR S S 1 X
Hxercisable at December 31, 2016‘ 2311 58.07 6 $ 168,460

We had unvested options to purchase 2,8 million shares with a weighted average grant date exercise price of $104.91 as of December 31, 2016 and unvested
optiong to putchase 3.1 million shares with & weighted average grant date exercise price of $78.86 ag of December 31, 2015 . As of December 31, 2016 , we had
$80.1 million of total vnrecognized compensation cost related to unvestad options, not of expected forfeitures, which is expected to be amortized over a weighted
averape amortization period of 3.2 years,

Other information peraitdng to option activity was.as follews during the twelve months ended December 31
2616 HHS 2014

;%Ejgﬁfeam-rfag_e‘sgr@ﬁtgaaté:fair.vziiﬁﬁﬁfs:@ok'*éj_iﬁqﬁsfgi-émgd' T o F SR SV T
‘T'otal infrinsic value of slock options exercised 103,703 149,542 69,768

Emplovee Stogk Purchage Plan

Under owr Employee Stock Purchage Plan (“BSPP”) patticipants mzy contzibute up 1o 15% of their annual conpensation to purchase common shares of Tyler. The

purchage price of the shares is equal to 83% of the cloging price of Tyler shargs an the last day of each quarterly offering period, As of December 31, 2016, there

were 847,000 shares available for fulure grants under the BSPP from the 2,0 million shares previously approved by the stockholdets,
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(10) EARNINGS PER SHARE

Bagic eamings and diluted earnings per share data were computed as follows;

Yeurs Ended December 31,

2016 2015 2014

Nuinerator foi baste snd dilited camings per shiote: o S S :
Net income $ 100,857 % 64,869 § 58,940
Denotiifisters . : B o T ST T :
Weighted-average basic commeon shares outstanding 36,448 34,137 33,011
 Assumd eonversfon of diititive seeuities; ST e o

Stock options 2,513 2,415 2,390
‘Devioidator for. dilnted snriings per sliate - R e

= Adjisted woighted-averige siiates . Co e ke e eSS BT
Barnings per common share;
DeBaie oo v o G s A0 79

Diluted $ 282 § 1.7 § 1.66

Stock opilons representing the right to purchase common stack of 786,000 sharcs in 2016 , 417,000 shares in 2015 , and 481,000 shares in 2014 were noi included

in the compuiation of diluted ¢amings per share because (heir inclusion would have had an anti-dilutive effect, During fourth quarter of 2016, we adopted ASU No.

201609 requiring the recognition of excess tax benefits as a component of income tax expense; these benedits were hisiorically recognized in equity, As the
standard required 1 prospective method of adoption, our 2016 net inceme Includes a $29.6 million income tax benefit due to the adoption that did not occur in the
comparable periods presented above. In addition, the stendard updates ihe method of caleulating diluted shares resulting in the inclusjon of 519,000 additional
shares in our diluted EPS calculation that is not comparsble to the other periods presented, Refer to Noto 1 "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" for
further discussion of this new aceounting standard,

(11} LLEASES

We lease office facilities for use in our operations, as well ag transportation, computer and other equipment. Most of our leases are nhon-gnncelable operating lease
agreemonts and they expive at various dates through 2023 . Tn addition to rent, the leases generally roquire us to pay faxes, maintensnce, insurance and certain
ofhier eperating expenses.

Rent expense was approximaiely $6.7 miliion in 2016 , $7.2 million m 2015 , and $6.7 million in 2014 , which includad rent expense associated with rclated party
lease agreements of $330,000 in 2016, $1.8 million fn 2015, and $1.7 million in 2014 .

Future minimum Jease payments under all non-cancelable leases at December 31, 2016 are as follows:

Years Eading December 31,

017 T A Ty sm
2018 4221
50 S S : 1.
2020 ) 3,273
208 . SR T T X - 3
Thereafier - ' 601
Tiotal S ' : '

22

P e e nEemn i



{12} EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We provide a defined contribution plan for the majeslty of our empleyees meeting minimum service requirements, The employees can eontibute wp to 30% of
their current compensation to the plan subjoct to certain statutory limitations, We centribute p to a maximum of 3% of an employee’s sompensation 1o the
plan. We made contributions to the plan and charged opsrating results $6.9 miflion durlng 2016, $5.3 miilion during 2015 , and $4.3 million during 2014 ,

{13) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Other than routine litigation incidental to our business, thete are no material legal procesdings pending 1o which we are patty or to which any of our properties ars
mibject,

(14 SEGMENT AND RELATED INFORMATION
We are a major provider of integrated information management solutions and services for the public sector, with a focus on local aid stafe gOVEImnents,
We provide our seftware systems and services and appraisal services through four business units, which foous on the following produsts:

*  financial management, education and planning, regulatory shd mainienance software solutions;

«  financial management, municipal courts, and land and vital records management sofiwars solutions;
*  courts andd justice and public safety soflware solulions; and

«  appraisal and tax software solutions and property appraisal services,

in aceordance with ASC 280-19, Sepment Reporting, the financial management, education and planning, regulatory and maintenance software solutions unit;
financial management, municipal courts and land and vital records management soflware solutions wnit: and the courts and justice and public safsty software
golutions unit meet the oriteria for ageragation and are presented in one reportable segment, Enterprise Software (“ES™). The BES segment providas municipal &nd
county povernments and schaols with seftware systems end services to mest their information technology and sutomation needs for mfssion-crltical “back-office™
fumetions such as financial management and courts and justice end public safety prosesses. The Appraisal and Tax (“A&T™) segment provides systeims and
software that automaie the appraisal and assessment of real and personal property as well as propetty appraisal outsourcing services for local povernments and
taxing authorities. Property appraisal-outsourcing services include: the physical inspection of coimmercial and residential propertics; data collestion and
processing; computer analysis for property valuation; preparation of tax rolls; community education; and arbitration belween taxpayers and the assessing
jurisdiction,

We cvaluale performance based on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is business segment operating ineome, We define segment operating
moome for our business units as incoime bofore noneash amortization of intangible assets associated with their sequisition, interest sxpense and income

taxes. Segmment operating incomns includes intercompeny transactions. The majority of intercompany transections relate ta contracts invelving mare fhan one unit
and are valued bascd on the confractual arrangement. Segment operating income for corporate primarily consists of compensation costs for the executive
management team and certain accounting and administrative steff and share-based compensation expense for the entire company. Corpotate segment operating
income also includes revenues and expenses related to a company-wide user conference. The accounting policies of the repostable segments aro the same ag those
described in Note 1, “Swinmary of Significant Accounting Policies,”

Segment nssets include net accounts recefvable, prepaid expenses and otler current assets and net property snd equipment, Corporale assets consist of cash and
investments, prepaid insurance, intengibles associated with acquisitions, deferred income taxes and net property and equipment mainly rolated to unallocated
infermation and technolagy assets,

ES segment capital expenditures in 2016 included $17.7 million for the expansion of an existing building and purchage of a buflding and land.
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As of the year ended December 31, 2016

+

Re'vemle_s ) )
Software licenses and royalties
Subwerlptions

Software setvices

Mirttenance

Appraisal services

Hudware and other .

Intercompany ‘

Toeal séventiés :
Depreciation and amortization expense
Yegmont opsrating lincorns
Capital expenditures

Sepirottt asgeld

As of the year ended Degember 31, 2015

Hevormes . - _
Software licenses and royalties
Subsceiptipns . - A
Sot".t-a‘fau'e services

Mpintenanoe ..

Appraisal services

Handwatt dnd olher

Iistereompany

Totl Teveniss |
Depreciation and amoriization expenge
Sugihent oporiiivy oot

Capital expenditwres

Begment assoly

Enterprise
Software

Appraisal
and Tax

Corporafe

Totals

- 304,380

68,344
135,545
156,478

SR PV A

6,142

5,462

7,188

16,326

18,580 -

26,287

B

3,018 -

(6,742)

74,306
142,704
174,804

- 32206y

26,287
RTE

835,902
C1gu817

LT R

43,962

23,843

Enterprise

v yAAEE

984

L 1B,085. -

1,432
- 31,769

Appraial

5,727
5,355
(11,83)
11,448
- 1,030,915

=

756,043
50,301
CABLETL
36,723

C 1,357,943

BRI V2 B

Software

54376
T8 -

129,068

4,025

and Tax

4,632

% 7%
16,784

25,065

13- E

17,651 - .

Corporate

L L

4580 .
(4,025)

Talals

49,008

" uas
139,852
345,837
25,065

S Y827

724

TS

15,413

6,112

385871

R
867

LA

646
Y 22,283

3,294

6,746
110

sy

ER

19,574
118,388
13,504

1,386,570

“WLim




Ag of the year ended December 31, 2014

Enterprise Appraisal
Soflware and Tax Corposate Totals

Revepues - T ' T T
Software Jicenses and royalties $ 46,047 § 3018 % — & 49,065
Substriptions 84593 3,528 R 87.84%
Softwate gervices 104,146 9,675 — 113,821
Minigiatice 195,881 - - . - 16815 : — - 218,69 |
Appraisal services e 21,802 — 21,802
Hatdware mid otber, . 5398 o 2:480 | 869
Intercompany ' 2,3312 — (2,812) —
Total revelis. I S8 ABB0e 8 3k § G335 8§ 4da0i
Deprecfation and amortization expense 11,140 866 2,559 14,603
Segmitns opstating fhovtie | - Cdmges L 1eed {25,370) 101,226 -
Capital expenditures 3,644 350 5,446 9,449
Segmont assels $ 170369 § - 64a % senos0 % - seodaz

Reconeiliation of reportable segment operating Yeoars Bnded December 31,

income to the Company's consolidated totals: 2016 2013 2014

Totalsegiient optraiing soine SR S ligssE § 101226

Amortization of uequired software (22,235) (4,440 (1,858)

‘Amonization af Gosfoier and frads niims intadgibles Coe ARy (56088, 4,345)

Other (expense) income, net ‘ (1,998) 381 {355)

Trivonve beflsrg oot taxes

w07 8 Tkadd- § o 94487

(15) QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (unaudited)

The following table contains selected finmeial information from wnaudited statements of income ot cach quarter of 2016 and 2015

Quirters Bnded
2016 2015
Dt 31 Scpt, 30 Jug30  Mar.31 Deg, 31(b) Sept. 30 June 30 Mat. 21

Hevenires. S SUBEART 8 10RA07 ¥ IBROTYT ¥ 1005 . 8 ASKYI6 6 18045 § 146295 . § 134,968
Gross profit 92,817 93,480 86,936 82118 73222 71,833 68,259 63,879
‘Tncoriss bafote dngoine tixes () BRI aeAY - 86195 L 2REM - 1600 UM B8 2738
Netincome (8) 31,196 35,430 25,007 18,224 8,618 20,142 18,836 17,273
Bernings por dilitod share: o080 % N CE L 0Es 5 04y 80 0837 & 058 5 652 048
Shares uged in computing difuied o

carnings per shave (a) 38,975 39,062 38,738 39,071 317,864 36,349 36,007 35,895

(&) During fourth guarter 2016, we adopted AST No. 2016-09 requiring the recognilion of excess tax benefits as a component of income fax expense; these

benelits were historieally recognized in equity. As the standard required a prospective method of adoplion, out Tourth quarter 2016 het income includes a $9.2
niillion invome tax benefit due to the adoption that did not coour in the comparable prior year periods presented above. The three menths ended March 31,

June 30, and September 30, 2016, respectively, have been adjusted for tho newly adopied standard. Refer to Note 1 "Summary of Significani Accounting

Policies" for farther digcussion of this nevr aceounting standerd,

(b) Cperating resuliy for the three months ended December 31, 2015, inchude $5.9 million for finencial advisory, legal, sccounting, due diligence, valuation ang

other expenses necessary to completo the NWS acquisition as well as $3.5 million amortization expense related o NWS acquisition intangibles.
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Fixhibit 23

Consent of Independsnt Registered Public Accounting Firm
We congent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement Form $-§ No. 333-205983) pertaining to the Tyler Technologies, Inc. 2010 Stock Qption Plan,
(2) Registration Statement (Form 5-8 No., 333-16349%) perfaining to the Tyler Technologiss, Inc. 2010 Stoek Option Plan, and
(3 Regisiration Statement (Form 8-8 No. 333~182318) pertaining to the Tyler Technolegies, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan;

of our teports dated February 22, 2017, with sespeet te the consolidated financial statements of Tyler Technologies, Inc., and the effectiveness of internal control
over financlal reperting of Tyler Techiologles, Inc,, included in this Annual Report {Form 10-K) of Tyler Technologies, Inc. for the year ended December 31,
2016.

/s/ BRNST & YOUNG LLP
Dallas, Texas
February 22, 2017




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

1, John 8, Marr, Jr., cortify that:

1,

2.

I have reviewed this annval report on Form 10-K of Tylat Technologies, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contadn any unteue statement of 2 material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under whish such statements were made, not misleading with respect o the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financis! statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all materia! respects the
financial condition, results of eperutions and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying otficer aud I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15{(e)} and intemnal control over our financial reporting (as defined in BExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for Tyler
and have;

a. Designed such disclosure centrels and procedures or caused such diselogure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
engure that material information relating te the registrant, Including its divisions, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the peried in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such Internal control over financial reparting, or cavsed such inferpal control over financial Teporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonuble assurance regarding the reliability of finaneial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evahated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report sur conclusions.about the
effectivensss of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of fhe end of the perind covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial teporting that cocurred during the registrant’s most rocent
fiseal quarter {The registrant’s fourth guarter in the case of an annual repor() that s materially affected, or is reasonably likely to maferiatly
affect, the registrant’s internal contrel over financial reporting; and

The tegistrani’s other certitying officer and I have disclesed, based on our most recent evaluaiion of internal conirol over financial reporting, to the
regisirant’s auditors and the audit conmmittee of the regisicant’s board of direotors (or persons performing the equivalent fimetion):

a. All significani defiiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of infernal eonitnls over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to advessely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b Any fraud, whether or not materizl, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the regisieant’s internal conirols
over fingneial reporting,

Date: February 22, 2017 By,  fo John 8. Marr, Ir,

John §, Marr, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer and Chairuan of the Board




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Brian K, Miller, certify that;

L.

2.

1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-IC of Tyler Technologies, Ine.;

Based on my knowledge, thiz repert does nob coniain any unitue statement of a material fact or omit to stete A material fact necessary o make the
statements made, in light of the ciroumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to 1he period covered by this teport,

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and othet financial information included in this report, fhirly present in all materlal respects the
financial condition, results of vperations and cash flows of the regisirant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal contrel over our financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15¢f) and 15d-15(f)} fot Tyler
and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caysed such disclosure eontrols and procedures to be desfgned undet aur supervision, io
ensure that matetfal infottnation relating to the registrant, including its divisions, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b, Designed such internal contrel over financiel reporiing, or caused such internal contrel over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reagsonable assurance regurding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of finaneial statements for
external purposes in socordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢ Evaluated the effectivoness of the registrant’s disclesure controls and procedures and presented i this report our conelusions abeut ths
effisctivensess of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d Disclosed in this report any change 1o the registrant’s intetnal control over financial reporting that ocvwred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (The registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual teport) that has materially affected, or is reazonably lilkely to materially
affoct, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other cortifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of divectors {or persons petforming the equivalent function):;

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intetnal conlrols over financial reporting which ares reasonably
likely to adversely aflect the registrant’s ability (o record, process, summarize and rsport fimancial information; and

by, Any fraud, whether or not materinl, that involves management or ether employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s inferna! confrols
over financial reporting,

Date: Febroary 22, 2017 By: I8/ Brian K. Miller

Brian K, Miller
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Joln 8. Matr, Je., Chicf Excoutive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Tyler Technologies, Inc., (the “Company™) and Brian K. Miller, Bxecutive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each certify pursuant fo section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.8.C. Section 1350, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended; and
Z The informaiion contained [n the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations ef the Cotporation.
Date; Februacy 232, 2017 By, /s/ John 8. Marr, Jr.

John §, Mar, I,
Chief Bxecutive Officer and Chairman of the Board

By: /s Brian X Miller
Brian K. Miller
Execulive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this wrilten stateinsnt required by Section 906 has been provided to Tyler Technologies, Ino, and will be retained by Tyler Technelngiss, Inc.
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request,
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[ quTGI‘E for news. symbc)ls or c.ompaﬁices _ | Swarch
i
B&P 500 | Dow 30 | Nasdag © Grude Gt
2,524,30 i 22,479.24 ? 6,508.76 Py - R b b
w04 (10, 20%) o | +THAG{H0.38%) £ DoMLBOpOZOY) T 08 (3,00%) m\"’*
ﬁégﬁf To MGH falls, gun stocks rise after mass Les Yegas shooting, Dig

TYL 175.43 1.11 0.64% : Tyler Technologies, Inc. « Yahoo Finance %%

Tyler Tachnologies, Inc. (TYL)
NYSE - Nasdaq Real Time Price. Currensy n USD

P v Add to watchist |

175.43 +1.11 (+0.64%)

&g of 11:35AM FDT. Markel open.

Chart €0

Bummary Conversallons Slatistics Profile

3 hidden life... [READ MORE]

Major Holders i ingider Roster [ Inaldar Transastions

Major Holders

Breakdow

':'42% o % of Shares I:Isld byAII Insider -

9_250% l . % of Shares Held by Instititinng ‘.

1 00;63% “ .% of Float Hald by Inatiiutlons .

366 B Mumbear uflnstltutlons Holu‘ing Shares 7

Dlrect Holders (Forme 3 and 4}

Financials

Opliors Holders Hisiot

T T T I

NCIS Gives Abby The Boot

| CRS and the NGIS team furioUs about Abby's

v, 91 Il cony

enf- B,
(i)

| Gowd 5

| 4,276.50
-8.30 {0.55%)

$54 99 \rptimu ‘

et v

Yahoo Small Busihess

Cuetoncy In USD

Name ] Shares Date Reported
MARR JOHN $ JR 339,457 ‘Au.g 23, .20'1.}"
YEAMAM JOMN M 316,294 Mar 14, 2017
WOMBLE I.')US I'EN R 210,122 - Sap 11, 2017
K!NG LUTHI‘“R JR . 68, 369“‘ . Jun i 2016
MOORE H LYNN' JR o 65‘26?‘ ‘- 'Sep 1, ?01?
I\.n]l'.LE'F;t l‘El'uélAN K l . '50.'69-4 S . “SBP 14, 2017
‘BRATTAII;J DONALD R 11,5?6 .Aug 43, 2017
Top Institutional Holders

Holder- Shares Data Reparted % Oul Valkie
Vanguart.i Grnulp. Inc. {The) 2,804,883 Jun 29, 2017 7.52% 490,852,803

Homa Miail Flicke Tesiniblr Meows Spwts Finance Entertainmient Lifostyle ATISWRIS

hiipg:#Hfiinance yahoo.camfquote/TYL/holders?lir=1
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Brawn Capital Managemant, Ine,

:Janus Hendoarson Group PLG
Neuberger Berman Group. LLC

JP Mnrgan Chase & Gumpany

SQ Aclwsors. LLC o

Btate Btrast Corpnratlm; .

Times Square Capltal Mansgament LLG

Goldman Sachs Gruup, lnc

Top Mutual Fund Holders

Holder

Neuberéér & Blerr;!al; Gen;ts:lal Fund
Brown Cﬂpltal Managemenl Small Gumpany Fund
Janusg Hunu‘ersun Research Fund
IShal’es Core S&P Mldcap ETF
Vanguard Smatl-Cap Inde).( Fund
Véﬁéuard T;i;ll .S.t;mk .Market |nelex Funt;
Federated Kaufll'nar;n Fur;d

Vanguarcl Small- Gap Growth Index Fund
anguard Extended Market Indek Fund

Amerloan Century I-Ierltage Fund

htips:#inance yaheo.comfquote/ TYLholders?lr=1

TYL 175.43 1.11 0.84% : Tyler Tachnologies, Inc. - Yahoo Finance

Sea oh for naws, symbc)ls or rompanlas

2,288,774
1 B85, w2
1,573,105
1,087,767
£91,535
£83,096
845,540

766,872

Sharae

1,169,362

1,134,714

340‘ 766

808 .:90

??442'16

738,022

570,000

417211

41a 383

. A23,260

Jun 28, 2017
Jun 29, 2¢17
Jun 29, 2017

, .
Jun 28, 2017

Jun 28, 2017

Jun 29, 2017

Jun 29, 207 2

Jun 29, 2017

Deata Repcrled

l Search

6.00%
6.00%
4.22%

2.76%

2,39%

2.37%

2.06%

% Oul

Mar 30, 2017 3.13%

Mar 30, 2017 3. 04%

Jun 28, 2017

Mnr 30, 2017

Mar 30, 2017

Jun 29, 2017

Jun 28, 2017

Mar a0, 2017

Mar 30. 2017

2.25%

247%

2.08%

1.98%

Jan 30 2017 1.63%

1.13%

112%

2%

1.11%

381,602,660
326,506,560

275,340,566

178,895,307

158,045,368

154,725,818

147,994 866

134,190,590

Valua
180, 7.64 51 7
175,404,002
147,167,346
141 52? 606

119,678,310

114,083,442

84,063,507
65,426,985
64,492,477
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Tyler Technologies, Inc. Directors as of 10/1/2017

http://investors.tylertech.com/prafiles/investor/Directors.asp?BzID=499

¢ Donald R. Brattain — 5101 Tennysen Parkway, Plano TX 75024
« Glenn A. Carter — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

» Brenda A. Cline - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

e |, Luther King, Jr. ~ 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

e Larry D. Leinweber - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
» JohnS. Marr, Jr. — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096

¢ Daniel Pope — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

« Dustin R, Womble - 5519 53rd Street, bubbock, TX 79414

H. Lynn Moore, Jr. — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

Tyler Technologies, Inc. Officers as of 10/1/2017

http://www.tylertech.com/about-us/our-leadership

e JohnS. Marr Jr. — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Chief Executive Officer & Chalrman of the Board

¢ Brian K, Miller - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Flano TX 75024
Execuiive Vice President,
Chiaf Financial Officer and Treasurer

a  H. Lynn Moore Jr. — 5101 Tennyson Parlway, Plane TX 75024
President

s  Matthew B. Bierl — 5101 Tennysen Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Information Officer

e Samantha B, Crosby — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Marketing Officer

e Bruce Graham — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Strategy Officer & Interim President, Courts & Justice Division

* Robert ). Sansone — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Chief Human Resources Officer

» W, Michaal Smith — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Accounting Officer

» DBreit Cate - 5519 53rd Street, Lubbock, TX 79414
Chiaf Sales Officer

B
]

& .
“ws tyler
Erapowering paople who serve the public® Oeo,ﬁ

® technologies




s Abigall Diaz - One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Chief Lagal Offlcer

» Jeff Green— 1601 East Valley Rd., Ste. 200, Renton, WA 98057
Chief Technology Officer

» Andrew D. Teed — One Tyler Way, Moraine, OH 45439
President, Enterprise Group and Appraisal & Tax Division

» Christopher P. Hepburn - One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
President, ERP & School Division

»  Dane Womble - 5519 53rd Street, Lubbock, TX 79414
President, Local Govarnment Division

s Bret Dixon - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Justice Group

= Greg Sebastian — 840 West Long Lake Rd., Troy M| 48098
President, Public Safety Division

B. Indicate Number of Years in Business

Tyler's Appraisal and Tax Division (formerly known as Cole Layer Trumble or CLT) has been in business
since 1938. As indicated in Tyler's Form 10-K, Tyler was incorporated in 1966. Tyler acquired Cole Layer
Trumbie in 1999,




Tyler Technologies, Inc. Directors as of 10/1/2017

htt

J/finvestors.tylertech.com/profiles/investor/Directors.asp?Bz|D=499

Deonald R, Brattain — 5101 Tenhyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Glenn A, Carter - 5101 Tennyson Parlkway, Plano TX 75024
Brenda A. Cline — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

J, Luther King, Jr. — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Larry D. Leinweber — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
John S. Marr, Ir. — One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Daniel Pope —5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Dustin R, Womble — 5519 53rd Street, Lubbock, TX 79414

H. Lynn Moore, Ir,—~ 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

Tyler Technologies, Inc. Officers as of 10/1/2017

hitp://www.tylertech.com/about-us/our-leadership

John 5, Marr Jr.~One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Chief Executive Officer & Chairman of the Board

Brian K. Miller - 5101 Tennyson Parlkway, Plano TX 75024
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

H. Lynn Moore Jr. —~ 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plane TX 75024
President

Matthew B. Bieri - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Informaticn Officer

Samantha B. Croshy — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Marketing Officer

Bruce Graham — 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024

Chief Strategy Officer & Interim President, Courts & Justice Division

Robert J. Sansone — One Tyler Drive, Yarmaouth, ME 04096
Chief Humars Resources Officer

W. Michael Smith ~ 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano TX 75024
Chief Accounting Officer

Brett Cate - 5519 53rd Street, Lubbock, TX 79414
Chief Sales Officer

Abigail Diaz - One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
Chief Legal Officer

%‘%c
o tyler
Enipowering people who serve the public® lh G =)
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Jeff Gireen — 1601 East Valley Rd., Ste. 200, Renton, WA 98057
Chief Technology Officer

Andrew D. Teed — One Tyler Way, Moraine, GH 45439
President, Enterprise Group and Appraisal & Tax Division

i

Christopher P. Hepburn - One Tyler Drive, Yarmouth, ME 04096
President, ERP & School Division

Dane Womble — 5519 53rd Street, Lubbock, TX 79414
President, Local Government Division

Bret Dixon - 5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024
President, Justice Group

Greg Sebastian — 840 West Long Lake Rd., Troy M| 48098
President, Public Safety Division
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Gestion B

NYS Department of State

Division of Corporations

Entity Information

The information contained in this database is current through September 29, 2017,

Selected Entity Name: TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
Selected Entity Status Information

Current Entity Name: TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

DOS ID #: 3168959
Initial DOS Filing Date: FEBRUARY 25, 2005
County: ALBANY
Jurisdiction: DELAWARE
Entity Type: FOREIGN BUSINESS CORPORATION

Current Entity Status: ACTIVE

Selocted Entity Address Information
DOS Process (Address to which DOS will mail process if accepted on behalf of the entity)
TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC,

5101 TENNYSON PARKWAY
PLANO, TEXAS, 75024

Chief Executive Officer
JOHN S MARR JR
5101 TENNYSON PARKWAY
PLANO, TEXAS, 75024
Principal Executive Office

TYLER TECHNOCLOGIES, INC.
5101 TENNYSON PARKWAY
PLANO, TEXAS, 75024

Registered Agent
CAPITOL, SERVICES, INC.
1218 CENTRAL AVENUE, SUITE 10¢
ALBANY, NEW YORK, 12205

hitps:#appext20.dos.ny.govicorp_publlofCORPSEARGH ENTITY_INFORMATION?p_token=3EBETCB1EEQB2BI62C33878D8FE2RT66700FF 1GF7AF.., 1/2



10/212017 Entily information

- This office does not record information regarding the
names and addresses of officers, sharcholders or
directors of nonprofessional corporations except the
chief executive officer, if provided, which would be
listed above, Professional corporations must include the
name(s) and address(es) of the initial officers, directors,
and shareholders in the initial certificate of
incorporation, however this information is not recorded

and only available by viewing the certificate,

*Stock Information

# of Shares Type of Stock $ Value per Share
No Information Available

*Stock information is applicable to domestic business corporations.

Name History

Filing Date Name Type Entity Name
FEB 28, 2005 Actual TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC,

A Fictitions name must be used when the Actual name of a foreign entity i3 unavailable for use in New York
State. The entity must use the fictitious name when conducting its activities or business in New York State.

NOTE: New York State does not issue organizational identification nmumbers,
Search Results New Search
Services/Programs | Privacy Policy | Accessibility Policy | Disclaimer | Return to DOS

Homepage | Contact Us

hitps:/fappext20.dos.ny.govcorp_public/ CORPSEARCH.ENTITY_INFORMATION?p_token=3EBE7CBEEIB2BS62033878D8FE2ETS70SFF1CFT2F... 22



| EDGAR pro

T DR Oulfng® :

| TYLER TECHNOLOGIES INC

FORM 10-Q

{Quarterly Report)

Filed 07/26/17 for the Period Ending 06/30/17

Address

Telephone
CIK
Symbol
SIC Code
Industry
Sector
Fiscal Year

5101 TENNYSON PKWY

PLANO, TX, 75024

9727133700

0000860731

TYL

7372 - Services-Prepackaged Software
Software

Technology

12731

Pownrai By EDGﬁRhnﬁﬂe

hitp:/fwww.edgar-online com

@ Copyrighl 2017, EDGBAR Cnline, a division of Donnelisy Finandial Soluflons, All Rights Reserved.,

Distributlon and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Cnline, a division of Donnelley Financial Solutlons, Terms of Use,




UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C, 20549

FORM 10-Q

E QUARTERLY REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

For the quartorly period ended June 30, 2017

OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
Commission File Number 1-16485
TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC .
* (Bxact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
DELAWARE 75-2303920

(State or other jarisdiction of {LR.3, employer
incorporation or organization) idendlfication no.)

5101 TENNYSON PARKWAY

PLANO, TEXAS
75024
{Address of principal cxeculive offices)
(Zip codo)
972) T13-3700

(Registrant’s felephone number, inelnding aren code)

Indicate by check ruark whether the registrant (1) hoy filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter perfod that the registrant was requived to file such reparts), and {2) has been subject o such filing requivements for the
past 90 days. Yes No E3

Indicate by check mark whether the registrent hag submitted elestronically and posted on iiscorporate Web site, if nhy, every Interactive Data file required to be
submitted and posted pussvant to Rule 405 of Regulation 8-T during the preceding 12 months {or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit
and post such files). Yes No [

Indicate by check matl whether the registrant is s large accclerated filer, an aocelerated filer, 2 non-acoelerated filer, smaller ropotting company, or an emerging
growth company. See definition of “large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer,” "smeller reporting company," and "emetging growth company” in Rule 125-2 of

the Bxchange Act, (Check ong):

Latge accelerated filer k4 Accelernted filar

Non-aceelerated filer il Smaller reporiing company
Emerglng growth company

If an emerging grow(h company, indicale by check mark if the registrant hag elected not to wse the exlended iransition period for complying with

any new ot revised financial acconnting standards brovided pursuant to Section 13{e} of the Exchange Act.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act), Yes [0 No [
The number of ghares of commen stock of registrant ovtstending on July 25, 2017 was 37,303,134 ,

F R R S |




PART L FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. Finaneis] Stateinents

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC,
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In: thousands, except per share amounis)
{Unendited)

Three months ended June 30, Six nonths ended June 34,
2017 2016 2017 2016

Rt}vim'ﬁﬁﬁ‘ CEE . = o S Caoen e T e ; R

Soﬂwma hcenses am] roya]tles l ‘ . . ' & 17,107 § ' 1?,551 $ 35 330 $ ‘34 4{]1

47,372 88470

- Mtrite S T PR RS R ;IR RO b
Appraisal services R o 6,366 '5,9'84 13,542

o g e . S e T L g T s g LD
T otal revemle& 368,265

Cost of r}av‘enufs o
o Hotware Toamsis androyalies: .
Acqmtod soﬂwam

102,036 218,454 199,211

Grossprofit T T Tesse 86,53 190201 169054

Amortlzauon of L-US‘:(Jll‘lel and f:r'aﬂe name 111tang|b]es . ' ' 3 -463"- . 3,4;5.3. 6,9’,'?..'1 - 6;815

(perating income

73,224 58956

7209
4p1E:
5 188

Othor expense, net
: Teidimis bitlys Ingwtie ies
Inuomc tax provision

Qi
1_7?@
14 538

mniﬁggpwgommnshm L T T S R N N
Basic $ 085 § 069 ¥ 172§ 1,19

See accaﬁwmyr’ﬂg nare.r




TYLER TRCHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value and share amounits)

June 30, 2017

{unaudited) Dscember 31, 2016

ASSETS S e e
Cl.l.rlf:nt assats.

+ Coshmid eoffielifvalénte 2 T T T T T e g T BE 7. S0 SERNN  F11 Y

Accounts recelvable (less a[lowance for losses of $5 102 in 2017 nnd $3 396 in 2016) ' 233 831 B 200,3.‘§4
V.'.‘SIwrwtarmm\restmants T T Ly e e T R : : no

Prepaid CXpeNses o o . 23,676 21,039
- Toomé 4 recetvible - T R A S e -1 IR X1 3

Dther current assets ‘ ' o 2'?84 o 2,é68

S L

Tatal c"tureﬁtasﬁms : . . '. ':?3533-3’5'3' 2;32,960

sAgetuts resalbl, Jomgtein. T D T T L T e e L T
Pmpel ly and equlpment et 147,956 124,268

Cestzl 650207
30,741

~Pttor Hthglblesy nit: -1 e

Non-cuﬂent mvestments a:md t])et‘ assets

C‘nrrent habﬂitws, 7
Accmcd linbilities

350,582

Cmmnitmcnts and contingencies

Sharulwldeis cqmty
. Fielortet st@élc $10 00y vaffies 1 i, 000 ahﬁfes illidtizedshons Thgied

Common stack, $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 48,147,969 shares
issued and outstaudmg as oJ' June 30 2017 and DBGBDJI)BI 31, 2016 481 4381

.'__":_Afl‘dmﬂﬁalpa‘ld ini*apit' TR Tar o T S . L
Accumulated other com]n chenswe lms, net ni‘ tax - ‘ l . . (46) . {46)
et mamiigs 1 L e T
Treasury stock, t cost; 10, 862 030 zmd 11331 m shams 1112017 and 2016 1espwiwnly _‘ ' (68.630) (77,449)

e T sksss

000 L SRS

ot %h&\rohﬁiﬂai‘s‘ éqﬁly 515,525

'Iotal linhilitics and gharchelders' equlty S ) A 5 1,438,509 & 7 1 337, 945

See aocompanying notes.

[ P T




TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS COF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
{Unaudited}

Hix months ended Juns 39,
2017 2016

Cashﬂbwsﬁﬁmﬂpelaﬁngmtiviae&; LR R S e e T
Net income ¥ 63,884 § 43,231
Alfisgtingnts 1 tecorneile ngt incoms to ol provided byspamtionsf - T DR T T e e T -

Depmcmtmn and amertization . o -26,366 24,850
Bt bad wontpeeisampieg . 0 S E DT e e L e
Defarrec] income tax (benefit) expense o . (9,097) 427

RN o i bpetatjng et i diiaiﬁﬂiles,, emfluéwa afﬁff‘ec%& nf E
oo .%_cmtiredhﬁmpiﬂﬁeﬁ. e ST ey R A R SO E S
Acoounts recewable (33,348) (35,530)
Iy IR e e T e T T T g ey
' Prcpmd cxpensea and other cuuent assets ‘ ' ' (3 984)- ‘ (1 435)
Acorued habﬂrtws (11 061} - 4,883
,l":fj Dei*eu*eﬂ ey AT e n"' g I

Net ¢ash pmwded by uperatmg actmtzea

Cash ﬂows froim mvestmg actwmes.
L Al Tty g gty S0 LT T Tt e T ey RN ¢ SF 1)
. Purchase of marketable securtty mvestments ‘ (21,392) {10,607)
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Tyler Technologies, Ine.
Notes o Condensed Congolidated Financial Statements
(Unandited)
(Tables in thousands, except per share date)

(1) Basig of Presentation

We propared the accompanying condsnsed consolidated financinl statements following the requirements of the Secorities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and
accounting principles generally accepted In the United States, or GAAP, for interim reporting. As permitted under those rules, certain footnotes or other financial
information that are nermally recquired by GAAP ¢an be condensed or cmitted for intetim periods. Balance sheet amounts are as of June 30, 2017 , and

December 31, 2016 , and operating result amounts ave for the thiee and six mouths énded JTune 30, 2017, and 2016 , respectively, and include afl normal and
tecurring adjustments that we considered necessary for the falr summarized presentation of our financial position and operating results. As these are condensed
Financial statements, one should also read the financial stetements and notes included in our latest Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 , Revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities can vary during each quarter of the year, Therofore, the resulis-and trends in these interim financial staterents may not be the saine
a8 those for the full year,

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions, and other events and circutnstances
from non~owner sovrees and includes all components of nef income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). We had no items of other comprehensive
mceme (loss) for the three and six menths ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 .

Certain mmountg for the previous year have been reclassified to conform to the surrent year presentation,
(2) Acquisitions

On May 30, 2017, we nequired all of the crpital stock of Modtia.com, Ine. , & company thet specializes in onling dispute resolution for government and commercial
entities. The purchase price, net of debt assumed, was $5.9 million . The impact of this scquisition on our operating resulls is not material,

(3) Shareholders’ Equity
The following table dotails activity in our common stock:

8ix monihe endad Jous 30,

2087 2016
Shares Amownt Shares Amount
Pihiases of tiéasisy slirdy e e e Ty R (G L a8 (A
‘Stock option exorcises 534 23360 a 5,793

Ag of June 30, 2017 , we had authorization from our board of directors to repurchage up to 2.0 milllon additional shares of Tyler common stock.

(#) Other Assets

Cash and cash equivalenls consist of cash on deposit with several domestic banks and money market funds,

As of Jung 30, 2017 , we have $37.5 million in investmeni grade corporate and munleipal bonds with maturity dates ranging fram 2017 through culy 2019, We
imtend to hold these bonds to maturity and have clagsified them as such, We believe cost approxiimates fulr value becausa of the relatively short duration of these
investments, The fair values of these recurities are considered Level 1T as they are based on iaputs from quoted prices in markets thet are not active or other
obaervable market data, These investments are included in shori-term mvestments ind non-corrent investments and other assets.




We have a $15.0 million fnvestment in convertible preforrad stock representing a 20% intetest in Record Holdings Pty Limited, a privately held Australian
company speelalizing in digitizing the spoken word in court and legal proceedings. The investment in convertible preferred stock is aceannted under the cost
method beoause fie Company does not have the ability to sxercise significant influence over the investes and the secutities do not hiave readily determinable fair
values, Our investment i carried at cost Tegs any impatrment write-downs. Annvally, the Company’s cost metliod investments are assessed for impaizment. The
Company does not reassess the fair value of vost method ifivestments if thers are no identified events or changes in circumstances that may have a significant
adverse effect on the fair value of the Jnvestmeints, This investment is included in non-current investments end other assots.

(5} Revolving Line of Credit

On Novemmber 16, 2015, ws entered into 8 $300.0 million Credit Agrestent with various lender parties and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
Administentive Agent (the “Credit Facility”). The Credit Pacilily provides for & revolving eredit line up to §300.0 milllon , including a $10.0 millicn sublimit for
Iotters of oredit, The Credit Facility matures on November 16, 2020 . Borrowings under the Credit Facility muy be msed for general corporats purposes, including
working capital requirements, acquisitions and share repurchases,

Barrowings under the Credit Facility bear intsrest at a rate of either (1) Wells Fargo Banlc's prime rate {subject to certain higher rate determinations) plus a margin
of 0.25% to 1.00% o (2) the 30, 60, 90 or 180 day LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1,25% j0 2.00% . As of June 30, 2017, the interest rates wero 4.50% under tha
Wells Fargo Bank's piime rate and 2.37% under a 30-day LIBOR contract, The Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of our assets. The Credit Faclity
tequires U3 to maintain certain financial ratios and other financlal conditions and prohibils us from malking certain investments, advances, cash dividends or loans,
gnd Limits incutrence of additional indebtedness snd liens, As of June 30, 2017 , we werz in compliance with those covenants,

As of June 30, 2017 , we had no outstanding bortowings end twe outstanding 1etiers of credit totaling $2.2 million . Availnble borrowing capacity under the Credit
Facility was $297.8 million .

{6) Income Tax Provision

For the throe and six months ended June 30, 2017 , we had effeclive income tax rates of 14.6% and 12.4% , respectively, compared to 17.2% and 23,2% for the
three and six months ended Jane 30, 2016 , respectively, The effectivs Income tax rates for the periods presented were different from the statutory United Stalss
federal income tax rate of 35% principally due to excess tax benefits refated to stoek option exeroises. The excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises
realized weire 88,5 million and §18.6 million for the three and six monihs ended June 30, 2017, respectively, compared to $6.3 miilion and $7.5 million for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2015 , respectively. Excluding the excess tax henefits, the effective rates were 37.5% and 37.9% for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2017 , respectively, compared to 37.9% and 38,1% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively, Otherr differences from our

federal statutery income tax vato included state income taxes, non-deductitle business expenses, and the tax benefit of the domestic production activities deduction,

We made tax payments of $27.5 million and $17,6 million in the six months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016 , respectively.




(7) Barnings Per Share

The foliowing table details fie reconciliation of hasle earnings per share to diluted earnings per share!

Kunigitor for basfe it dlhafed guthiogs povsham - -

Net income § 31578 § 25007 § 63884 § 43,231
We_ig_hledmveragg_l_msic common shams.m}t_standing i 37,1_54 3_6,160 37,144 36,316
. .Aé__s’ﬁipédfc'miva'fs_igi_xiafairnﬂve sweuitey; o Coe el

Stock options 2,047 2,579 2,067 2,550
" Do for diluted parmings e s T T T T
- e Adffustet] welghted-avorageshures . LSRN .1 LT .. e JBBEE
Earnings pet cormmon share:
T Basto ' 088 % 0y F A8 1

Diluted 081 % 0.65 163§

Three monthe ended Juns 30,

Six months ended June 20,

2007 2016

2017 2016

W

e,

For the thres and six months ended June 30, 2017 , stok options representing the right to purchngse commen stock of approximetely 1,251,000 shares and
1,205,000 shares, respectively, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per ghave because their inclusion would have had an anti-dilutive
offect, For the three and slx months ended June 30, 2016 , stock aptions representing the right to purchase comman stock of approximately 785,000 shares and
784,000 shares, rospectively, wore not inefuded in the computation. of diluted sarnings per share because their inclusion would have had an anti-dilutive effect,

(8) Share-Based Compensation

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense related to share-basad awatds recorded in the statements of income, purstant to Accounting
Standurds Codification (*ASC™) 718, Siock Compensation:

Thteo montha ended Jume 39, Bix tonths snded June 30,

] 2017 . 2016 2017 2016
ST 2 ¥ A3H Ko AT % aeE
13,227 10,304

ok b ol sorvices, hiafiienanes sl subbesiptiony ¢
Selling, goneral and administrative expenses
. 9}1nra~b"a“§’¢d wmpenﬁaﬁo (»)n,sr;-

(9). Segrent and Related Information
We provide integrated information management solations and services for the public sector, with a focus on local governments.

We provide our software systetns and setvices and appraisal services theough four Ivsiness ymits, which focus e the following produets:
+  financial management, education and planning, regulatory and maintenance software solutions;
+  financial managentent, munieipal coutis, planning, regulstory and mainteance, and land and vital records management sofiware sclutions;
»  cowts and justice and public safety software solutions; and
«  appraissl and tax seftware solutions and property appraisal setvices.
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In accordance with ASC 280-10, Segment Reporting, the finencial mansgement, educetion and planning, regulatory shd maintenence software solutions unit;

finaneial management, monicipal courts, planaing, regulatery and maintenance, and land and vital records management sofiware selutions nait; and the courts and

justice and public sufety software solutions unil meet the erileria for.aggregation and are presented in one reportable segment, the Enterprise Soflware (“E8")
segment, The ES ssgment provides municipat and county governments and schools with: software systems and services to meet their information iechnology and
sutomation needs for mission-critica] “back-offies” functions such as financial management and courts and justice processes; public safity; planning, regulatory

and mgintenance; and land and vital records management, The Appraisal and Tax (“A&T”) segment provides systems and soflware that nutomste the appraisal and

agsessment of real and personal property as well as properly appraisal outsourcing services for loos) governments and taxing authorikies, Property appraisal
outsotrcing services include: the physical inspection of commercla] and residential properties; data collection and processing; compuier analysis for property

valuation; preparation of tax rolls; commutity education; and arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction.

We evaluate performance based on sevetal factors, of which the primary financlal meagure is business segment operaiing income. We define segment operating
income fot our husiness units as income before non-cach amortization of intangible assets associated with their acquisitions, interest expense and income taxes,

Segment operating imcome includes intercompany trensactions. The majority of intereompany transactions relate o contraots invelving more than one unit and are

valged based on the confractual artangement, Seginent operating income for corporate primarily consists of sompensation costs for the executive management
tesm and certain accounting and adminisirative staff and share-based sompensation sxpense for the entire company. Corporate segment operating income also
includes revenues and expenses telated (o n company-wide user conference.

Tor the three months ended Jome 30, 2017

Revenues

iSalsins Bossos eidroyalited = . .

Sﬁbscriptions

Satiin serviods
Maintenance

Soptnal sivis
Hardware and other
Tuterosthpaiy.” 1 o

Total revenues
‘Regtietit vpbrating fnboury °

Por tlie six months ended June 30, 2017

8
Subsgeene o T
Softfﬁm"e services h
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A];pl'aiéal services

Tardwass wid oot
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Total 1eveniid - _

Seg.l;len.t opetating income

Enterprise
Soflware Apyraisal and Tax Cotporale Totals
R T IE3BE LS s § PN I LA D
39,051 1,896 — 40,947
606 T AETE e 4§71
84,306 5,106 — 89,412
S 6366 s o Ees
3,295 — 4624 7,919
$ 187,188 § 16,797 % 2,138 § 209,123
S s 8 ET ispa) § - 17 B3R
Eaterprise
Software Appraiaal and Tax Carpotate Totals
31,028 § 342§ 35330
83364 9,026 92,300
e IEREE L L e e SR
' — 12,978 — 12978
4.64% — (4,649) —
EREE TR TR A SRR WS F S 0s8es
5 106,181 % 8624 % (3.890) § 90,915
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For the three months ended June 30, 2016

Revenues

Sofiveire licenises atd royalties
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Soivwre serviess -
Maintenance
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(10) Commitments and Contingencies

Other thun rontine litigation incidental to our Pusiness, there arc no material legal proceedings pending to which we are party or to which any of cur properties are

subjeet,
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(11} New Accounting Pronouncetaents

Revenue from Confracts with Guatomers , On May 28, 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") jssued ASU No. 2014-02, “Revenue from
Contracts with Custorners.” This ASU i e result of a convergence project betwsen the FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board. The core
principle behind ASU No, 2014-09 i thet an entity should recogiize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods and services to customets in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for delivering those goods and services. This model ivolves a five-step process that
inchudes identifying the contract with the customer, identifying the performance ebligations in the contract, determining the transaction price, allocating ihe
{ransaction price to the performimce obligations in the contract and recognizing revenue when (ot as) the eniily satisfies the performance obligations. The ASU
allows two methods of adaption: a full retrospective approach whers three years of finansial information are presented In accordance with the new standeid, and 2
modified retrospective approach where the ASU is applied (o the most current period presented in the financiel statements, Wo currently anticipate adoptitg the
standatd using the full retrespective method to restate cach prior reporting peried presented, Our ability to adopt ustng the full retrospective method is dependent
on system readiness, including soflware procured from third-pasty providers, and the commpletion of our analysis of information necessary to restate priotr petiod
financial statements.

The new standard requives application no later than annusl reporting patiods beginning efler December 15, 2017, including intetjm reporting perlods therein;
however, public entities are permitied to elect to catly adopt the new standard. We are assessing the financial impact of adopting the naw standerd and the methods
of adopticn; however, we are currently unabls to provide a reasonable estimate regarding the finanoial impact, We will adopt the new standatd in fiseal vear 2018,

We anticipate this standard will have ». material Impact on our consolidated finanoial staterments. While we are contimiing to assess afl potential impacts of the
standard, we currently believe the most signifioant impact relates to our accounting for softwars license fees, Installation fees, ond incremental cost of obtaining a
confract. Specifically, under the new standard we expeot software license fees undar perpetusl agreements will ne longer be subject to 100% dissount allocations
from othet elements n the contract. Discounts in arrengements will be allocated across all deliverables fncreasing license revenues md decreasing reverngs
aliocated o other performance obligaticns, Tn addition, in most cases, net license fees (total license fees less any allocaied discoynts) will bs recognized ot the
point in time that control of the software Hoenge transfers to the customer versus our eutrent poliey of recopnizing revenue only to the extent hillable pes the
contractual terms, Time-baged Hoense faes currently recognized over the license term will no longer be recognized over the perfod of the License and will instead be
recognized at the palnt in time that centrol of the software license transfers to the customer. Wo cxpect revente related to our software as a sorvice {“§2a3”)
offerings and professional services to remein substantially unchanged, Dug to the complexity of certain contracts, the actual revenue recognition treaiment required
under the standard will be dependent on contraci-spocific terms and may vary in some instances from secoghition at the time of billing. Applicaiion of the new
standard requires that inerementa! cosls direcly related o obtaining a confract ¢ypically sales commissions plus any associated fringe bonefits) must be vecopnized
g5 an asset and expensed on a systematic basis that is congistent with the transfes to the customet of the goods and services fo which the asset relates, unless that
Jife is less than one year, Currently, we defer sales comoigsions and recognize expenss over the relevant {nitial contractual term. With the edoption of the new
standard, wo cxpeet amortization perlods to oxtond past the initlal term.

1,eases, On Febrary 25, 2016, the FASB issued its new lease aveounting guidance in ASU No, 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842).* Under the new guidance, lessees
will be required to recognize the following for all leases (with the excoption of short-terin lcases) at the commencement date:

» A lease lahility, which is a lesses's obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; snd

« A right-ofiuse neset, which is an asset that repreasents the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specified assel for the leass term,

Lessees {for capital and operating leases) nnd lessors (for sales-4ype, direct financing, and operating leases) must apply a modified retrospective fransition approach
for leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements. The maoditied retrospective
approach weuld not require any transition accounting for leases that expited befors the earliest comparstive period presented. Lossecs and lessors may not apply a
full retrospective transition approach,

The ASU is offective for fiscal years beginning afier December 15, 2018, including interim periods therein, Early application is permitted for all business stitities
upon issuance. We ate assessing the financial impact of adopting the new standard, however; we are currently wable to provide a teazonable estimate regarding
the financial impact, We expect to adopt the new standerd in fiscal year 2019,
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ITEM 2. Management’s Discusslon and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
CAUTIONARY NOTE CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document ontaing “forward-looking statements™ within the meaning of Section 274, of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 218 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1834 that are not historical in nature axnd {ypically address future or amicipated events, trends, expectations or beliefs with respect to eur finaneial condition,
results of operations or business, Forwardooking statements often contain words such as “believes,” “expeots,” “anticipates,” “foresees,” “forscasts,” “estimates,”
“plans,” “intends,” “continues,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “projects,” “might,” “could” or oflier similar words or phrasss. Similarly, statements that deseribe our
business strategy, outlook, objectives, plans, intentions or goals also are forward-looking statements, We belisve there is & reasonable basts for our forward-looking
stutements, but they are Inherently subject to tisks and uncertalnties and actual results could differ matetially from the expectations and beliefs reflected in the
forward-looking statements. We prosently consider the following to be among the impertant factors that pould eause actual results to differ materially from our
expoctations and beliefs: (1) changes in the budgets or regulatary environments of cur clients, primarily lecal and state governments, that could negatively impact
information technology spending; (2) our ability to protect olient information from seeuity breaches and provide unisterrupted operations of data centers; (3) owr
ability to achieve growth or operational synergies through the integration of acquired businesses, while avoiding unanticipated costs and distuptions 1o existing
operations; (4) material pertions of cur business require the Internet infragtrictute to be adequately maintained; (5) our ability to achieve our financial forecasts due
to vatious factors, including project delays by our clients, reductions in transaction size, fewer transactions, delays in delivery of new produets or releases ora
decling in cur renewal rates for service agreements; (6) general econemic, political and matket conditlons; (7) technological and market risks assooiated with the
development of new products or services or of new versions of exfsting or acquired produets or services; (8) competition in the industry in which we-conduot
business and the impact of competition on pricing, client retention and pressure for new products or services; (9) the ability to atiract and retein qualified personnel
and dealing with the loss or retiremnent of key members of management or other key persomiel; and (10} costs of complianee and any faidure to comply with
government and stock exchange regulations, A detailed discussion of these factors and other risks that affect our business are deseribed in ltem 14, “Risk Faciors.”
We expressly disclaim any obligation to pubiicly updale or revise our forward-looking statements,

GENERAL

We provide integrated information management solutions and services for the public sector, with a foeus on local gevernments. We develop and market & broad
line of' software products and services to address the I'T needs of citles, counties, schools and other local government entities. In addition, we provide professional
IT services to our olients, including softwate and hordware installation, data conversion, training, and for certain clients, producet modifieations, along with
contimiing maintenance and support for clients using our systermns, We also provide subsoription-based services that utilize the Tyler private cloud such as e-filing,
which simplifies the filing and management of court related documents, We also provide propetty appraisal eutsourcing services for taxing jurisdictions.

Our products generally autemaie six major functional arsas: (1) financial management and education, (2) conrts and justice, (3) public safety, (4) property appraisal
and tax, {5} plantibg, regulatory and maintenance, and (6) Jand and vifal records managentent, We teport our resulls in two segmonts, The Fntarprise Softwate
(“ES"} segment provides nunicipal and covnty governments and schools with softwsre systeins and setvices to meet their informatlon technology and aatomation
needs for mission-critical “back-office” functions such as financial management; conrts and justive processes; public aafsty; planning, regulatory and maintenance;
and land and vital tecords management, The Appraisal and Tax (“A&T") scgment provides systems and software that antoinate the appraisal and assessment of
real and personal property as well as property appraisal oulsovreing servioes for lecal governments and taxing suthorvities. Property appraisal cutsoureing services
melude; the physical nspection of cammercial and residential properties; data collsction and proeessing; computer analysis for property valuation; preparation of
tax rolls; commumity edueation; and arbitration between taxpayers and the assesging jurisdiction,

Our fotal employee count increased to 3,972 at Yunz 36, 2017, fram 3,723 at June 30, 2016,
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations ate based upon our condensed consolidated financial statements. These condensed
consolidated financial statements have been prepated following the requirernents of accounting principles generally accepted in the United States *GAAP”) for the
interimn period and require vs to make estimates and judgments that affect the repotted amounts of assets, labilities, revenues and expenses, and related disolosure
of contingent assets and lisbilities, On an engoing basts, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to revenue recognition and amoriization and potential
impairment of intangible assets and goodwill and shars-based compensation expenss, As these are condensed finaneial statements, one should alse read expanded
information wbout our critical aceounting policies and estimates provided in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations,” included in our Form 1¢-K for the year endsd December 31, 2016 , There have been no material chamges to our critical accounting policies and
estimates from the information provided in onr Form 10-K for the year ¢nded December 31, 2016 .

ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Percent of Total Revenuss

Second Quarter Six Months Bnded

2017 2016 2017 2016
Revenues:
-+ Soniwire oenyes a6d rogalties | CREW A% ReWC PIY
Subserfptions 19.6 180 19.8 18.5
- Aikwiare servioes % A o2 -8 T
Muintenanoe 42.7 41.7 43.2 420
. Appraigitseevices e JUUEE: & BN AN ¥ SR *
Hardware and oﬂm 3.8 29 2.6 2.5
Totalmvmms* Cabod o CAERG L - 1000 TG
NC:: st of revennes: i
.. Bafwiiedjoenses; royaltion id dquirsd folvuiage A - B SR s SR 3.7
Software services, ma,mtenanca and s*ubssrlptmns- . 46.0 45,9 a4 467
Appfmsai servioes . ‘ a0 24 CLAdL i3
Hardwate and other %? 24 2.0 1.7
T, momoraT i Aot s SRE " RN ¥ 3 BRI U R
Research and dcvalupmcnt cxpense 5.5 57

Apnoizaton of eustorver gy wadiied bidaglbids S g LR
Opelatlng income 17.6 163
Inc{)me befow inpome taxcs 717‘6 16,1

letcsnma*tax p‘r(ivisiun L g gﬁ,ﬂ )
Net ingome 13.4%

37
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Bevenues

Safiware Heenses and reyalties

The following table sets forth 4 comparison of our sefiware licenses and royaltles revenue for the periods presented as of June 30;

Seeand Quarter Change Six Months Ended Chauge
(4 in thousands) o Wwe 8 % 2017 2016 $ %
B8 o E GIREM R 16439 % (LU o % % 3LEE O § a300 % -ss) o (%

A&T 1,753 1,112 641 3R 3,402 2,308 1,094 47
C Tolal softwite Boensge. . C T ‘ g ' — T T ——
* i royaltiey roverine

2107 "% vESSL oy an w8 s3aw s maDL g eie

3%

Software license revenue and royaliies decreased 3% and increased 3% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 , respectively, compared to the prior year
perlod. The increase in soflware license revenue and royalties for the six menths ended June 30, 2017 is attributed to additions te cur implementation staff, which
increased our capacity to deliver backlog. The decline for the three months ended Juno 30, 2017 was impacted by an inetense in the mymber of cliewts choosing our
subsoription-based option, rather than purchasing the software under & traditionat perpeimal sofiware. arrangement,

Although the mix of new contracts between subscription-based and perpetual Heetise sttangements may vary froin quarter to quarker and year to yesr, we sxpect
our longer-term sofiware license growth rate to continue to be negatively impacted by a growing number of customess choosing our subscriptien-based options,
rathet than purchasing the software under a fraditional perpetual software license arrangement. Subseription-based amangements result in lower softwars license
revonne in the initial year as compared 1o perpetual software license atrangements but generate higher overall rovenue over the ferm of the contract, Qur new client
mix for the six months ended June 30, 2017 was approzimately 52% selectlng perpetual software license atrangements and approximately 48% selsoting
subsctiption-based arrangements compared 1o a olisnt mix for the six months ended Jung 30, 2016 of approximately 66% selecting perpetual software license
atrangements and approximatoly 34% selecting subscription-besed atrangements, 105 and 197 niew elients entered into subscription-based software arrangements
for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 , respectively, compared to 74 and 139 new clients for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 ,
respectively.

Subscriptions

The following table sets forth & comparison of our subscriptions revenne for the periods presented ag of June 30:

Second Quarter Chanpe Rix Monthg Ended Change
in thousands). 2017 2016 3 2017 2016 3 ]
e TR BUSL, % MM CE Gis. U HY L Yiaed B eASOL. 3 1508y 3%
1,806 1,65 244 15 3688 3,756 oy @)

o b skowy SE U

Subscriptions revenue primarily consisls of revenue derfved from our SaaS arrangements, which utilize the Tyler private clond. As part of our subscription-based
services, we also provide e-filing srangements that simplify the filing and management of court related documents for courts and law offices, B-filing revenns is
derived from transaciion fess and fixed fee arrangements.

Subseriptions revonue grew 21% and 19% for the thrae and six months ending Tune 30, 2017 , respectively, compared to the prior year, New Saa8 clients as well as
existing clients who converted to our SuaS model provided the majority of the subscriptions revenue inerease, In the three and six months ending June 38, 2017,
regpectively, we added 105 and 197 new SaaS olienis and 37 and 54 existing en-premises elients converted to our SaaS model, Since Ivme 3¢, 2016 , we added 308
new Saal clients and 78 existing on-premiscs slients converted to our Saa8 model. Also, e-filing services contributed approximately $1.7 million and 33.2 million
to the subseriptions revenue inerease for the three and siz months ended June 30, 2017 , respectively, due to the addition of new e-filing clients, as well as
ncreased volumes as the result of several oxisting clients mandating e-filing,
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Saftware services

The fellowing table sets forth a comparison of our sofiwars services revenue for the poriods presented as of June 30;

Second Quarler Change Six Monthe Ended Chpnge
{8 in thousands) 2017 2016 3 % 2017 2016 $ %
B oo e R ST AT B IO [ M T T O TR TR X 2
A&T ‘ 4,676 3,881 795 20 9,026 707 1319 17
. Total softjudis sarvices voveruo . 8 47373 §.45040 03 133 o 3% 5 U300 & 88aT0 $. 300 W

Software services revenue primarily consists of professtonal services billed in connection with implementing our software, votiveriing elient data, training client

personnel, custom developnient activities and consulting. New clients who purchase our proprietary sofiware licenses generally also contiact with us to provide for

the related sofiware services. Existing clients also periodically purchase additional training, consulting and minot programming services, For the three and six

months ended June 30, 2017, respectively, software services revenue grew 3% and 4% compared to the pior year period, This growth is primarily due to additions

to out implementation and support statf which increased our capacity to deliver backlog and partially due to completing recognition of a majerity of the
acquisition-related deferred service revenue that was fair valued ot raies helow Tyler's average service rate in prior periods,

Muintenaice

The following table sets forth a compasisen of our maintenance revenue for the perfods presented as of June 30

Second Guarter Change 8ix Moniths Hnded Change
($ in thousands) 27 2016 § % 2017 2016 $ %
Ba U el TS ES08 LY HGL 8 Nebe - o TTak o ieeaanl ¥ LIREO ¥ 305@ .U 4%
A&T 5,106 4,633 473 10 9,799 9265 534 6
gevene L

‘We provide maintenance and support services for gur software products and certain third-party software, Maintenance revenue grew 14% for the thres and six
months ended June 30, 2017 , reapectively, compared lo the prior year. Maintenance tevenne increased mainly due to annual mnintenance rale increnses and
growth in our installed customer base from new softweare license sales, In addition, the increase is partially dus to completing recognition of a majority of the
aoquisition-reluted deferred maintenance revenue that was fair valued at rates below Tyler's average maintenance rate in prior periods,

Appratsal services

The following table seis forth a comparison of our appraisal services revenue for the periods presented ag of June 30:

Second Quarter Change Six Months Bnded Change
(% 1o thousands} 2017 2016 b % 2017 2016 % ] Y
A&T 6,366 (9 12,998 13542 (564) @
" ot fpbiiolienvises T o T e e
me g 1 soa) L U

Appraisal services revenue for the thres and six months ended Tune 30, 2017 , respectively, decrensed by 9% and 4% . The appraisal servioes business is somewhat

cyclical and driven in part by statutory roveluation eycles in various states.
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Cost of Revenues and Grosg Merging

The following table sets forth a comparizon of the kay components of our cost of revenues for the periods presented as of June 30:

Sevond Quarter Change Six Months Ended Change

(% in thouaands) 2017 2016 5 % 2007 2016 $ %
Bofiwaro lioonses androysies. & . 67 ¥ 6 3 . Ub . % s LamS - L3d § W T 6%
Acquired software 5,360 5,680 (320) {6) 10,770 11,139 (369) ' 3)
Smftwf;rwewices, malnten&mean& B S BEEE . Lo
‘subseriptions . 9B 86,717‘ LSS 1 L IsavIe o 17,08y 1? T35 _' T
Appraisal services 4282 4,458 (176) ) 8,479 8,420 59 1
Hatwiehndosr o AT wss s o §1 0 ogus  e¥el Lo e m

Total cost of revennes. § 113,260 § 102,036 $§ 11,224 11% $ 2] 8,454 $ 199 211 § 19,243 10%

The following table sets forth a oomparison of gress margin percentage by revenue type for the petiods presented as of June 30

Second Quatter Six Monlths Ended
o 2017 014 Change 2017 2016 Change
Sotiwade Hovises, ropaitios mid notaired Softwara . .+ T | GADY., © 68% ;. L% G8.0% - 6ok - LAY
Software snrv:ces, mamtenance and subscnpilons ‘ 45.9 45.4 05 458 44,8 1.0
:Apjﬁia{sal kmmes VAR BT v 4] :.-‘43&2,-__ BRRERE = R 347 D 37;8 3D
Hatdware and other ' 4 206 65 238 25 G
Overall groggiimgin < - 0 T T R T AG% o 00% . A6 T S8 0

Software licenses, rayalties and acguired saftware. Amortization expense for aoquired software comprises the mujority of costs of software licenses, royaltics and
aceuired software, We do not have nay direct cosis assceiated with yoyaltles. In the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 , vespectively, our softwere licenses,
toyalties and acquired software gross margin fnereased 1.1% and 1.8% compaored to the prior year period due to higher inctemental margins on software liconse
revenues, in part due to slightly Jower amortization expense for acquired software resulting from acquisitions.

Soffware scrvices, malntenance and subseriptions, Cost of software services, maintenance and subscriptions primarily consisly of personnel costs related to
installation of our software, conversion of client data, training client personnel and support actlvities and various other services such as custom client development
and on-going operation of SaaS and e-filing svrangements. The software services, maintenance and subscription gross margin in the three and six months ended
June 30, 2017 , respectively, was 0.5% und 1,0% higher than the comparable prior year period. Our implementation and support staf¥ has grown by 197 emplovees
since June 30, 2016 . Many of these additions oconrred in early to mid-2016 and are contributing 1o revenue in 2017, Costs related to maintenance and various
other services such as SaaS and e~filing typically grow at a slower rate than relfated revenue due to leverage in the utilization of suppert and maintenance staff and
ecotiomves of seale, Redueed recognition of acquisition-velated deferred revenue nesosinted with software setvices and maintenance obligations completed in prior
periods also resulted in higher gross marging,

Appraisal services, Appratsal services revenue comprized approximately 3.0% of total revenue. The appraisal services gross margin for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2017 , respectively, decreased 3.5% and 3.1% compared to the same period in 2016, due to additional resources brought in ie meel the deadling for
completion of fieldwork for a large revaluation project. A high propottion of the cosls of appraisal services revenue are variable, as we often hire temporary
employeey to asgist in appraizsal projects,

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2617 , respootively, our averall gross margin decreased 0.2% and increased 0.6% compared to the prior yenr period,
Our overall gross matgin increase for the six month peried was mainly due to a product mix that included more highet-matgin recurring revenues from
subseriptions and maintenance and improved margin on revenues from software licensss, Qverall grogs margin was negatively impacted by lower-iargin revenues
from appraisal services as described above,
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Selling, General gnd Administrative Expense,

Selling, general and administrative (“S(r&A”) expenses consist primarily of salaries, employee benefits, travel, share-based compensation expense, commissions
and related overhead costs for adminietrative and sales end marketing employees, as well as, professional Tees, trade show activities, advertising costs and other
marketing related costs,

The following table sets forth a comparison of our SG&A expenses for the petiods presented as of Tune 38;

Sevond Quarter Change Six Months Ended Change
{5 in thousands) _ ‘ 2017 2016 3 i 2017 2016 3 %
Bolling, goreral dnd adimbnlsative. ~ 0 T T T T T
wpeises .. - F A3 3 ARER2CY a9 A% 3 gesdd § el § seed A%

SG&A as a percentage of revenues was 20.8% and 21,2% for the three and six months ended Tune 30, 2017 , respectively, compared to 22.3% and 22.5% for the
thiee and six months ended June 30, 2016 , respsctively. SG&A expenss inoreased approximalely 3% and 4% for the thtee and six monthg ended June 30, 2017,
respactively, This increase is mainly duz o compensation costs related to higher stock compensation sxpense, increased staff levels, and an increase in sommission
expetise as a vesult of higher sales. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 , respectively, stock compensation expense rose $1.0 millten and $2.4 miltion
, tespectively, compared to the same period in 2016, mainly due to increases i our stock price over the last few vears,

Research and Development Expense

The following table sets forth a comparison of onr research and development expense for the periods presented as of June 30:

Second Quarter Change 8ix Months Ended Clange
{8 1 thougands) i 2007 2015 § % 2017 016 § %
eshatoh s dovelopitent Stporse. + § ALE/ §. 10338 3. 1pa% . . 08% F 204 3 BA0E 8 B - 16

Resentch and develapment expense vonsists mainly of costs sssoctated with development ol hew products and teshnologies from which we do net cumrently
generate significant vevemie, as well g8 costs related to the ongoing development efforts for Microsoft Dynamics AX, Our contractual research and development
commitment to develop public sector functionality for Microsoft Dynamies AX was amended in March 2016, which significantly reduced our development
comnmitment through March 2018, However, we will continus to provide sustained engineeting and technical support for the publio-sector funotionality within
Dynamics AX. License and maintenance royalties for all applicable Gomestic and international sales of Dynamics AX to publie sector entities will continue under
the terms of the contract,

Research and development expense in the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 , respectively, increased 15% and 16% compared 1o prior period mainly due to
research and dovelopment efforts related to new Tyler protuct development initiatives, primarily in our public sefety solutions, offeet by reduced development
efforty for Miorosoft Dynamies AX. As a result of the Microsofi Dynamics AX amendment, we ere vedeploying certain development resources to enhance
fimetionality on several exisling solutions and these costs are being recorded i cost of revenues - soffware services, maintenance and subscriptions.

Amortiization of Cusfomer and Trade Name intongibles

Acquisition intangibles are composed of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assefs sequired that is allocated to acquired software
and customer and trade name intangiblos. The romaining excess purchase price s allocated to goodwill that {s not subject to amortization, Amortization cxpense
telated to acquired sofiwate is included with cost of revenues while smortization expense of eustomer and frade name intangibles is reeorded as operating cxpense,

The followlng table sets forth a comparison of amortization of eustomer and frade name intangibles for the petiods presented as of June 30
Second Quartor Change Bix Months Bndod Chauge

($ 1n thousands) 2017 2016 § % 2017 . 2016 $ %
Amostization of vinfomep and vedd v DL R A AT L L RO

8108
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Other Expense, Net
The following table sets forth a comparison of our other expense, net for the periods presented as of June 30;
Sceond Quarter Chango Six Months Ended Change
($ in thonsands) . 2017 2016 5 % 007 2016 bl %
Olther apefse; et - .- IR B 41110 I B ¢ 10 I TR R Fo% 5 @ (L8N § 86 ¢ U (B%

Other expense, nst Is comprised of interest expense and non-usage snd other fees assoclated with our revolving evedit agresment, as well as inferest income fiom
invested eash, Other expense, net decreased in the throe months ended June 30, 2017, compared to the prior period dus to significantly lower debt levels in the
current period, as we rspaid all botrowings under the revolving line of erdit in Janwary 2017, and correspondingly hpgher levels of cash investments,

Income Tax Provision
The following table sets forth a comparison of our income tax provision for the periods presented as of June 30;
Seoond Quarter Change Six Motths Ended Chenge
(% in thousands) 2017 2016 ) $ % 2017 2016 5 %
T N O 1 S R S B " A TE CE I T ey

Jioattve oo taiing. s

e oman T

The offective incommne tax rates for the three and six months ended Fone 30, 2017 and 2016 , respectively, were different from the statutory United States federal
income tax vate of 35% principally due to excess tax benefits related (o stock option exercises, The oxcess tax benefits related 1o stock option exercises realized
were $8.5 millicn and $18.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, respectively, compared to $6.3 million and $7.5 million for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2016 , reapectively, Excluding the exeess tax benefits, the effective rates were 37.5% and 37.9% for the three and six months ended
Tune 30, 2017 , respectively, comprred to 37.9% and 38,1% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 , respectively. Other differences from our federal
statutory incomo tax rate included state income taxes, non-deductible business expenses, and the tax benefit of the domestic production activitics deduction, The

effective income tax rate for the thyee and sbx months ended June 3¢, 2017 , respectively, decreased compared to the prior y

tax benefits related to stock opiion exercises realized.

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY

ear period mainly due to higher excess

As of June 30, 2017 , we had oash and cash equivalenis of §55.1 million compared te $36.2 million at December 31, 2016, We also had $37.5 million invested in
investment grade corporute and municipal bonds as of June 30, 2017 . These invesiments mature between 2017 dhrough ently 2019 and we intend to hold these
investments yntil maturity. As of June 30, 2017, we bad two outstanding lotters of credit totaling $2.,2 million , We do not believe the letters of crodit will be
required to be drawn upon, These letters of sredit expire in mid-2018. We believe our cagh fram opetating setivities, revolving line of crodit, eash on hend and
access to the capital markets provides us with sufficient flexibility to meet our long-term financial needs,

The following table sets forth a summary of cash flows for the six months ended June 30:

(3 in thousands) 2017 016
Opetating ncﬁviﬁn?s $ 49575 § 60,841
Y O BRI Y RERRETAR ¢ it
Financing activities o

oHoY bt 1 oS sl b squivaionts . .
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Net cash provided by opetating uctivities continues to be our primary scuroe of funds to finance operating needs and oapital expenditures. Other potentis] copital
resourees inolude cash on hand, public and private issuances of debt or squity securities, and bank borrowings, Tt is possible that our sbility to access the capital
and credit markets in the futute may be lmited by ccenomic conditions or other factors. We currently believe that cash provided by eperating sctivities, cash on
hand and available credit are sufficient to fund our working capital requirements, capital expenditures, income tax obligetions, and share repurchases for at least the
next twelve monthg,

For the =ix months ended June 30, 2017 , operaiing notivities provided cash of §49.6 million . Operating netivities that provided cash were primarily comprised of
net ingome of § 63.9 million , non-cash depreciation and amortization charges of $26.4 millien and non-~cash share-based compensation sxpense of $17.6 million ,
Wouking eapital, excluding cash, fncreased approximately $58.3 million mainly due to higher aceounts reoeivable because our maintenance hilling cyele peaks in
June, the timing of payments related to botugss, tining of income tax payments, and the deferred tazes associated with stoek option activity during the period.
These increases wera offsot slightly by timing of payments for wages and changes in deferred revenue balances,

In general, chunges in deferred revenue are cyclical and primarily driven by the timing of our maintenanca renewal billings, Our renewal daies occyr throughout
the year, but our largest renewal billing eycles occrr i {he second and fourth quarters. In addition, subseription renewals are billed throughout the year,

Our days sales ontstanding (“DS0”) was 101 days at June 30, 2017, compared to 93 days at December 31, 2016 and 100 duys at June 30, 2016 . Our maintenance
billing eycle typically peaks nt ts highest 1svel in June and second highest level in December of euch year and is followed by collections in the subsequent quarter,
D8O is caleulated based on quarter-end accounts veceivable divided by the quotisnt of annualized quarterly revenues divided by 350 days,

Investing activities used cash of $40.4 millton in the six months ending June 30, 2017 , Approximately $30.1 miltion was invested in property and equipment, We
purchased an office building in Latham, New Yok, for approximately 52,9 million aud paid $9.5 million for construstion to expand a building in Yarmoutls,
Maine. We plan to spend approximtely $19.3 million in 2017 in connestion with the completion of the Yarmouth office expansion and approximately $5.0 million
for the purchase and tenovation for the Latham office building, On May 30, 2017, we acquired all of the capital stock of Modria.com, Ing, , 4 company thet
speocializes in online dispute resolution for government end commereial entities, The purehase price, net of debt assumed, was $5.9 million ,

Invosting activities used cash of $35.7 million in the six months ending June 30, 2016 . Approximately $22.0 million was invested in property and equipment, Ws
purchased an offtoe building in Falmouth, Maing, that was provieusly leased from an entity owned by an execufives’ father and brother, for approximately $9.7
million and paid §1.9 million to begin construction io expand a building in Yarmouth, Maine. In the six months ended June 2016, we acquired BxeouTine
Software, LLC for approximately $7.4 miltion and paid $2.0 mitlion related lo the working capital holdback In connection with the New Wetld Syatems
Corporation aceuisition,

Financing activities provided cash of $8.8 millfon in the six months ended June 30, 2017 , and were comprised of purchases of treasmy sharss, proceeds from stock
option exercises and employce stock purchase plan activity, During the six months ended June 30, 2017, we purchased 42,000 shares of our common stock for an
aggregate purchase prico of $6.2 million at un average price paid per ghare of $147.30 .

Financing activities used vash of $16.9 miltion in the six months ended June 30, 2016 . Cash used by financing notivitics was comprised of purchases of treasury
shates, net borrowings from our revelving Tive of eredit and proceeds from stock option exercises and employee stock purchase plan aetivity, During the eix
months ended June 30, 2016 , we purchased 753,000 sharcs of our common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $94,5 million at an aversgs price paid per
share of $124,735.

We had authorization from our board of direciors to repurchase up to 2.0 million additional shares of "T'yJer common stock as of June 30, 2017 . The repurchase
progra, which was spproved by our board of directers, was announced in Octobker 2002, and was amended at various times from 2003 through 2016, Thers is no
expiration date specified for the authotization, and wo lntend to repurchase stock under the plan from time fo time,

We made tax payiments of $27.5 million in the six menths ended June 30, 2017 , compated to tax payments of $17,6 million in the six months ended June 30, 2016
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We anticipate that 2017 enpital spending will be between $53.0 million and $55.0 million. Capital spending includes approximately $19.3 million for the ¥ammouth
offioe expansion and approximately 5.0 million for the purchase and renovation of an office building in Latham, New York. We expect the remaining capital
spending will consist primarily of computer equipment and software for infrastracture replacements and expansion, We currently do not expest to capitalize
significant amowits velated to software development in 2017, but the actual amount and timing of those costs, and whether they are capitalized or expensed, may
result in additional capitalized saftware developiment, Capital spending iz expected to be funded from existing cash balunces, eash flows from operations and
botrowings under our revolving [ine of credit.

From titne fo time we engage in discussions with potential sequisition candidates. In order 1o consunmate any such oppottynities, which could requite signiticant
commitments of eapital, we may incur debt or fssee potentlally dilutive seourities in the fisture. No assurance oen be given as to our future nequisttions and how
such acquisitions may be financed.

ITEM 3, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Alout Merket Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may affect us due to adverse changes in financlal merket prices and interest rates.

As of June 30, 2017, we had no outstanding borzewings under the Credit Facility. Loans under the Credit Facility bear interest, ot Tyler’s option, af a per annum

rate of sither (1) the Wells Pargo Bank prime rate (subject to certain higher rate determinations) plus 2 margih of 0,.25% to 1.00% or (2) the 30, 60, 90 or 180-day
LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1.25% to 2.00%.

During the six months ended June 30, 2017 , cur effective average interest rate for borrowings was 2.03% . As of June 30, 2017 , our interest rafe was 4.50% under
the Wells Fargo Bank prime rate and 2.37% under 4 30-day LIBOR contract. The Credit Facility is secured by substantially alf of our assets.

ITEM 4, Controls and Pracedures
Evaivation of Disclosure Controls and Procedires

We maintain diselosvie controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 132-15(¢) of the Secarities Exchange Act) designed to provide rensonable assurancs that fhe
information vequired to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit ander the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summorized and reported within the time
period specified in the SRC’s rules and forms, These fnclude controls and procedures designed to ensure fhaf this information i aceurulated and communicated to
our management, inchwting our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
Marugement, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finaneial Officer, evaluated the offectiveness of our disclosure controls and
provedures as of the end of the period coverad by this report, Based on this evaluation, the Chicf Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concludad thot
our disclosure contrels and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2017,

Changes in Internol Cantrol over Flnancial Reperting

There were no changes in our internsl control ever finansial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(0) of the Exchange Act) during the fhree montis ended June 30,
2017 , that have materially affected, or are rensonably likely to materially affect, our internal eontrol over finaneial reporting,

Part 11, OTHER INFORMATION

TTEM 1. Lagal Proceadings

Other than routine litigation incidental to our buainess, thete are no material legal proceedings pending to which we are party or to which any of our properties are
subject.
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ITEM 1A, Risk Factors

In addition to the othet information set forth in this report, one should carefully conider the discussion of variows risks and uncertainties contained in Part I, “Item
1A, Risk Factors” it our 2016 Antual Report on Form 10-K. We believe those risk factors ars the nest relevant to our business and could cause our results to
differ materiaily fiom the forward-looking statements made by us. Please note, however, that those ate not the only risk factors focing us, Additional riske that we
do not congider materisl, or of which we are not currently aware, may also have an adverse impact on us. Our business, financial condition and resniss of
operalions could be seriausly harmed if any of these risks or uncertainties actually acows or materlalzes, In thut event, the marlet price for our common stosk
could decline, and our sharehelders mey lose all or part of their investment. During the three months ended June 30, 2017 , thers were no material changes it the
information regarding risk factors contained in our Annval Report on Forns 10-K. for the year ended December 31, 2016 .

ITEM 2, Unregistered Sales of Bauity Securities and Use of Procseds

None

ITEM 3, Defaults Upon Seuder Securities

None

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters (o a Voiz of Security Holders

None

ITEM 3. Other Information

Nonig
ITEM 6, Bxhibits
Exhibit 31.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Exhibit 31.2 Certification Pursuzat to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxlay Act of 2002
Exhibit 32.1 Cettifications Pursuent to 18 U.8.C. S_ection 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanss-Oxley Aot of 2002
Exhibit 101 Instance Docunient
Exhibit 101 Schenya Document
Exhibit 101 Caleulation Linkbase Document
Exhibit 101 Labels Linkbaso Document
Rxhibit 101 Definition Linkbase Document
Bxhibit 101 Presentation Linkbase Document
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned

therounto duly authorizad,

Date: July 26, 2017

SIGNATURES

By:

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC,

/s/ Brion K. Miller
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Exhibit 31,1

CBRTIFICATIONS

1, John 8. Mayr, Jr., certify that:

1.

2.

1 have reviewed this quartetly report on Form 10-Q of Tyler Technologies, Inc.)

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contaln any untrue stotement of & material faot or omit to staie 4 matetial fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such siatements were made, not misleading with respoet to the perfod covered by this
quattesly report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respecis the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant ag of, and for, the petiods presented in this teport;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure contrels and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(c}) and internal control over our financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(9) for Tyler
and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, o
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, cluding its divisions, is made known to ug by others within those entities, patticulady
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b, Designed such intornal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal contral over financial reperting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide ressenable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statetments for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles:

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrani’s disclogure controls and procedures and presented i this report our conclusions about the
effectivencss of the disclosute controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this tepott based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any chungs in the regisirant’s internel control over financial reporting that ccewrred during the registrant’s. most recent
fiscal quarter {The registrant’s first quatter in the case of this quartesly report) that has meterially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal conirol over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most tecent evaluation of internal control over financial reparting, to the
registrant’s auditord and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the squivalent function);

a All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses In the design or operation of internal conlrols over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the regisivant’s ability to record, process, sunrmarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal controls
over financial reporting.

Date: July 26, 2017 By:  /sf John 8, Marr, Ir.
John 8. Marr, Jr,
Chief Bxecytive Officer and Chairman of the Board




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Brian K. Miller, cottily thai:

1. Ihave reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Tyler Technologies, Inc.,

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contein any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements inade, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were mads, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowiedge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in tids report, fairly present in all material respects fho

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the perlods presented In this report;

4, The regisirant’s other cerlifying offieer and I are responsible for establishing and meintaining disclosyre controls and procedures (as defined in Bxchange
Act Rules 13a~15(e) and 15¢-15(2)) and internal control over our fingncial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15¢f) and 15d-15(0) for Tyler
and lave:

€ Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or cavssd such disclosure conirols and procedutes to be designed under our supervision, to
ensute that materiel information reluting to the registrant, including its divisions, is made known to us by ofthers within those sntities, partioularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal condgol over financial reporting, or cavsed such internal contral over finaneinl reporting to be designsd under ouy
supervision, to provide reasenable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally ascepted acoounting principles;

¢, Hvaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure ¢ontrols andl procedures and presented in thiy report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the petiod covered by this report baged on sych evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s intomal contrel over financial reporling that occurred during the regisirant’s most recent
fisonl quarter (The regisrant’s first quarter in the case of this quarterly report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materfally
atfent, the regisirant’s internal conirol over financial reporting; and

5 The regisirant’s other certifying officer and T have disclopod, based on our most recent evalustion of internal contrnl over financial reporting, to the
registtant’s auditors and the sudit commitiee of the registrant’s buard of directors {or pessony performing the equivalent function):

o, All stgnificantdeficiencies and material weaknosses in the design or operation of interrial conivols over finangia! repsorting which are reasonubly
likely te adversely affsct the registrant’s abiliiy to record, process, summarize and yeport financial informaiion; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves managemsant or other employses who have a significant tole in the registrant’s internal contrels
over finanoial reporting,

Date; July 26, 2017 By /s Brian K. Miller
Brian K. Miller
Executive Vice President and Chief Finanoial Officer

i e e e e o




Lxhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 18 U.5.C. SECTION 1330,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

John 8. Marr Jr,, Chisf Bxecutive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Tyler Technologies, Ine., {the “Company”) and Brian K. Miller, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each certify pursvant 1o section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2602, 18 U.8.C. Section 1350, that;

1. The Quatterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended June 30, 2017 , fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fhirly presents, in all material respects, the financlal condition and regults of operations of the Company.

Date: July 26, 2017 By:  J&/ John 8. Mare, Jr,
Joln 8, darr, Ji.
Chiaf Executive Officer and Chaitroan of the Board

By; /o Brian K, Miller
Brian K. Miller
Execative Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A gigned original of this written statement requirad by Seclion 506 has been provided to Tyler Technologles, Inc. and will be retained by Tyler Technologies, Inc.
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request,

=
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REQUISITION

RQIT18000014 31/0aN/2018

VENDOR: REQUISITIONER:
TYLER TECHNOCLOGIES, INC I DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECH
12 GOOSE LW 240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD

6T FLOCR
TOLLAND CT 06084=-0000 MINECLA NY 11501
S. BARNETT /MARY MAHONEY{1l-3159)
TEL: (800} 273-8605 TEL: (516)571-2233
FAX:({B860}872-9526 FAY:(516)571-3918
ITEM DESCRIPTION QTY U/M UNIT COST TOTAL
ool 92045 L.o0 EA 55%9,355.0000 559,355.00
COMPUTER SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE/SUPPORT
2018 IAS MATINTENANCE RENEWAL 1/1/2018-12/31/2018 $301,350.00
2018 ADAPT MAINTENANCE RENEWAL 1/1/32018-12/31/2018 4258, 005.00
ADART MATNTENANCE: moooooomm=mm=
TAX BILLING & COLLECTION $55%,355.00

DELINQUENT TAX

APPEALS MANAGEMENT

EDMS INTERFACE {IDOC}

INCLUDES: UPGRADES, NEW ENHANCEMENT RELEASES, HOT BUGQ FIXES/PATCEES
MON-FRY £:00 AM - 5:00 PM TOLL FREE TELEPHONE SUPPORT,
USER GROUP

ESTIMATED TOTAL: 559,355.00



REQUISITION

ROIT18000014 31/JaN/2018

VENDOR: REQUISITIONER:
TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC IT DEPARTMENT QF LNFORMATION TECH
12 GOOSE LN 240 OLD COUNTRY ROAD
4TH FLOOR
TOLLAND CT 06084-0000 MINEQLA WX 11501
§.BARNETT/MARY MAHONEY (1-3159)
TEL: (B00}273-8605 TEL; (516}571-2233

FAX: (860)872-9526 FAX:(516}571-3913



égﬁa;% b A »
s = technologias
One Tyler Way
May 24, 2016 Maraing, Ohic 45439

P 800.800.2581
Fe 937.278.3711
. i Iyl o
Mr. Ed Eisenstein ¥

Cio

Nassau County information Technology
240 Old Cauntry Road, Suite 608
Mineola, NY 11501

Re: iasWorld Sole Source

Dear Mr, Eisenstein:

Tyler Technologies’ TasWorld system Is a highly spacialized computer software solution that contains
software coding, processes and trade secrets that are proprietary to Tyler Technologies. Tyler staff has
performed all of the iasWerld system implementations, and no other company is authorized to provide
these services, ongoing product support or access the Tyler proprietary source code,

Also, as part of Nassau County’s ongoing iasworld support contract, the County is entitled to receive
updates, new releases and warranty fixes that can only be supplied by Tyler. Therefore, Tyler is the only
vendor with the necessary knowledge, skills and authority to provide the iasWorld support services to
Nassau County. Any attempted or successful access to the application code would violate the County’s
license agreement and render the software warranty provision as void. Tyler is, therefore, the sole source
provider for all things related 1o the izsWorld salution.

If | can be of further assistance or if you have any questions, | can be reached at 1-800-800-2581 ext. 1924
or via email at gus.tenhundfeld@tylertech.com. Thank you for your continued confidence and support of
Tyler Technologies.

Sincerely,

GuE Tenhundfeld
Inside Sales Manage




Remittance: Invoice

3 g Tyler Technelogies, Inc,
e r (FEIN 75-2303920) Sl Page
“ 8 P.0. Box 203551 - 302017 1ot
technologies papes, TX 75220-2851
Empowering people who serve the public”

Questions:
Tyler Technologies -
Phong;  1-800-772-2260 Press 2
Fax: 1-886-673-3274
bBEmail:  ar@iylerlech.com
Bill To:  Nassan County IT Dept. Ship To:  Nassau County IT Dept.
Ms. Mary Mahoney Ms. Mary Mahoney
240 -Old Country Roagd 240 Gid Cauntry Road
Minaala, NY 11501 Mineaola, NY 11501
Customer Mo, Ord No PO Number Currancy Terms Due Date
487639 ' usD NET30 123002017 ]
Date Description Units Rate Extandad Frice
Origiral 145 Maintenance 1 301,350.00 301,350,00
ADAPT Maintenance 1 258,005.00 288,005,00

Total Fee: $558,355,00

by check: by wirefach:

Tyfar Technologias, Lo, Walts Fargo Bank, N.A.

Appraigal & Tax Division San Franelsco, GA 94104

PG, Box 203551 ABA 121000248

Dallas, TX 75320-3551 Acct Mame: Tyler Technologles, Ine, Operafing Account

Acct No: 4124302472

Comments: Project# 132360 - 2018 1AS/ADAPT Maintenance Renewal for the petiod of January 1, 2018 through December 31,

2018
“ATTENTION™
Subtotal 559,355.00
Qrder your checks and forms from ubtotal | i
Tyler Business Forms at 877-748-2080 or Sales Tax | 0.0}

tylerbusinessforms.com 0 guaranize
100% cornipliance with your software. Invoice Taial L 559,355,00 I




Amendment #7

THIS AMENDMENT dated as of the date of execution by the County (together with the schedules,
appendices, attachments and exhibits, if any, this “Amendment”), between (i) Nassau County, a municipal

corporation having its principal office at 1550 I'ranklin Avenue, Mineola, New York 11501 (the
“County™), acting on behalf of the County Department of Information Technology, having its principal
office at 240 Old Country Road, Mineola, New York 11501 {the “Department™), and (ii) Tyler
Technologies, Inc., CLT Division (“Tyler/CLT”), a corporation organized and existing under and by the

virtue of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware and authorized to do business in the State

of New York, having its principal office at One Tyler Way, Moraine, Ohic 45439 (the “Contractor™),
WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the County requires the use of an integrated system for real property assessment
administration, appeals, tax billing, collection, and refunds (“ADAPT System”) for use by the County
Departiment of Assessment, the Office of the County Treasurer, the Office of the County Attorney,
and the Assessment Review Commission (the “Agency”); and

WHEREAS, the County issued Request for Proposal # IT0830-0560 on January 5, 2006 (the
“REFP”); and :

WHEREAS, the REP sought services relating to the development and implementation of the
ADAPT System; and '

WHEREAS, the Contractor submitted a response to the RFP that was found to be beneficial to
the County; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to County contract number CQIT07000040 between the County and the
Contractor, executed on behalf of the County on August 16, 2007, and amended thereafter on August
11,2011, July 12, 2012, August 26, 2013, November 5, 2014, July 8, 2015 and Feb 16, 2017 (the
“Apgreement”), the Contractor performs certain services for the County in connection with the
ADAPT System which services are more fully described in the Agreement (the “Services™; and

WHEREAS, the ADAPT System was developed by the Contractor through the use of the
Contractor’s proprietary computer software solution iasWorld (the “Software™); and

WHEREAS, the Software has been highly customized by Contractor for the County’s use; and

WHEREAS, the Agencies use the Software extensively and the Software is critical to all
aspects of property assessment in Nassau County, including the levying of real property taxes; and

WHEREAS, the Scftware is necessary to implement the Nassau County Disputed Assessment
Fund established by Nassau County Administrative Code § 6-41.0; and

WHEREAS, the Software requires further implementation services, including but not limited to

ongoing maintenance, support, updates; warranty fixes, and upgrades (“Implementation Services”);
and

WHEREAS, the Software contains softwate coding, processes, and trade secrets that are
proprietary to Contractor; and



WHERFEAS, there is only one source for the Software and no other equivalent software options
that provide similar benefits are available since no other company is authorized to provide
Implementation Services; and

WHEREAS, the Contractor is a sole source provider for the Services pursuant to N.Y, G.M.L, §
104-b since there is only one source for the software, there is no other sofiware that provide
equivalent benefits, and the cost of the Software is reasonable in light of the benefits to the County;
and

WHEREAS, the term of the Agreement, as amended, is from August 16, 2007 through August 13,
2018 (the “Term™); and

WHEREAS, the maximum amount that the County agreed fo reimburse the contractor for Services
under the Original Agresment, as full compensation for the Services was Six Million, Seven Hundred
Thirty-Three thousand, Three hundred and Fifty dollars ($6,733,350,00) (the “Maximym Amount™); and

WHEREAS, the Services contemplated by the Original Agreement have not been completed and
Implementation Services are ongoing; and

WHEREAS, the County and the Contractor desire to increase the Maximum Amount,

WIHEREAS, the services contemplated by this Amendment are personal services within the context
and purview of Section 2206 of the County Government Law of Nassau County.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants contained in this
Amendment, the parties agree as follows:

1. Maximum Amount. The Maximum Amount in the Original Agreement shall be
increased by 'T'wo Hundred and Seventy Thousand Dollars ($270,000), so that the
maximum amount that the County shall pay the Contractor as full consideration for all
Services provided under the Amended Agreement ghall be Seven Million, Three
Thousand, Three Hundred and Fifty ($7,003,350.00}), including the increase (the
“Amended maximum Amount”). These additional funds will be used for ADAPT Phase
- under category 4 in Exhibit A~ Business Process Support Hours.

2. Full Force and Effect. All the terms and conditions of the Agreement not expressly
amended herein shall remain in full force and effect and govemn the relationship of the
parties for the term of the Amended Agreement,

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the Contractor and the County have executed this Amendment as of
the date first above written,




TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC. CLT DIVISION

Name: Qus Tenhundfeld

Title:  Inside Sales Manager

Date: _ 10-19-2017

NASSAU COUNTY

By:

Name:

Title: _ Deputy County Executive

Date:

PLEASE EXECUTE IN BLUE INK

rmmae _memar b



STATE OF OHIO )
) 88,

COUNTY OF MONTGOMERY)

'On the 19th day of OCTOBER in the year 2017 before me personally came GUS TENHUNDFELD

to me petsonally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did depose and say that he or she resides in the
County of MONTGOMERY:; that he or she is the INSIDE SALES MANAGER of TYLER
TECHNOLOGIES,INC., the corporation described herein and which executed the above instrument; and

that he or she signed his or her name thereto by authority of the board of directors of said corporation.

I osan B a&mm

NOTARY PUBLIC

KAREN A JACKSON, Notary Publle
In and far tha Stete of Ohio
My Commissian Expires Fab, 25, anza

STATE OF NEW YORK)
) §8.:
COUNTY OF NASSAU)

On the day of in the year before me personally came

to me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did depose and say

that he or she resides in the County of ; that he or she is a Deputy County Executive of

the County of Nassau, the municipal corporation desctibed herein and which executed the above
instrument; and that he or she signed his or her name thereto pursuant to Section 205 of the County

Government Law of Nassau County.

NOTARY PUBLIC

——— T



e S

Exhibit A

Phase I Summary Sheet of Changes

Request #

Deseription

Cost

4

Additional Busingss Process Support Hours and
Training Support

Additional $270,000.00







Amendment #6

. THIS AMENDMENT dated as of the date of execution:by the County {together with the schedules,
appendices, attachments and exhibits, if any, this “Amendment”), between (i) Nassau County, a municipal
corporation having its principal office at 1550 Franklin Avenue, Mineola, New York 11501 (the
“County”), acting on behalf of the County Department of Information Technology, having its principal
office at 240 Old Country Road, Minecla, New York 11501 ({the “Department™), and (ii) Tyler
Technologies, Inc., CLT Diviston (“Lyler/CLT™), a corporation organized and existing under and by the
virtue of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware and authorized to do business in the State
of New York, having its principal office at One Tyler Way, Moraine, Ohio 45439 (the “Contractor”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the County requires the uss of an integrated system for real property assessment
administration, appeals, tax billing, collection, and refunds (*ADAPT Systom™) for use by the County
Departmeut of Assessment, the Office of the County Treasurer, the Office of the County Attorney,
and the Assessment Review Commission (the “Agency™); and

WHEREAS, the County Issued Request for Proposal # 1T0830-0560 on January 5, 2006 (the
“.:R_EB“); aﬂd .

WHEREAS, the RIP sought services relating to the development and implementation of the
ADAPT Systern; and

WHEREAS, the Contractor submitted a response to the RFP that was found to be beneficial to
the County; and '

WHEREAS, pursuant to County conirast number CQIT07000040 between the County and the
Contractor, executed on behalf of the County on August 16, 2007, and amended thereafter on August
11, 2011, July 12, 2012, August 26, 2013, November $, 2014, and July 8, 2015 (the “Agresment™),
the Contractor performs certain services for the County in connection with the ADAPT System which
services are more fully described in the Agresment (the “Services™); and '

WHEREAS, the ADAPT System was developed by the Contractor through the use of the
Contractor’s proprietary computer software solution lasWorld (the “Software™); and

WHEREAS, the Software has been highly customized by Contractor for the County's use; and

WHEREAS, the Agencies use the Software extensively and the Software is eritical to all
aspects of property assessment in Nassau County, including the levying of real property taxes; and

WHEREAS, the Software is necessary to implement the Nassau County Disputed Assessment
Fund established by Nassau County Administrative Code § 6-41.0; and

WHEREAS, the Software requires further implementation services, including but not limited to

ongoing maintenance, support, updates; warranty fixes, and upgrades (“Implementation Services”);
and

WHEREAS, the Software contains software coding, processes, and trade secrets that are
proprietary to Contractor; and




WHEREAS, there is only one source for the Software and no other equivalent software options
that provide similar benefits are available since no other company is authorized fo provide
Implementation Services; and :

WHEREAS, the Contractor is a sole source provider for the Services pursuant to N.Y, G.M.L. §
104-b since there is only one source for the software, there is no other software that provide

equivalent benefits, and the cost of the Software is reasonable in light of the benefits to the County;
ard

WHEREAS, the term of the Agreement, as amended, is from August 16, 2007 through August 15
2016 (the “Term”); and

b

WHEREAS, the Services contemplated by the Original Agreement have not been completed and
Implementation Services are ongoing; and

WHEREAS, the County and the Contractor desire to extend the Original Agreement in accordance
with the terms and conditions set forth herein and clarify the term of the license for the Software; and

WHEREAS, the setvices contemplated by this Amendment are personal services within the context
and purview of Section 2206 of the County Government Law of Nassau County.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and rutual covenants contained in this
Amendment, the parties agree as follows:

1. Paragraph 5(a) and 5(b) of the Agreement shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced
with the following:

(a) Development License. Upon payment by County of the initial license fee (the
"Development License Fee"), Contractor heteby grants the County a perpetual,
non-exclusive, royalty-free development license to use the Contractor's IAS
World software for the County's internal use throughout the implernentation of
the project by an unlimited number of users employed by the County on an
unlimited number of computers and/or computer stations utilized by the County,
subject to the restrictions on use set forth herein.

(b} Use License. Upon (i) delivery by Centractor of each software module for
each project milestone as set forth on Exhibit B, and (if) acceptance of such
milestone by County and payment for such milestone as set forth on Exhibit B,
Contractor hereby grants the County a perpetual, nonexclustve, royalty-free
enterprise Jicense to use the Contracior's IAS World software associated with
such milestone (including, without limitation, all modules delivered and installed
by Contractor, and accepted and paid for by County) for the County's internal use
and the purposes set forth in Section 3 by an unlimited number of users
employed by the County on an unlimited number of computers and/or computer
stations utilized by the County, subject to the restrictions on use sst forth herein.
Upon delivery of all project milestones by Contractor, and acceptance of all
project milestenes and payment of all license fees to Contractor by County,
Contractor’s license granted herein shall be inclusive of the IAS Software and all
modules as listed in Exhibit F, Software Livense Agreement, required to be
delivered by Contractor throughout the project, including, withont limitation, all
ADAPT Medifications (as defined in Section 6).




2. Term Extension and Renewal Option. The Term shall be extended for an additional two
year period, so that the termination date of the Agreement, as amended herein (the
“Amended Agreement™), shall be August 15, 2018. The County may renew the
Amended Agresment for one (1) additional one (1) year period at the County's sole
discretion and subject to the termination provisions of the Agreement.

3. Full Force and Effect. All the terms and conditions of the Agreement not expressly
amended herein shall remain in full force and effect and govern the relationship of the
parties for the term of the Amended Agreement. '

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Contractor and the County have executed this Amendment as of
the date first above written.,

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC. CLT DIVISION

By m
)

N

Name:  Gus Tenhundfeld

Title: _ Inside Sales Manager

Date: 8/23/2016

NASSAU COUNTY -
By: _ M — i
Name: (j/ﬂﬂﬁb/ i Z»/ﬁ;;;_,{,‘ .

Title: _ Deputy County Executive o

It i‘\ L : ‘,. N } ..
Date: %’6'/:’? oo ;-\; \ o

f -+

!

PLEASE EXECUTE IN BLUE INK




STATE OF OHIO )
; ) ss. =
COUNTY OF MONTGOMERY)

On the 5 day of %umé: in the year_A\\e before me personally came
tj\»b“\m\ AT\ to me petsonally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did depose and say

that he or she resides in the County of Wb&&_mm s that he or she is the Tas Ya Deley Men of
N\ “&&\A&\@}S oS , the corporation described herein and which executed the above

instrument; and that he or she signed his or her name thereto by authority of the board of directors of said

“- gorporation.

NOTARY PUBLIC

KAREN A, JACKSON, ¥ Publi
Inand for the Stats urf Oh?ray ¢
My Cemmission Exgires Fab, 25, 2017

STATE OF NEW YORK)
) ss.:
COUNTY OF NASSAU)

. ' .
On the &‘} day of 6‘/3?%& in the year &C)J Z before me personally came

C,/,; ,r/ef . ‘uétm o tome pers;t}a}' known, who, being by me duly sworn, did depose aud say

that he or she resides in the County of

assadl  thathe orsheisa Deputy County Executive of
the County of Nassau, the municipal corporation described herein and which exccuted the above

instrument; and that he or she signed his or her name thereto pursuant to Section 205 of the County

g HANClS ¥, BECKERH
Notafy Public, State of New York
¥ Ho. 01 Bgﬁms‘lgadnw
Qualified in Masspu Lo .
s Commission Expires February 18,4885 5)6’?




George Maragos
Compiroller

OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER
240 OId Cauntry Road
Minecla, New York 11501

COMPTROLLER APPROVAL FORM FOR PERSONAL,
PROFESSIONAL OR HUMAN SERVICES CONTRACTS

Attach this form along with all personal, professional or ftman services contracts, eontract rerewnis, extensions
arnid amendments,

CONTRACTOR NAME; __ Tvler Technologies, Inc., CL'T Division

CONTRACTOR ADDRESS: P, O Box 203551, Dallas, Texas 75320

FEDERAL TAX ID #: ___ 752303920-01

Instructions: Please check the appropriate box (“H*) after one of the following
roman numerals, and provide all the requested information,

I. 0 The contract was awarded to the lowest, responsible bidder after advertisement
for sealed bids. The contract was awarded after a request for sealed bids was published
in _ ‘ [newspaper] on
[date]. The sealed bids were publicly opened on [date]. [#] of
sealed bids were received and opened,

11. 3 The contractor was selected pursuant to a Reguest for Proposals,
The Contract was enfered into after a writlen request for proposals was issued on
[date]. Potential proposets were made aware of the availability of the RFP by

advertisement in [newspaper], posting on industry websites, via
email 1o interested parties and by publication on the County procurement website. Proposals were due
on [date]. |state #] proposals were received and cvaluated. The

evaluation commitiee consisted of:

(list # of persons on
committee and their respective departments). The proposals were scored and ranked, As o result of the
scoring and ranking, the highest-ranking proposer was selected.




I11. X] This is a renewal, extension or amendment of an existing contract,

The contract was originally executed by Nassau County on August 16, 2007, The otiginal contract was
entered into after a written request for proposals was issued on 12/12/2005. Potential proposers were made
aware of the availability of the RFP by website/mailing. Six (6) potential proposers requested copies of the
RFP. Proposals were due on 2/10/2006. Four (4) proposals were received and evaluated, The evaluation
committee comsisted oft Rick Siegel, Alice, Pasie, Mark MacArthur, Michele Wawrzynski, Jeanette
Duncan, Regina Goodman, Sunil Beesham, Walter Kershaw, Merilee Daly and Mari Lomino. The
Proposals were scored and ranked, As a resuli of the scoring and ranking, the highest-ranking proposer was
selected. This amendment is for increasing the maximum amount by $270,000.00 for completion of the
services,

"IV. O Pursuant fo Executive Order No. 1 of 1993, as amended, at least three
proposals were solicited and received, The attached memorandum from the
department head describes the proposals received, along with the cost of each
proposal.

1 A. ‘The contract has been awarded to the proposer offering the lowest cost proposal; OR:

[l B, The attached memorandum contains a detailed explanation as to the reason(s)why the
contract was awarded to other than the lowest-cost proposer, The attachment includes a specific
delineation of the unique skills and experience, the specific reasons why a proposal is deemed
superior, and/or why the proposer has been judged to be able to perform more quickly than other
Proposers,

V. O Pursuant to Executive Order No, 1 of 1993 as amended, the attached
memorandum from the department head explains why the department did not
obtain at least three preposals.

[1 A, There are ouly one or two providers of the services sought or less than three providers
submitted proposals. The memorandum describes how the contractor was determined to be the
sole source provider of the personal service nseded or explains why anly two proposals could be
obiained. I two proposals were obtained, the memorandum explaing that the contract was
awarded to the lowest cost proposer, or why the selected proposer offered the higher quality
proposal, the preposer’s unique and special experience, skill, or expertise, or its availability to
perform in the most immediate and timely manner.

[l B. The memorandum explains that the contractor’s selection was dictated by the terms of a
federal or New York State grant, by legislation or by a court order. (Copies of the relevant
documents are attached),

0 €, Pursuant to General Municipal Law Section 104, the department is purchasing (he services
required through a New York State Office of General Services contract
no. , and the attached memorandum explaing how the purchase is
within the scope of the terms of that contract.

El D, Pursyant to General Municipal LawoSection 119-0, the department is purchasing the services

PP U



required through an inter-municipal agreement.

VI. O This is a human services contract with a not-for-profit agency for which a

competitive process has not been initiated. Attached is a memorandum that explains the reasons
for entering into this contract without conducting a competitive process, and details when the department
intends to initiate a competitive process for the future award of these services. For any such contract, where
the vendor has previously provided services to the county, attach a copy of the most recent eveluation of
the vendor’s performance. If the contractor has not recelved a satisfactory evaluation, the department must
explain why the contractor should nevertheless be permitted to contract with the county.

[n certain limited circumstances, conducting a competitive process and/or completing performance
evaluations may not be possible because of the nature of the human services program, or because of a
compelling need to continue services through the same provider. In those circumstances, attach an
explanation of why a competitive process and/or performance evaluation is inapplicable,

VIL O This is a public works contract for the provision of architectural, engineering
or surveying services. The attached memorandum provides details of the department’s compliance
with Board of Supervisors’ Resolution Ne. 928 of 1993, including its receipt and evaluation of annual
Statements of Qualifications & Performance Data, and its negotiations with the most highly qualified
firms.

Instructions with respect to Sections VIII, IX and X: All Departments must check the box for VIIL,
Then, check the box for either IX or X, as applicable.

VIIL O Participation of Minority Group Members and Women in Nassau County
Contracts, The selected contractor has agreed that it has an obligation to utilize best efforts to hire
MWBE sub-contractors, Proof of the contractual ufilization of best efforts ag outlined in Exhibit “EE”
may be requested at any time, from time to time, by the Comptroller’s Office prior to the approval of
claim vouchets.

IX. {X} Department MWRBE responsibilities. To ensure compliance with MWBE requirements
as outlined in Exhibit “EE”, Department will require vendor to submit list of sub-contractor
requirements prior to submission of the first claim voucher, for services under this contract being
submitted to the Comptrolier,

X. O Vendor will not require any sub-contractors,

In_addition, If this is @ contract with an individual or with an entity that has only one or fwo employees: T a roview of the
criteria set forth by the Internal Revenue Service, Revenue Ruling No. 87-41, 1987-1 C.B, 296, attached ag Appendix A 1o the
Comptroller’s Memorandum, dated February 13, 2004, concerning independent coniractors and employees indicates that e
contracter would not be considered an employee for federal tax purposes, /

%,/f;/;;ﬁ//
Department Head Signatufe
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NOTE: Any Inforination requesied above, or in the exhibit below, may be lucluded In the county’s “staff sunnary” fornt
in fien of a separate mentoranduim.
Compt, form Pers./Praf; Services Confracts: Rev, 03/16




